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PREFACE

In 1986 the Delaware Department of Transportation, in conjunction with
the Federal Highway Administration, began an environmental assessment/4(f)
evaluation of the Newport Gap Pike (Route 41) corridor between Kirkwood
Highway (Route 2) and Milltown Road. The DelDOT study pinpointed the need
for wider travel lanes and shoulders and sidewalk construction in order to
improve pedestrian and vehicular safety. Several alternatives were
investigated to mitigate any adverse effect on cultural resources while
maintaining motorist safety. The route of the proposed road widening was
found to impact all identifiable cultural resources. In accordance with
Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act, archaeological and
architectural assessments of the project area were initiated to identify
those resources eligible for listing on the National Register of Historic
Places.

Phase 1 and I1 archaeological surveys, undertaken by the University of
Delaware Center for Archaeological Research, discovered three late-nine-
teenth century sites, These sites were deemed not eligible for the
National Register because of their late date and sparse artifact assem-
blages.

An architeetural assessment of the project area, part of the original
DelDOT study, revealed that three structures eligible for listing on the
National Register would be adversely affected, Two of the structures, the
Andrew Jackson Williams House (2200 Newport Gap Pike) and the William
Elliot House (2206 Newport Gap Pike), are in direct line of the proposed
road improvement and will be demolished. The third property, Spring Hill
(2311 Newport Gap Pike), will lose a triangular portion of land from the
southeast corner of the parcel. Previous documentation compiled by DelDOT
refers to this property as "The Cedars,” but according to Mrs. James R,
Morferd, Jr. (daughter-in-law of a former owner), the house was called
"Spring Hill" as early as the 1920s. For this reason, the house will be
referred to as "Spring Hill" in this document.

As a result of these findings, a Memorandum of Agreement between the
Advisory Council on Historic Preservation, the Federal Highway Administra-

tion, the Delaware Department of Transportation, and the Delaware State
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Historic Preservation Officer was approved on 16 October 1986, This
memorandum outlined the actions to be undertaken in order to mitigate the
impact of the road improvement and subsequently led to the present study.
The purpose of this report is to document fully those properties in the
Route 41 project area that have been determined eligible for nomination to
the National Register of Historic Places. This documentation includes
measured fleor plans, 35mm and large format photographs, and the prepara-
tion of nominations for listing on the National Register of Historic
Places, The measured drawings and large format photographs have been
executed to Historic American Building Survey standards and will be
submitted for retention in the Library of Congress. Originally intended as
a synthesis of earlier studies of the project area, further research was
required and greatly increased our knowledge of the area. Previcus studies
done by Prisecilla Thompsen, David Bachman, and Ellis Coleman proved
extremely helpful. Fieldwork and report preparation for this study began
in September 1987 and continued through Januwary 1988, & glossary of
architectural terms has been included for easy reference. Floor plans and
sketech maps of the properties demanded a number of visits to the respective
sites, We are especially grateful to Mr., and Mrs. Arthur A. Baum, who
graciously allowed us access to their beautiful home for over four months,
We would alsc like teo thank Kevin Cunningham, DelDOT Archaeoleogist, and
Stephen Del Sordo, Bureau of Archaeology and Historic Preservation Histor-

ian, for their guidance during the project,



I. INTRODUCTION

Straddling the Red Clay Creek in Christiana and Mill Creek hundreds, the
area under examination C(hereafter referred to as Greenbank) lies along
Delaware Route 41, between Delaware Route 2 (Kirkwood Highway) and Washing-
ton Avenue (Figure 1). This area has been earmarked for highway upgrading
by the Delaware Department of Transportation. Greenbank is situated in the
Piedmont Zone as outlined in the Delaware Statewide Comprehensive Historic
Preservation Plan (Figure 2).1 This zone describes an area north of the
fall line in New Castle County characterized by nearly level to steep hills
and clay soils mixed with loose rock. Another feature of the zone is major
and minor streams that flow primarily neorth te south into the Christina
River and then east inte the Delaware River. The Piedmont Zone encompasses
all of Brandywine, Christiana, and Mill Greek hundreds, a large portion of
White Clay Creek Hundred, and northern Pencader Hundred,

Three properties impacted by the proposed road improvement are sig-
nificant by National Register of Historic Places criteria. The William
Elliot House and the Andrew Jackson Williams House are both associated with
events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history (Criterion A). These two houses document the growth of the
Greenbank area from a predominantly rural agricultwral landscape intoe
industrial and manufacturing communities, and thus they are descriptive of
the historie themes Manufacruring (6D) and Transportation & Communication
(12D) in the period 1830-1880 +/- as delineated in the Delaware Statewide
Comprehensive Historic Preservation Plan. Manufacturing, defined as the
mechanical or chemical transformation of inorganic or organic materials
into new products, is characterized by mills, factories, or plants,
Transportation & Communication is defined as enterprises engaged in
passenger and freight transportation by railway, highway, water, or air, or
furnishing services related to transportation. The Elliot and Williams
houses alse relate to the historic theme Architecture, Engineering &

Decorative Arts (13D) in the same period. This theme encompasses all

1 pavid L. Ames, Bernard L. Herman, and Rebecca J. Siders, The
Delaware Statewide Comprehensive Historic Preservation Plan (Newark,
Delaware: Center for Historic Architecture and Engineering, 1987), p. B6,
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: Map of New Castle County with detail of the Greenbank area

FIGURE 1

Source:

Center for Historie Architecture and Engineering
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structures, sites, building plans, and styles which historically trace the
development of material culture, Material culture is any significant
artifact reflecting individual and soclal tastes and trends that helps us
understand the psychological needs and motivations of the people who
crafted them.?

The third building, Spring Hill, embodies the distinctive character-
istics of a type, period, or method of construction (Criteriom C). Spring
Hill is an excellent example of the remodeling of dwellings and landscapes
using Colonial Revival stylistic motifs. Primarily descriptive of the
historic theme Architecture, Engineering & Decorative Arts (13E) in the
period 1880-1940 +/-, as outlined in the Delaware Statewide Comprehensive
Historic Preservation Plan, Spring Hill also relates to the historic themes
Suburbanization (15E) and Transportation & Communication (12E). Suburban-
ization is defined as a settlement pattern on the urban fringe at the
interstices between urban and rural development.3

Two chronological perjods and themes describe the properties under
examination: 1830-1880 +/-, Industrialization & Capitalization, and 1880-
1940 +/-, Urbanization & Suburbanization. The period 1830-1880. +/- was
characterized by an expansion of industrial manufacturing concerns and the
establishment of transportation networks that facilitated the movement of
goods and people between rural areas and urban markets.% Although industry
and manufacturing did greatly increase during this period, the landscape of
the Piedmont Zone remained largely rural and agricultural. Water-powered
mills grew up in the many river and stream valleys of the zone and spurred
new communities in rural New Castle County. Turnpikes and railroads were
built, linking these communities and wmwanufacturing establishments with
urban markets and shipping centers that distributed their manufactured
goods and produce throughout the United States., The period 1880-1940 +/-
witnessed a centralization of industry and manufacturing in the pgrowing

urban center of Wilmington. There was a parallel population movement out

2 Ames et al., pp. 95, 97, 98,
3 Ames et al., p. 98.
“ For an excellent general history of Delaware during this period see

Thomas J. Scharf, History of Delaware 1609-1888 (Philadelphia: L. J.
Richards & Co., 1888.



of the city into suburban residential areas. DBoosted by the development of
alternate power sources, more and more industry located in Wilmington,
where transportation networks, business and commercial concerns, and a
large labor supply were readily available., As urban manufacturing enter-
prises drew workers from rural areas and from immigrant populations, other
segments of soclety were moving into the surrounding suburban neighbor-
hoods. Aided by new paved roads and public transportation such as trol-
leys, suburban districts radlated out of Wilmington, first nerth inte
Claymont and Arden, then south and west into Elsmere, Newport, and Stan-

tOTl.S

5 Bernard L. Herman and Rebecca J. Siders, Delaware Comprehensive
Historic Preservarion Plan: Historic Contexts (Newark, Delaware: Center for
Historic Architecture and Engineering, 1986), pp. 33-42,
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II: THE WILLIAM ELLIOT AND ANDREW JACKSON WILLTIAMS HOUSES:
HISTORIC THEMES

Architecture, Engineering & Decorative Arts

Architecture, Engineering, & Decorative Arts as a historic theme in the
period 1830-1880 +/- relates to the Elliot and Williams houses. A wide
variety of architectural styles were prevalent during this period. In the
early and mid-nineteenth century Greek Revival and Gothic Revival were
popular modes of architectural expression. The Victorian era witnessed a
proliferation of styles, including Italianate, Queen Anne, Stick/Eastlake,
and Shingle Style, The majority of these styles were primarily formal
expressions of aesthetic taste and social status. Although these styles
influenced vernacular building traditions, utilitarian requirements
remained the dominant characteristic of American housing in the mid-
nineteenth century. The homes of the rural middle-class, which the Elliot
and the Williams houses document, subtly exhibited wvariety through the
eclectic use of ornamental motifs, such as cornice moldings and brackets.
The tempered ornamental eclecticism exhibited by the Elliot and Williams
houses reflects a concern for shelter and home, rather than a desire to
make a public statement through architecture. Detailed deseriptions of the
two houses reveal this emphasis on utilitarian requirements and the lack of

a dominant architectural style,

William Elliot House

The William Elliot House (Plate 1) is located at 2206 Newport Gap Pike,
Wilmington, Delaware, on toughly 1.5 acres on the south side of Newport Gap
Pike (State Route 41), approximately 0.3 miles west of its intersection
with Kirkwood Highway (S5tate Route 2). Situated on the floodplain of the
Red Clay Creek, approximately 200 feet east of the creek, the dwelling is
surrounded by mature trees with a large open lawn to the south. A hedge
shields the house along its 172-foot frontage with Newport Gap Pike. At
the time of this examination, the structures' architectural character
remained intact, Subsequent vandalism has stripped the building of all
original fabrie.

Probably built in the 1870s, the dwelling is a three-bay, two-and-one-
half-story, gable-roofed, frame structure with a center gable, A two-bay,

7



PLATE 1: The William Elliot House (Photograph by David L. Ames, 1987)



two-story, shed-roofed rear ell forms the northwest facade. A third bay on
the northwest facade is part of a one-story frame shed-roof addition that
wraps around the southeast facade of the ell (Plate 2). This addition
exhibits two periods of construction, the earlier section extending to the
southwest of the ell. Another section added in more recent times runs
along the whole lemgth of the southeast facade of the ell and the earlier
addition. The dimensions of the northeast and northwest facades measure
roughly 28% feet by 36k feet,

The foundation of the original structure consists of stuccoed field-
stone. Stuccoed concrete blocks and fieldstone were used as foundation
materials under the additions. The entire structure is sheathed with
German siding that measures 5% inches wide and 1 inch thick., Five inches
of siding are revealed after the overlap of the boards. The northeast
facade is covered by a full-length hip-roofed porch supported by five
square posts on a /-foot by 28%-foot poured concrete pad. A single
interior end chimney stack topped with a terra cotta/ceramic pot penetrates
the shed roof of the ell. All roofs are sheathed with asphalt shingles and
exhibit projecting cornices ornamented with fascia and cyma recta molding,

There are currently three exterior entrances into the dwelling. The
centrally placed formal entrance in the northeast facade consists of two
elongated arch-shaped panels with molded rails over two rectangular panels.
Unadorned surrounds are crowned by a two-light rectangular transom. Modern
press board doors with plain surrounds are located on the southeast and
southwest additions. Seams in the German siding below the window in the
southeast facade of the original structure may denote a former entrance. A
similar seam in the northwest facade of the earlier addition may have also
been an earlier entrance.

Ground-level windows on the original structure are treated with un-
adorned surrounds and sills, flanked with paneled shutters. Unadorned
lintels are capped with small protruding shelves. Except for louvered
shutters, second-story window treatment is similar to the first story. All
windows on both floors of the original strueture are six-over-six light
sash. Although the hinge pintles remain on the walls of the dwelling, many
of the shutters are nailed or screwed to the weatherboard. Some shutters
have been installed upside down, A two-over-two light sash window, with

the upper sash matching the peak of the cross gable, allows light into the



PLATE 2: Rear View of the Elliot House (Photograph by David L. Ames, 1987)

10



attic, Two pairs of one-over-one sash windows penetrate the peaks of
either gable end. One six-over-six light sash window sits in the northwest
wall of the addition. Five modern one-over-one light aluminum sash windows
line the southwest and southeast walls of the newer addition,

The interior space of the original dwelling is divided into a two room
or hall-parlor plan with a rear ell used as a kitchen (Figure 3), The two
rooms are of approximately equal dimensions but have been oriented on
different axes. One enters through the northeast facade into the wider of
the front rooms or the hall, located in the north corner of the structure.
Windcws penetrate the northeast and northwest walls, A door to the
southwest leads to a stairway. The stairwell to the second story is
located between the kitchen and the hall, There are 12 treads, each 2 feet
8 inches wide, 9% inches deep with a 74 inch rise. Another door enters
into the parlor in the east corner of the dwelling. The removal of some of
the paneling in the south corner of the hall revealed a doorway that
entered a small interior vestibule where entry to the kitchen, the parlor,
and the basement stairway converged,

The parlor contains two windows, one in the northeast wall, the other in
the southeast. A door in the west cormer leads into the previously
mentioned vestibule. The stairs to the full basement, accessed from the
vestibule, consist of 9 treads, each 3 inches wide and 8 inches deep with 8
inch risers. Structural features revealed in the basement include 3-inch
by 8-inch circular sawn joists as well as tongue and groove plank flooring
that average 3 inches wide. The basement also has a poured concrete floor
and stuccoed fieldstone walls.

The kitchen has two windows opposite each other on the northwest and
southeast walls. The southeast window opens into a half-bathroom installed
in the more recent addition. A paneled door exits inte this addition,
while a similar door enters the earlier addition through the southwest
wall. A slender chimney pile also protrudes from the center of this wall.

A moveable two-step stalr allows descent inteo the older addition from
the kitchen. Immediately to the right is a window, Another window pene-
trates the southwest wall where a door leads to the rear vard via a two
tread concrete block step. A door on the southeast wall leads into the
newer addition. Removal of paneling on rhis wall revealed horizontal

tongue-and-groove planks that overlapped the south cornmer post of the ell.
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FIGURE 3. Floor Plan of the William Elliot House (Drawn by Stuart Dixon)
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The most recent portion of the shed-roof addition contains two windows
in the southwest wall and three windows and a door in the southeast wall.
A small half-bathroom has been installed in the addition by attaching
modern wooden paneling to both sides of stud framing. A single concrete
step lies outside the door to the exterior,

On the second fleor, a large bedroom lies immediately to the southwest
of the top of the stairs. A stud frame covered with modern wooden paneling
has been installed along the southwest wall in order to make two closets,
This framing and paneling also conceals a slender chimney pile. 1In the
north corner of the room a door opens into an original smaller closet.

At the top of the stairs, a hallway stretches to the northeast wall and
a window that is flanked by two rooms. Along the northwest wall of this
hallway are three doors, the first revealing the stairs to the attic while
the others open inte clesets, The bedroom in the northwest corner of the
house contains a closet and one window on each of its exterior walls.
Another smaller bedroom, in the northeast corner of the house, has windows
comparably placed in its exterior walls. Entrance into a full bathroom,
placed behind this smaller bedroom, is accomplished through a doorway at
the top of the stairs,

The attic stairs consist of eight treads that turn ninety degrees above
the hall closets. The attic is split inte two rooms of roughly equal
dimensions. The northeast half of the attic is enclosed by a thin wall
finished with lath and plaster, as is the inside of the enclosed space. A
vertical board-and-batten door allows entry inte the finished room, The
northwest half of the attic, Into which the attic stairs empty, is un-
finished. Common rafters are butted to a ridge board and lapped to a floor
board doubling as a false plate. Chimney piles are also visible at both
gable ends indicating that the piles on the lower floors were removed at
some earlier date.

An interesting structural element revealed in the attic is the framing
for the shed roof of the ell. Shallowly sloped rafters, butted to the
common rafters 6f the gable, have been placed perpendicularly above the
ceiling joists of the ell. Wood shingles, still attached to the shingle
lath with machine made wire nails, were present underneath the joint of the
shed roof with the gable roof. Apparently the roof of the ell was either

flat or at a shallower angle at an earlier date., If this were not the

12



case, shingles would not have been installed lower than the current shed-
roof. Close inspection of the cornice treatment supports this interpreta-
tion. The ornamented cornice of the ell, which forms an uninterrupted roof
line with the gable’s cornice, begins two feet lower than the joint of the
ell's shed-roof with the gable. The intervening space between the actual
roof line of the ell and the cornice has been adorned with German siding
flush with the edge of the shed-roof and the gable’s projecting cornice,
not the massing of the wall. A box cornice above the ¢yma molding on the
cornice of the southwest facade also conceals rain spouts of an earlier
roof system. An aluminum gutter attached to the box cornice currently
collects rainfall off the roof of the ell.

Throughout the interior of the original structure, window and door
treatment consists of molded surrounds. One Interesting feature is a two-
light transom similar to the transom in the formal entrance that tops the
entry into the kitchen from the stairway landing. All rooms on the first
floor are sheathed with modern wooden paneling, different shades installed
in each room., Formica was also used in the kitchen and rear addition in
combination with modern paneling. Quarter round molding was used in many
corner joinmts. Wall to wall carpeting covers the flooring of all rooms
except the kitchen, which is sheathed with linoleum.

The original field examination of the Elliot House was conducted in
September 1987, Between October 1987 and January 1988, vandals destroyed
or removed much of its original architectural integrity. Exterior siding
has been stripped off the northwest and the southwest facades, revealing
circular-sawn wall studs that measure 3 inches by 4 inches. Also exposed
is a 4-inch by 6-inch corner post supported by a downbrace attached to a 4-
inch by 8-inch vertically sawn sill that runs the length of the northwest
wall of the main structure. Studs were cut completely through to install
this downbrace, indicating that it was added after the original construc-
tion of the house, Almost all window sash has been removed as well as most
shutters on the ground level. The majority of the doors and their assoc-
lated hardware are gone. Some baseboard and trim has been removed. Modern
wooden paneling has been salvaged by vandals. Electrical wiring and
plumbing fixtures have been removed. The stud-frame room in the southeast
portion of the ell addition has been destroyed. The partition wall between

the kitchen and the shed portion of the ell has been removed from the
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house, leaving just the stud and post framing. The chimney pile below the
roof line is gone except for the terra cotta pot. Rugs have been removed
from all -rooms. Construction crews preparing the property for the proposed
road improvements have removed the hedges that once separated the building
from traffic on Newport Gap Pike.

Two outbuildings approximately 100 feet to the southwest of the dwelling
sit within the current property’s boundaries (Figure 4). A small frame
gable-roofed one-story storage shed, sheathed with German siding, was
probably built during the twentieth century. A slightly larger one-story
frame gable-roofed building is possibly a late nineteenth-century chicken
shed. Neither structure contributes to the Elliot House's period of

significance,

Andrew Jackson Williams House

The Andrew Jackson Williams House (Plate 3) is located at 2200 Newport
Gap Pike (State Route 41), Wilmington, Delaware, on the southern side of
the road 0,25 miles west of its intersection with the Kirkwood Highway
(State Route 2). The Williams House is immediately to the east of the
Elliot House and is adjacent to the Baltimore & Ohio Railroad tracks. The
dwelling, dating to the 1870s, is on approximately 3.3 acres on the Red
Clay Creek flood plain composed of lawn, pgardens, orchards and woodland
with a 170-foot frontage along the Newport Gap Pike shielded by hedges,
WVhen it was first examined, the building’s architectural character was
excellent and much of its original fabric remained intact, Recent van-
dalism has removed many of its architectural features.

The house is a three-bay, two-story, gable-roofed frame structure with a
two-bay, two-story, gable-roofed ell on the rear of the northwest gable
end. A one-story frame shed-roofed addition is attached to the southwest
end of the ell (Plate 4). The approximate overall dimensions of the north-
east and northwest facades are 28% feet by 42% feet., The foundation of the
dwelling consists of fieldstone that has been.stuccoed on the exterior.
The structure is completely sheathed with German siding except for the
eastern facade of the ell and the shed addition, which are sheathed with
asphalt shingle. The siding measures 5% inches wide, 1 inch thick and
leaves 5 inches revealed when the boards are overlapped. A small one-

story shed-roofed porch, supported by square posts on an 1l-foot by 7-foot
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FIGURE 4. 5ite Map
A; William Elliot House

B: Shed
C: Chicken Shed

New Castle County Tax Parcel Number
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Scale: 1 inch = 60 feet
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PLATE 3: The Andrew Jackson Williams House
(Photograph by David L. Ames, 1987)
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PLATE 4: Rear View of the Williams House
{Photograph by David L. Ames, 1987)
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poured concrete pad, Is centered on the northeast facade. Mr, Paul E.
Bower, a previous owner of the house, reports that a former porch along
this facade extended cthe full length of the wall. The present porch was
erected approximately twenty vyears ago &after an automobile accident
destroyed the earlier porch. The celling of the porch is finished with
beaded tongue-and-groove boards. A single interior end chimney plle topped
with a terra cotta/ceramic stack extends above the gable ridge of the ell.
A similar chimney pot sits as a lawn ornament in the rear yard, A concrete
block chimney pile on the exterior of the southeast facade of the addition
is supported and braced by welded angle iron.

The door in the northeast facade has unadorned wooden surrounds topped
by a three-light rectangular transom. The door, composed of four rectang-
ular lights above two wooden panels, is of modern construction. There are
two other entrances into the dwelling, both on the southeast facade of the
addition. Ornamentation of these entries is similar to the formal entrance
in the northeast facade, but both lack transoms. The door that leads into
the kitchen from the patiec has four lights over two panels, similar to the
main entrance. The door inte the shed from the patio area contains a large
rectangular screen above a recessed panel, |

Two pairs of two-over-two light sash are situated In the peaks of the
main gable ends, while the gable end of the addition contains a single two-
over-two light sash, Other windows consist of six-over-six light sash,
The single exception is a nine-over-nine light sash that has been installed
in place of an original deor in the southeast gable end. Window treatment
consists of plain wooden surrounds and sills, topped by a thin prejecting
shelf above unadorned lintels. Butt hinge style pintles are evident on all
the window surrounds, but all shutters have been removed. Recessed panel
shutters for the ground level and louvered ones for the upper story were
later found in the attic of the dwelling.

The roof is currently covered by asphalt shingles and is ornamented with
a shallow box cornice and unadorned frieze on the north facade. The gable
ends exhibit partial returns with fasc¢la and cyma recta molding and scroll
brackets except for the gable end of the ell which lacks the brackets. A
12-foot by li4-foot poured concrete patleo sits outside of the southeast
facade.

The main block possesses a full basement with a poured concrete floor,
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which may be entered from the first floor via a stairway or through
bulkhead exterior doors and six concrete steps through the eastern foun-
dation. This exterior basement entrance was installed in rather recent
times, The interior stairway contains 10 treads, each 2 foot 11 inches
wide, 9% inches deep with a 7 inch rise. Among the visible structural
elements in the basement are sills composed of 9-inch by 4-inch circular
sawn beams. Floor joists measured 8-3/4 inches by 3% inches and were also
circular sawn. The flooring uses tongue-and-groove boards four inches
wide. A hewn summer beam measured 9 inches by 8 inches and supported the
main structure along its northeast/southwest axis., Two one-light windows
are situated in the northwest foundation wall. One window penetrated the
northeast foundation wall., The walls of the basement consisted of stuccoed
fieldstone.

Interior space on the ground level of the main section is divided
unequally into a two room or hall-parlor plan with a kitchen in the ell
(Figure 35). Entry through the northeast facade leads inte the smaller
north room. This room contains the staircase to the second floor. There
are thirteen treads, each 2 feet 10% inches wide and 9 inches deep with an
8 inch rise. The closed string balustrade consists of twenty 1-1/8 inch
square posts topped by a slender turned wooden handrail. The newel post is
a 7k inch square wooden column erowned by beaded cyma molding and a square
capital. Baseboards are 7% inches high, capped with 1% inch high cyma
molding. A plastered brick chimney flue, probably for use with a c¢oal
burning ‘stove, projects from the northwest wall. The plaster walling of
the flue stack has been extended to form a small cupboard, A panelled door
encloses the cupboard space. The plaster covering the stack and cupboard
is also ornamented with beaded cormers. A door in the western cornmer of
the room leads into the kitchen, while a large entry in the southeast wall
opens into the larger room of the two-room plan. Both the door and the
entryway are ornamented with cyma surrounds. A window pierces the morth-
east wall. Another window breaks the massing of the northwest wall south
of the chimney flue. Window ornament consists of cyma surrounds similar to
the door surrounds,

The larger front room or parlor lies to the east of the first. There
are two doors in the western corner of the second room. One leads into the

kitchen. The second door provides access to the basement stairway. The
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FIGURE 5! Floor Plan of the Williams House (Drawn by Stuart Dixon)
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room is 1lit by four windows: one in the northeast wall looks onto Route 41,
while another in the southwest wall overlooks the concrete patio, Two
other windows penetrate the southeast wall on either side of a small
projecting chimney flue placed similarly to the stack in the first room.
Door, window and baseboard surround treatment is similar to the first room.

According to Mr. Bower, the parlor was once a general store: the walls
were lined with shelves and the room could be entered from the outside
through a door that has been replaced by a window in the southeast wall.
Although no evidence remains of shelving, seams in the German siding below
the window indicate that the space could formerly have contained an entry
door. Since the Bower family has lived in the dwelling since the early
1920s, this store possibly survived into the early 1930s,

The kitchen can be entered from either ¢f the front rooms, the patio, or
the shed addition. One window in the southeast wall overlooks the patio
area while another window pierces the northwest wall., Door and window
surround treatment is similar to the other rooms, The most interesting
feature is two sets of built-in cupboards and shelves that may date from
the original construction. Evidence indicates that they have been altered,
but the original panelled doors are still in use. A small chimney pile
projects from the southwest wall with one side flush to one of the cup-
boards.

& single step leads frem the kitchen down into the shed addition, Mr,
Bower states that this addition replaced an earlier shed addition that was
destroyed by fire during the 1920s. A door on the southeast wall faces
onto the patio; windows are located on the southwest and northwest walls.
According to Mr, Bewer, this shed was formerly used as a ceal bin, although
no evidence supporting this usage pattern remains. A small closet space
has been buillt in the south cornmer of the addition but is of recent
vintage.

Immediately to the right at the top of the staircase is a large bedroon
above the kitchen. Directly in front of the stairs is a full bathroom. To
the left a hallway leads to the northeast wall. Along this hall are three
doors. Proceeding toward the northeast wall, the first two doors enclose
closet space while the third contains the stairwell to the attic. At the
end of the hall is a window that overlooks Newport Gap Pike. To either

gide of this window are smaller bedrooms, The northwest bedroom alsoc
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contains & small closet that shares its rear wall with the closet in the
large bedroom in the ell portion. A door from the small bedroom in the
northeast corner leads into the bathroom, Window placement, surround
treatment, and baseboard ornament are similar te those on the first floor,
One additional feature is a door in the southeast wall of the large bedroom
that still functions but that exits into the air space above the patio,
Mr. Bower related that at one time the patio area contained a two-story
enclosed porch into which this door entered.

The attic has been divided into three rooms, two of which are finished
with lath and plaster. The attic over the main section contains the two
finished rooms. These rooms are of approximately equal size, The attic
stairs lead into the northern of these finished rooms. A door leads into
the other finished room in the southern half of the main section. A second
door leads from the northern attic room inte the unfinished, unfloored
attic of the addition. Common rafters, 4 inches by 2-1/2 inches, are butt-
jointed at the peak. Mill-sawn ceiling jolsts, & inches by 3 inches, rest
on 7-1/2 inch by 1 inch plates. The finished rooms are ornamented with §
inch high molded baseboards. Vertical board-and-batten doors with beaded
edges are used in the attic while recessed panel doors are used throughout
the rest of the house.

Recent vandalism has removed maﬁ& of the Williams House's original
architectural features. All wall massing has been removed from the shed
addition leaving only the stud and post framing. The studs revealed were
one plece that ran from sill to plate. All three chimney piles have been
dismantled. Most of the window sash and doors have been taken as well as
the built-in cupbeards that had been installed in the kitchen. On the
first floor, much of the ceiling and wall plaster and lath has been taken
down. All balusters are missing from the staircase. On the second story,
the partition wall between the two rooms in the eastern half of the main
portion of the dwelling has been totally removed along with the partition
wall shared with the hallway. Electrical wiring and plumbing fixtures have
been removed. The bulkhead doors inte the basement are missing. Some
exterior siding has been stripped off the second story of the kitchen wing.
Hedges that once shielded the property from traffic along Newport Gap Pike
have been removed by construction crews preparing the property for the

proposed highway improvements.
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The property contains three frame utility bulldings, all built since
1940 (Figure 6). & one-story three-sided leante garage lies to the
southwest of the dwelling. Two sheds, one gable-roofed, the other of
leanto comstruction, sit a short distance south of the garapge., These three

buildings do mot contribute to the Williams House’s period of significance,

Summary

Both the Elliot House and the Williams House functioned as dwellings
during the period of their significance. The historie theme Architecture,
Engineering, & Decorative Arts normally would be most descriptive of the
historic patterns associated with the Elliot and Williams houses, Ornamen-
tal motifs from three architectural styles popular in the mid-nineteenth
century -- Greek Revival, Gothie Revival, and Itallianate -- are exhibited
in the two buildings and would tend to support this view. Borrowing
classical Greek motifs, Greek Revival structures were often ornamented with
pedimented and/or colonnaded porches, elaborated entrances and surrounds,
frieze boards and box cornices. Gothic Revival buildings exhibited center-
gable facades, pointed arch windows and projecting cornices, Jtalianate
structures displayed large eave brackets and partial returns on their gable
ends. The Elliot House possesses a center-gable facade penetrated with a
peinted arch windew in the attic and projecting cornices reminiscent of
Gothic Revival, The Elliot house simultaneously possesses a coleonnaded
porch often found on Greek Revival structures. The Williams House juxta-
poses frieze boards and box cornices normally found on Greek Revival struc-
tures with eave brackets and partial return gable ends imitative of
Italianate buildings (Plate 5).6

The cumulative effect of the eclectic stylistic ornamentation on the two
dwellings helps uncover the rich architectural heritage of the period and
may reflect the tastes of individual homeowners. The lack of a dominant
architectural style, however, suggests that stylistic and ornamental
attributes were secondary considerations. The primary concern of the
builders of the Elliot and Williams houses was the utilitarian requirements

for shelter and home, not a desire to make a public statement regarding

6 For detailed descriptions of the above mentioned architectural
styles see Virginia and lee Mcalester, A Field Guide to American Houses
(New York: Alfred A. Knopf, Inc., 1986), pp. 179-184, 197-200, 210-214.
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taste and status through architectural expression. The increased housing
needs of the local community, a result of expanding manufacturing estab-
lishments and the introduction of the railrecad inte the Red Clay Creek
valley during the 1870s, was the major contributor to the erection of the
Elliot and Williams houses, As a result the Elliot and Williams houses
most strongly relate to the historlic themes Manufacturing and Transpor-

tation & Communication in the period 1830-1880 +/-.

Manufacturing

Red Clay Creek was an efficient source of power and the site of numerous
milling establishments, some as early as the late seventeenth century
(Figure 7). A saw mill of log construction was located in the Greenbank
vicinity in 1677, while another was situated on Bread and Cheese Island
south of Greenbank.’ The Graves Mill on Burris Run, a tributary of Red
Clay Creek near Ashland, also operated during this period.8 The majority
of these early mills were invelved in an agricultural ecoromy, grinding
grains and sawing lumber for local consumption. The nineteenth century
witnessed a great expansioen in manufacturing on a national level. Through
an increased diversification of mills and manufacturing establishments in
the period 1830-1880 +/-, the Red Clay Creek valley participated in this
burgeoning national economy.

Greenbank Mill, located just north of the Williams and Elliot houses,
was a grist mill throughout the nineteenth century.g When a series of
international trade embargoes and the War of 1812 cut off the supply of
inexpensive British woolens to America, Graenbank Mill expanded and added
the Madison Factory in order to produce woolen goods. Built on the site of

an earlier saw mill, the Madison Factory found it increasingly difficulc to

7 For an excellent overview of manufacturing beside Red Clay Creek see
C. W. Pursell, Jr., "That Never Failing Stream: A History of Milling Along
Red Clay Creek During the Nineteenth Century" (M. A. thesis, University of
Delaware, 1958).

8 Graves Mill Historic Distriet, National Register of Historic Places
Nomination, N-5005, On file at Bureau of Archaeclogy and Historic Preserva-
tion, Dover, Delaware. Hereafter cited as BAHP.

9 Greenbank Historic District, National Register of Historic Places
Nomination, N-191. On file at BAHP.
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compete with the cheaper British woolens available after the end of the
war. Robert Phillips Son & Company advertised "Broad Cloths, Narrow
Cloths, Cassimers, Satinetts,..” made at his Greembank mill in 1818.10 By
1822 Phillips was attempting to sell the mills in order to settle delin-
quent debts. After the mills and adjoining lands had been seized by the
county sheriff, the properties were purchased by Phillips’ son John C. in
1830. J. C. Phillips is listed as the owner of a merchant grist and saw
mill in an 1833 inventory of United States manufactures.ll The Madison
Factory was probably converted to a saw mill in the iIntervening years.
Title to the mill properties passed to William G. and Isaac D, Phillips,
the sons of John C. Phillips. In 1852 the William G. Phillips & Bro.
company began te produce wooden hubs, spokes, and felloes. These items
were used in the manufacture of carriages, an extensive industry in
Wilmington during the ante-bellum and Civil War years. In the 1870s the
Wilmington carriage makers lost their leading role in the carriage manufac-
turing trade to concerns in St. Louis and Cinecinnati.l? The Phillips
brothers began producing a wider variety of wooden bentware and agricul-
tural implements such as forks, peach ladders, folding camp chairs and
stools, and croquet mallets. Carpenter and ship turnings (presumably items
produced on a lathe for the ship building industry) were advertised in
1870, as were house brackets and screll and circular saw work, By the late
nineteenth century, the wooden implement factory had closed, but the grist
mill continued operations. At this time the Greenbank Mill began to import
wheat and corn from farmers in the midwestern states, although earlier in
the century the surrounding countryside had provided ample quantities of
grain.13

The Fell Spice Mill at Faulkland, just north of Greenbank along the Red

Clay Creek, started grinding spices for shipment throughout the eastern

10 ¢, 4. Pursell, Jr., Two Mills on Red Clay Creek in the Nineteenth
Century (Wilmington: Historic Red Clay Valley, Inc., 1964), p. 24,

11 Secretary of the Treasury, Documents Relative to the Manufactures
in the United States (Washington: Duff Green, 1833), pp. 759-60, 779.

12 carol E, Hoffecker, Wilmington, Delaware, Portrait of an Industrial
City, 1830-1910 (Eleutherian Mills-Hagley Foundation: University Press of
Virginia, 1974), pp. 23-25.

13 Pursell, Two Mills, p. 28.
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seaboard in 1828.1%4 1In that vear Jonathan Fell purchased the saw and grist
mill of William Foulk. This grist mill was formerly owned by Oliver Evans,
the early American inventor whose Innovations revolutionized grist mill
operation in 1782. Fell's business was taken over by his son Courtland J,
Fell upon his death in 182%9. An 1833 list of manufactures described the C.
J. Fell Mill as producing ground chocolate, mustard, ginger, and spices.ls
The Fell family manufactured spices well into the 1870s when a series of
fires destroyed the mill. William Jenks Fell ran a grist mill at the site
until 1894

Ironworks were present along Red Clay Creek in the nineteenth century.16
The Delaware Ironworks at Wooddale began in 1826 when James Wood and his
son Alan started producing shovels and spades.17 A slitting mill had been
erected in 1814 by John Smith and Edward Gilpin but had not been an
economic success. The Woods converted the nall factory into a sheet iron
manufactory based on a method of uniformly producing sheets to a desired
thickness. This process, patented by the family, was extremely important
in the production of shovels strong enough to withstand use in the coal
mines of southeastern Pennsylvania, the Woods’ largest market.  The
ironworks, originally leased, was purchased by the younger Wood in 1844.
The property remained in the Wood family until 1891 and witnessed the
development of "imitation Russia” sheet Irxon. This process, patented in
1851, actually produced sheet zinc that was similar to "blackplates" used
18

in the manufacture of tinware. More recently the Natiomal Vulecanized
Fibre Corporation (NVF) has converted the site for the production of paper
products,

The manufacture of spnuff in the Red Clay Creek valley aided manufactur-

14 Fell Historic District, National Register of Historic Places
Nomination, N-6760. On file at BAHP.

15 Secretary of the Treasury, Documents, pp. 715-6.

16 ¢, w. Purgell, Jr., Ironworks on the Red Clay Creek in the 19th
Century; The Wooddale and Marshallton Mills of New Castle County, Delaware
(Wilmington: Historic Red Clay Valley, Inc., 1962}.

17 wooddale Historic District, National Register of Historic Places
Nomination, N-4092. On file at BAHP.

18 pursell, Ironworks, pp. 16-17.
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ing diversity and the area’s involvement in the national economy. As early
as 1782, John Garrett was manufacturing snuff in a converted grist mill at
Yorklyn that had been owned by his grandfather.lg Locally produced snuff
was shipped throughout the southern and the western states during the
nineteenth century. The mill was expanded in the 1840s with the addition
of another mill building and workers’ housing to the mill complex.
Converted to steam power in the 1870s, the mill remained in the vanguard of
snuff manufacturing technology wp wuntil the 1950s. The Garrett family
retained ownership of the mill until 1897. A short time later the mill was
acquired by the American Tobacco Company,

Textile mills were also in operation along Red Clay Creek in the
nineteenth century. Robert P. Robinson ran a wool carding mill on Hyde
Run, a tributary of the c¢reek north of Greenbank. The Greenbank Mill
produced woolen cloth, while a cotton mill had been established in Stanton
in 1815. The Kiamensi Woolen Factory and the Stanton Woolen Company were
in operation for large portions of the 1800s.

Perhaps the most interesting milling establishment in the nineteenth
century was the Auburn Mills in Ybrklyn.zo This mill serves as an excel-
lent example of the wide diversity of manufacturing endeavors attempted
along the creek. A grist mill in 1726, it was converted to a paper mill in
1805. Thomas Lea spun cotton at the mill in 1813. Jacob Pusey purchased
the mill about 1830 and is listed as producing spun cotton in an 1833

report on American manufacturing.21

William and James Clark operated a
woolen mill at Auburn after they purchased it in 1862. The mill burned
down in 1880, but it was later rebuilt and operated as a paper mill by T.
Elwood Marshall, Israel W. Marshall, and 5. Franklin Evart. These men
pioneered the manufacture of Insulite, a corrugated paper product.
Examination of contemporary documents helps reveal the changing charac-
ter of life in the Greenbank and Red Clay Creek valley areas in the last

half of the nineteenth century from primarily rural agriculture to mixed

19 Garrett Snuff Mill Historic District, National Register of Historic
Places Nomination, N-4098, On file at BAHP.

20 Auburn Mills Historic District, National Register of Historic
Places Nomination, N-5003. On file at BAHP.

21 Secretary of the Treasury, Documents, pp. 781, 800-2,
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farming and 1ndustry.22

Listings of occupations show that early in the
nineteenth century farming was the dominant economic activity with wheel-
wrights and blacksmiths also in evidence. Most indicative of the growth of
marufacturing concerns during the last half of the nineteenth century are
employment figures for the various mills. The Marshallton Ironworks and
the Kiamensli Cotton Mill together employed sixty-five men in 1860. Ten

years later the two mills totaled ninety-seven employees.23

Employment at
the mills was sometimes seasonal and often affected by outside market
conditions, The longevity of the establishments, however, helps document

their success and their impact on the community.

Manufacturing and the Elliot House

The Marshallton Ironworks were closely related to the building of the
Elliot House. Located south of the Elliot house along Red Clay Creek, the
Marshallton Ironworks was situated near the site of a grist mill operated
by James Buckingham in 181924 According to an 1823 list of manufactures,

James Buckingham operated a grist mill at the site 25

The grist mill was
purchased by John Marshall in 1835 and expanded by the addition of a
rolling mill, Marshall, married to the daughter of John C. Phillips of the
Greenbank Mill, built and operated a rolling mill in partnership.with his
brother Caleb. The mill changed owners several times bur continued to
manufacture sheet iron, producing 393 tons in 1859 and 500 tons in 1870.
John Bringhurst purchased the mill in 1877 and expanded operations by
installing steam-driven machinery and electric lights. The mills’' greatest
period of production came in the 1B80s: from producing 700 tons of sheet

metal in 1880, the plant was able to manufacture 2400 tons of sheet in

1884. Part of this expansion was due to attempts to produce a special-

22 United States Census, State of Delaware, Manuscript Returns: 1860,
1870, 1880, 1900. Microfilm on file at Center for Historic Architecture and
Engineering, University of Delaware, Newark, Delaware. Hereafter cited as
CHAE,

23 y. s. Census, State of Delaware, Agricultural Schedules; 1850,
1860, 1870, 1880; also U, §, Census, State of Delaware, Industry Schedules:
1850, 1860, 1870, 1880. Microfilm on file at CHAE.

24 poy an overview of this ironworks see Pursell, Ironworks.
25 Secretary of the Treasury, Documents, pp. 766-7, 779.
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finish sheet iron known as tin-plate.

Tin-plate was a method of applying tin to sheet iron that was extensive-
ly practiced in Great Britain.2® Used to produce domestic and dairy uten-
sils, tin-plate became extremely popular in the late nineteenth ecentury for
use in food canning and gasoline packaging and in the production of roofing
material. Until the 1890s England possessed a virtual world monopoly on
tin-plate production, while the United States was the largest importer of
the sheet mwetal. Attempts to produce tin-plate in the United States had
begun in the 1820s but were not financially successful. Starting in the
1860s, demand for tin-plate made production lucrative, and American
manufacturers again attempted to refine the process. Immigrants knowledge-
able in tin-plate production techniques began to be available due to
periodic depressions in England. William Elliot, born in England and
listed as a tinsmith in the 1880 Census, was probably associated with tin-
plate manufacturing attempts at the Marshallton factory.

Prior to 1875, the site of the Elliot House was part of a larger farm
parcel owned by James Cranston (Figure 8). The Delaware State Directory
and Gazetteer for 1874-1875 lists William Elliot as a tinmer living in

27 1In 1875 Elliot putchased a one-acre parcel from Cranston,28

Wilmington.
Although previously assessed only thirty dollars, in 1881 Elliot was listed
as the owner of a lot containing a frame house and frame shop valued at
$1000 (Figure 9).27 The term "tinner" is difficult to interpret, especial-
ly with the presence of the Marshallton mill in the vicinity. Wilmington
also had a sizeable tinware manufacturing community. Twelve tinware
manufacturers employing over sixty men are listed in the 1880 Industrial
Schedule, Although Elliot might have operated a tinsmith shop in his

"frame shop,” in all likelihood he was working at the Marshallton mill.

26 For an excellent examination of this industry see W. E. Minchinton,
The British Tinplate Industry, A History (Ozford: Clarendon Press, 1957).

27 The Delaware Stare Directory and Gazetteer For 1874-75 (Wilmington,
Delaware: Commercial Printing Co., 1874), p. 133.

28 New Castle County Deed Book: 0-10-177: New Castle County Recorder
of Deeds, Wilmington, Delaware. Hereafter cited as NCCRD.

29 Kew Castle County Tax Assessments: Christiana Hundred, 1877-1881;
On file at Delaware State Archives, Hall of Records, Dover, Delaware.
Hereafter cited as DSA.
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Local historian C. W. Pursell, Jr., reports that the Marshallton Ironworks
was among the earliest producers of tin-plate in the United States in the
late nineteenth century.30 Aged seventy-one, Elliot was described by the
1880 Census as living in the house with his wife. Whether he purchased the
lot with the house or built the dwelling himself, Elliot'’'s house consti-
tuted a substantial investment., His expertise in tin-plating would have
proven valuable to the Marshallton mill, and provided him with finanecial
opportunities mneeded for the purchase of the lot and house. Elliot owned
the house and lot until his death in 1885 when the property was purchased

by Bowen Pyle, a local carpenter (Figure 10).31

Manufacturing and the Williams House

The Williams House strongly relates te Greenbank Mill during the 1870s,
a period when the mill was producing wooden agricultural implements, such
as peach ladders and forks, and architectural ornaments, such as house
brackets and screoll saw work. The manufacture of wooden items was a
supplement to the grist mill operation that had continued operation since
the early nineteenth century. The mill, just north of the Williams House
along Red Clay Creek contributed to the growth of the local community, as
evidenced by the construction of the Williams House during this period.

Prior to 1873 the site of the Williams House was part of a larger farm
parcel owned by James Cranston (see Figure &, p. 34). Area residents state
that five houses of similar size, plan and appearance, including the Elliot
and the Williams houses, stood at one time along the southern side of
Newport Gap Pike. After demolition of the Elliot and Williams houses, only
one of these five will remain. Mr. Paul E. Bower, former owner of the
Williams House, states that he once met the daughter and granddaughter of
A, J, Williams, who informed him that the five houses were constructed by
A, J. Williams over a period of years. Recent vandalism of the Williams
House has revealed the date 1871 incised in the mortar of the northwest
chimney pile. Deed transactions do not reveal property transfers from
James Cranston, who owned all of the land along the south side of Newport
Gap Pike prior to the 1870s, to A. J. Williams for more than the one acre

30 Pursell, Iromworks, p. 24.
31 NCC Deed Book: W-18-558; NCCRD.
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FIGURE 10: Detail from W. G. Balst's Atlas of the State

of Delaware, 1894 (Reprinted courtesy of Special Collections,
Morris Library, University of Delaware)
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lot that Williams purchased in 1873 (see Figure 9, p. 35).32 Williams may
have built the five dwellings for James Cranston in a speculative venture
designed to profit by the increased need for housing necessitated by the
expansion of local manufacturing establishments. In the 1878 tax assess-
ment, Williams was assessed $1050 for one and one-half acres of land, a
frame house, stable and 1ivestock,33 Williams is 1listed in wvarious
directories as being a merchant, ladder manufacturer, plasterer, and masom.
Tax assessments for the period 1881-1885 show that Williams added a mill of
frame construction to his property during this time.3% A recent archaeo-
logical survey has revealed that a steam-powered wood lathe or saw mill
operated on the property during the latter half of the nineteenth century,
Williams may have manufactured ladders on his property in this "frame mill®
or been employed at the Greenbank Mill producing peach ladders. Williams
died early in the twentieth century, shortly before the property was sold
in 1902 by his daughter, Mary E. Williams, to Benjamin A. Groves. >
Although Williams was stationed at Fort du Pont north of Greenbank for a
short time during the Civil War, he was not a resident of the area until

after the introduction of the railroad into the Red Clay Creek valley.36

Transportation & Commm]cation
Expansion of manufacturing and industrial enterprises in the Red Clay
Creek wvalley in the late nineteenth century was primarily due to the
introduction of the railroad into the valley. Easing access to markets and
raw materials, the railrcad allowed local industries to increase production
and employ larger labor foreces, These workers, often with families,
required housing that the existing building stock was unable to supply, As

a result, pew communities were formed surrounding the local manufactories,

32 NGC Deed Book: G-10-505/6; NCCRD.
33 NCC Tax Assessment: Christiana Hundred, 1877-1881: On file at DSA.
34 NGC Tax Assessments: Christiana Hundred, 1881-1885; On file at DSA,
35 NGC Deed Books: Z-18-538; NGCRD.

36 Scharf, p. 370. Williams’ first appearance in the area is on the
1878-1881 tax assessment for Christiana Hundred.
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The erectlon of the Elliot and Williams houses can be seen as responses to
this need for housing and thus strongly relate to the historic theme
Transportation & Communication in the period 1830-1880 +/-.

The period 1830-1880 +/- was characterized by the development of
transportation networks that allowed people and goods to travel faster and
more easlily between the urban coastal areas and the agricultural hinter-
lands. An important early link in this transpertation network was the Gap-
to-Newport Turnpike completed in 1818.37 This turnplke followed much of
present day Route 41 and allowed teamsters to carry grain to the wharves of
Newport, a terminal of the intra-coastal trading network. From Newport,
shallow draft ships could take produce down the Christina River to Wil-
mington and other ports aleng the eastern seaboard. The Gap-to-Newport
Turnpike also gave the millers and manufacturers along Red Clay Creek
easier access to raw materials, Establishments such as the Fell Spice
Mill, the Delaware and the Marshallton Ironworks, the Garrett Snuff Mills,
and the Auburn Cotton Mills relied on outside sources for materials to
transform inte finished goods. These establishments also depended on
effective transpertation networks to provide access to markets in which to
sell their manufactured goods. Relatively few of the products were sold
locally. The many grist mills also relied on transportation networks to
carry flour and meal when New Castle County became a great grain producer
in the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries. Desiring to take
advantage of new markets iIn the western territories of the United States,
local manufacturers helped spur the construction of the Wilmington and
Western Railroad in 1872. Ultimately the increase of effective transporta-
tion networks aided in the destruction of eastern wheat producing and
exporting establishments.

The first attempt by manufacturers in the Greenbank area to have rail
service extended inte the Red Clay Creek valley was in 1867 when the

Delaware & Chester County Rail Road Company was incorporated by the State

37 priscilla M. Thompson, Springs/Red Clay Area, A Narrative Histori-
cal Overview, Newport to Gap Pike - Route 41, New Castle County, DE,
Delaware Department of Transportation Archeology Series no. 49 (Dover,
Delaware, 1986), pp. 10-13.
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of Delaware,38 Among the iInitial directors of this corperation were
William G. Phillips and Edward Mendenhall, owners of the Greembank Mill and
the Marshallton Ironworks respectively. In 1869 the corporation charter
was amended, and the concern was renamed the Wilmington and Western
Railroad Company. Although the floodplain of Mill Creek was considered as
a possible route, the directors decided to follow the path of Red Clay
Creek since more manufacturing establishments were located there. Local
manufacturers envisioned the railroad commecting them to greater and more
distant markets.

Construction of the railroad began with groundbreaking ceremonies on the
property of C. J. Fell at Faulkland. Among the second board of directors
elected at the groundbreaking ceremony were Phillips, Alan Wood of the
Delaware Ironworks, and William Garrett of the Yorklyn snuff mills. Wood
and two other men later purchased $500,000 of railrecad bonds.3? Wood also
donated land for a station at Wooddale. Fell sold land for a station at
Faulkland to the rail company for one dollar. A telegraph line was erected
along the route to help facilitate the movement of freight and passengers.
The importance of the railroad to the continued growth and expansion of the
manufacturing communities along Red Clay Creek can be best described by the
expectations of Alan Wood in 1872. Wood speculated that if rhe railroad
could dependably deliver coal to his faetory, he could convert to steam
operated mills and triple his r.'.n.n:pt.n:.t‘0 Alchough the Wilmington and
Western Railroad passed into receivership in 1875 and was eventually
purchased by the B & O Railroad, the introduction of the railroad into the
valley had a great impact on many of the manufacturing establishments along

Red Clay Creek and their communities.

Railroads and the Elliot and Williams Houses
The introduction of the railrocad in 1872 allowed bhoth the Marshallton

38 Wilmington and Western Railroad, National Register of Historie
Places Nomination, N-409]1. On file at BAHP. Also see Arthur G, Volkman, The
Story of the Wilmington and Western Railroad (Wilmington: Historic Red Clay
Valley, Inc., 1963).

39 Volkman, p. 26.

40 Vollman, p. 34. Pursell, in Ironworks, quotes a source that states
Wood's increase would be five or six fold, p. 20.
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Ironworks and the Greenbank Mill, as well as other mamufacturing establish-
ments in the Red Clay Creek valley, to expand their production capabilities
since raw materials and finished goods were transported more easily, With
the support of local manufacturers, the Wilmington and Western Railroad
stations were erected at or near the larger mills along Red Clay Creek
including Marshallton and Greenbank.

The railroad contributed to an increase in employment opportunities at
the Marshallton Ironworks. A railroad siding was bullt inte the factory in
order to faeilitate the movement of goods at the plant. Before the
railroad, Marshallton was not described as a separate entity from Newport.
After rthe arrival of the railroad, the Delaware 8State and Peninsula
Directory for 1882 described Marshallton as a thriving manufacturing
community consisting of neat new cottages and residences, many of whose

inhabitants were employed at the extensive ironworks.41

Twenty-five men
labored at the Marshallten mill in 1860. By 1870 the Marshallton mill
employed thirty seven men, and in 1880 the total had risen to fifty-five.42
This increase in workers and laborers in the Red Clay Creek valley required
additional housing. The Elliot House, constructed after the introeduction
of the railrcad into the valley, may be viewed as a product of this
expanded manufacturing community. The house was not built until after the
appearance of the railread in the community, a period when the Marshallton
Ironworks expanded greatly and attempted te manufacture tin-plate.

The relation of the Williams House to transportation netweorks in the Red
Clay Creek wvalley is much more direct and obvious, At the time of the
railroad’s opening, a local newspaper listed A, J, Williams as the station
agent at Greenbank. %3 The Williams House is directly across Newport Gap
Pike from the Greenbank Station (Plate &). Among the duties of the agent
were selling tickets, checking bagpgage and freight, and opening and closing

44

the station each day. The station also contained a telegraph line,

4l The Delaware State and Peninsula Directory For 1882 (Wilmingtonm,
Delaware:; Ferris Bros., 1882), p. 188,

42 U. 8. Census, State of Delaware, Industry Schedules, 1860, 1870,
1880, Microfilm on file at CHAE.

43 Volkman, p. 47,
44 Vollman, p. 42.
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PLATE 6: View of the Williams House and the Wilmington &
Western Railroad Depot (Photograph by David ¢. Bachman, 1985.
Reprinted with permission of DELDOT)
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Since trains did not always keep to schedule, the location of the Williams
home probably proved very beneficial to the railroad., Within the communitcy
the station agent held 2 position of respect and esteem, since the railroad
was an important economic link with Wilmington and points beyond. Wil-
liams’ son John probably worked at the station as he is listed as "Clerk
Rajil house" in the 1880 census, The Wilmington and Western Rallroad was
forced into receivership by the national economic panic of 1873. Although
the railroad was soon reorganized as the Delaware and Western Railroad,
there is no evidence that Williams continued to work for the railroad, It
was at this time that Williams turned to carpentry and housing construc-

tion.

Conclusion

The William Elliot House (built ca. 1875) and the Andrew Jackson
Williams House (ca. 1873) are significant as examples of the transformation
of rural areas in the late nineteenth century into centers of early
industry and transportation networks. Long the site of milling and
manufacturing establishments, the Red Glay Creek valley was dotted with
small industrial hamlets by the 1870s. The late nineteenth century
witnessed a shifr from agricultural milling establishments to diverse
manufacturing enterprises along Red Clay Creek. This shift mirrored
developments in the growing industrial economy of northern New Castle
County. Seeking more effective transportation in order to avail themselves
of sources of raw materials and of markets, local manufacturers supported
the construction of the Wilmington and Western Railroad. The introduction
of the railroad allowed for a degree of expansion that needed larger
workferces and resulted in new housing. The Elliot and Williams houses are
associated with these events in the Red Clay Creek valley and reflect the
growth of manufacturing and the need for related dwellings. The develop-
ment of industry and transportation in the Red Clay Creek valley during the
period 1830-1880 +/- was extremely significant in the erection of the
Elliot and Williams houses and supports their eligibility for listing on
the National Register of Historic Places under Criterion A (reflection of
broad patterns of history). Evidence that both houses were possible sites

of small shops (for ladder manufacturing and tinning) Ffurther supports
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Manufacturing as a historic theme influential in the building of the Elliot
and Williams houses. Although the two houses functioned as dwellings
during the period of their significance, the emphasis of wutilitarian
requirements overshadows the importance of architectural styling and

ornament as statements of aesthetic taste and social status.
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II1. SPRING RILL: HISTORIC THEMES

The subdued eclectic ornamentation of the William Elliot House and the
Andrew Jackson Williams House forms an interesting contrast to the formal
architectural motifs displayed on Spring Hill, the third property impacted
by the proposed Route 41 improvements. Spring Hill, an early nineteenth-
century structure that documents the remodeling of dwellings and landscapes
following Colonial Revival stylistic motifs during the 1930s, most strongly
relates to the historic theme Architecture, Engineering & Decorative Arts
in the period 1880-1940 +/-. Originally a reaction against the excessive
ornamentation of Victorian era architecture, the Colonial Revival style
borrowed design elements from America's colonial (pre-1840) heritapge and

45 Colonial Revival structures

reinterpreted them in modern construction.
are characterized by accentuated front doors with overhead fanlights and
sidelights, and symmetrically balanced bays, doors and wings. A principal
subtype of Colonial Revival exhibits hipped or gable roofs with a full
width porch supported by classical columns.hs Spring Hill also relates to
the historic theme Suburbanization in the period 1880-1940 +/-. Spring
Hill was one of the first dwellings built in the early nineteenth-century
suburban development "The Cedars” and was originally owned by one of the
suburb’s developers. bBuring this era, Wilmington's suburban dwellers
relied on horse-drawn and electric trelleys te carry them to jobs located
in the city. Because transportation was sc¢ closely connected to suburban
development, the theme Transportation & Communication in the period 1880-

1940 +/- relates to Spring Hill as well.

43 For an excellent examination of Colonial Revival see Alan Axelrod,
ed., The Cclonial Revival in America (New York: W, W, Norton & Company,
1985), especially Kenneth L. Ames' introduction. Also see David Gebhard,
"The American Colonial Revival in the 1930s," Winterthur Portfolio 22
(Summer/Autumn, 1987): 109-145.

46 McAlester, pp. 320-26.
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Architecture, Engineering & Decorative Arts

Architectural Description

Spring Hill is located at the northeast corner of Newport Gap Pike and
Washington Avenue (2311 Newport Gap Pike) in Mill Creek Hundred, New Castle
County, Delaware. Built circa 1902, Spring Hill is a Colonial Revival
style house with Federal-style ornamentation. The house sits on a small
bluff overlocking a large yard which contains 3,15 acres. The grounds are
terraced and thickly planted, with numerous hedges, gardens, and small
groups or rows of trees visually dividing the lawn areas. Several walkways
lead down the terraced slopes to Washingtom Avenue and to the outbuildings,
lawns, and pond.

Spring Hill is a two-and-a-half-story, five-bay, double-pile dwelling
with one-story wings on the west and east sides of the main block and a
rear three-story addition on the north end of the house (Plate 7). The
overall dimensions are 38 feet by 61 feet. The exterior walls are sheathed
with wooden weatherboard painted white. The siding contrasts with the
smooth, plain wood surfaces between the two-story, projecting, hexagonal
bay windows on the first floor. The white walls contrast in color with the
dark green shutters which adorn most of the windows on each side of the
house. 1In the projecting bays on the first floor, there are three six-
over-six light sash windows without shutters, each topped by crossetted
architraves and cornices of cyma recta moldings. The second-story bay
wvindows consist of one-over-ovne sash windows with green shutters, Two
similar sash windows without shutters occupy the space between the second-
story projecting bays,

The six-paneled front door on the south (main) facade features Federal
Revival ornamentation (Plate §). The door is surrounded by a segmental
arch with a centrally placed wooden keystone. An elliptical fanlight and
two sidelights have cast iron mullions ornamented with bellflowers and
rosettes, Flanking the sidelights are two small, six-pane windows. An
open, one-story porch with six Doric columns connected by a short balus-
trade extends the length of the main block., The porch is reached by two
wooden steps with a wooden handrail supported on "Tuscan-like" balusters.
Brick piers, which have been concealed by wooden lattice-work, support the

welght of the porch,
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PLATE 7: South elevation of Spring Hill (Photograph by
David €. Bachman, 1985. Reprinted with permission of DELDOT)
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PIATE 8: Detail of front door of Spring Hill (Photograph
by David C. Bachman, 19853, Reprinted with permission of DELDOT)
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The two one-story wings at either side of the structure are accentuated
with wooden quoins penciled to resemble stone. In most cases, Federal-
style quoins are laid so that their faces are alternately large and small,
but these quoins sit evenly on top of one another. An eight-over-eight
light window, flanked by two four-over-four light windows, is on the west
and east end wall of each wing. Above these windows on both the second-
story and the third-story of the main structure are two sash windows. To
the rear of the west wing is a glassed-in conservatory which has a window
on its western wall that once served as an outdoor window for the house.
Behind the west wing addition of the house is a small exterior porch that
is connected to the living room by a wooden six-paneled door. This porch
has two coupled "Tuscan-like" columns which rest on small plinths and
support a pent roof. To the right of the porch is a 1library with a
tripartite bay window fronting the side porch, and one sash window on the
north wall providing additional light for the library.

On the north end of tﬁe house two pedimented dormer windows pierce the
roof and flank a centrally placed square dormer window. Below each
pedimented dormer is a sash window on the second floor, RBetween the
windows 1s a two-and-a-half-story addition containing a rear staircase
lighted by a sash window on the second floor landing and another sash
window on the first fleoor landing. On the northeastern corner of the house
iz a one-story kitchen addition with a pent roof. A tripartite window
consisting of three sections of six-light sash admits morning light. The
kitchen has one exterior door opening. Another exterior door, which is
west of the kitchen door, provides access te the basement from the outside.

The gable roof on the main structure rises above a boxed cornice and is
pierced by a brick chimney stack on the west end. Pyramidal roofs top each
two-story projecting bay on the south facade, A mixture of shed and pent
roofs top other additions to the house creating an irregular roofline. All
of the roof surfaces have been covered with asbestos shingles.

The interior plan on the first floor of the house is divided into formal
and informal living space (Figure 1l1). A living room and a dining room
with a large entrance hall between them serve as a screen for the family
rooms to the rear of the house. The interior walls of the house are of
plaster applied over wood lath nailed to the balloon-frame structural

systemn.
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FIGURE 1l: Floor Plan of Spring Hill (Drawn by Stuart Dixon)
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The main doorway on the south facade leads into a formal vestibule with
a small closet to the left of the door and a powder room with a lavatory to
the right. The vestibule is one step below the main hallway., The ellipti-
cal arch motif on the exterior of the house is echoed on the interior. A
round-arched doorway with a raised, paneled embrasure and a console in the
surround opens into the formal entrance hall., The north wall of the hall
has ralsed, wooden paneling that is painted white. On the northwest wall
of the entrance hall is a staircase which rises and makes a 90 degree turn
at the second floor landing (Plate 9). The staircase has round, wooden
balusters with elongated plinths and capitals which are painted white. The
handrail and newel are of mahogany. A round-arched paneled door on the
northeast wall opens into the private quarters of the first floor. The
remaining wall space is finished with wainscot and stylized, marcon floral
wallpaper over the plaster walls.

The 1iving room and the dining room are arranged on either side of the
entrance hall, thus creating a symmetrical plan in the formal area of the
house. The doorways to both rooms consist of round-arched openings with
wooden trim crowned by a conscle In the center of the arch. All doorways
in the main hall are of similar design with one exception, The doorway to
the dining room includes three paneled, double doors as well as a carved
wooden sunburst motif in the semi-circular area above the doors (Plate 10),

The dining room has its original 1930s wallpaper. The wallpaper
consists of a brightly-celered, floral pattern with daisies, bluebells and
chrysanthemums arranged on a black background. Below the wallpaper is
paneled wainscot and above a cornice of cyma recta molding, All wood trim
is painted white. Behind the dining room is a butler’s pantry that has
glass-panned cupboards over enclosed cupboards areas with a sink on the
east wall and a window overlooking the conservatory. The kitchen is behind
the pantry.

The influence of Colonial Revival can be seen in the living room
wallpaper, which was installed in 1938.47 Pastoral scenes with men and
women dressed in colonial costume occupy a landscape of buildings resem-
bling the colonial city of Williamsburg., One building, in particular,

depicts a stylized version of the Governor’s Palace at Colonial Williams-

47 Gebhard, p. 116.
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PLATE 9: Main Staircase in Spring Hill (Photograph by Cheryl Powell, 1987)
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PLATE 10: Sunburst archway in Spring Hill (Photograph by
David C. Bachman, 1985. Reprinted with permission of DELDOT)
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burg. The restoration activities at Colonial Williamsburg in the 1930s
were a primary source for Williamsburg-inspired interior design.48

A fireplace located on the northern wall of the living room is Adamesque
in style (Plate 11). It has a crossetted architrave with a reeded, central
tablet and reeded, doric pilasters on each side of the black marble facing.
Two closets with paneled doors are built into the chimney jambs behind the
fireplace wall. A dentil cornice surrounds the room,

In the northwest room, or the library, is a corner fireplace with a
crossetted architrave, A projecting, square bay window on the west wall
with a raised, paneled embrasure on the west wall provides a view of the
west lawn. The entire room was painted an "antique gold" after 1959.

To the east of the library is the breakfast room with a stairway that
makes a 90-degree turn to the second and third floors. The stairway has
carved oak pendants and round oak newel posts. Beneath the stairway is a
closet. This room and the kitchen were painted white and tangerine with
lively colored, floral stenciling Iin the 1960s. The kitchen’s linoleum
floor was installed after the room was pailnted. There are wood paneled
cabinets and a small pantry in the kitchen. The library, breakfast room,
kitchen and the rooms on the second and third floors have molded surrounds
with bulls’ eye corner blocks. All of the rooms on the first floor except
the kitchen have matching oak floors with baseboards capped with cyma recta
moldings.

There are four bedrooms and two bathrooms on the second floor. The
master bedroom, which occupies the entire west side of the second floor,
has been arranged into a suite with an office area and a private bathroom
attached to it., On the third floor there are two bedrooms, bath, storage
room and cedar closet.

Between the formal entrance hall and the breakfast room is a small
hallway connecting the two rooms. A door on the west wall of the hallway
opens into an interior stairway to the basement. The basement is used as a
storage and work area. At the foot of the stairs from the interior of the
house is a door leading to a root cellar. To the right of the stairway
facing north is a shower room that was added in the early 1930s. In the

area behind the center stair is a well that was covered up when the kitchen

48 Gebhard, p. 117.
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PLATE 1l: Living room mantel, Spring Hill
{Photograph by Cheryl Powell, 1987)
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was enlarged in 1937. The fieldstone foundation in the basement measures
26 feet by 38k feet. Three large brieck piers in the basement provide
additional support under the center as well as at the east and west ends of
the house. All first floor jolsts visible from the basement are circular
sawn. New joists were installed to support the rear and wing additfons to
the house in the 1930s.

Several early twentieth-century outbuildings surround the house,
including a two-story frame carriage house, a rectangular wooden gazebo by
the pond, a 6-foot diameter wooden octagonal chicken brood shed, and a
wooden corn crib. South of the house, close to Newport Gap Pike, is a

nineteenth-century stone springhouse (Figure 12).

Landscape Architecture

A wvariety of trees and shrubs have been planted around the house and
outbuildings, Including Eastern Hemlock (Tsuga canadensis), Silver Maple
(Acer saccharinum), White Fir (Abies concolor), Northern White Cedar (Thuja
occidentalis), Pecan (Carya illinoensis), Atlas Cedar (Cedrus atlantica),
Flowering Dogwood (Cornus florida), Magnolia (Magnolia campbellii), Azalea
(Rhododendron arborescens), Colorado Blue Spruce (Picea pungens), American
Sycamore (Plantanus occidentalis), Sweet Cherry (Prunus avium), Ginkgo
{Ginkgo biloba), Rhododendron (Rhododentron maximum), Mountain Laurel
(Kalmia latifolia), Boxwood (Buxus sempervirens), American Holly (Ilex
opaca), Pacific Yew (Taxus brevifolia), Eastern Red Cedar (Juniperus
virginiana), Norway Spruce (Picea abies), Lilac (Syringa vulgaris), English
Elm (Ulmus campestris), Black Maple (Acer nigrum), Northern White Pine
(Pinus strobus), Mock Orange (Philadelphus inodorus), Japanese Maple (Acer
palmatum), Black Locust (Robinia pseudoacacia), Green Ash (Fraxinus
pennsylvanica), Pear tree (Pyrus), Sugar Maple (Acer saccharum), Mockernut
Hickory (Carya tomentosa), American Beech (Fagus grandifolia), Japanese
Barberry (Berberis thumbergii), White 0ak (Quercus alba), Meta Sequoia
(Metasequoia glyptostroboides), Northern Red 0Oak (Quercus rubra), Beauty
Bush (Kolkuitzia amabilio), Witch Hazel (Hamamelis virginiana), Glant
honeysuckle (Lonicera hildebrandiana), Cape honeysuckle (Tecomaria capen-
sis), Dewberry (Rubus hispidus), Royal Paulovinia (Paulownia tormen-tosa),
Multiflora Rosa (Rosa mulrtiflora), Vibernum (Viburnum dilatum), Wild Grape

(Vitis), Fleabane Daisy (Erigeron philadelphicus), GCGoldenred (Solidago
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altissima), Red Mulberry (Morus rubra), Seaside Alder (Alnus maritims), Red
Maple (Acer rubnum), Mimosa (Acacia), and Staghorn Sumac (Rhus typh-ina).

Figure 13 illustrates the locations of the various species.

Spring Hill Prior to 1930

There is evidence that a dwelling was on the property currently encom-
passed by Spring Hill as early as the mid-1800s (Figure 14). The name, "D.
Justice," appears on the Rea and Price map of 1849.%9  pavid Justice
purchased the property in 1832, and the location of this building was very
near or on the same site as Spring Hill. John Robinson acquired the farm
in 1855, and buildings are shown on his property in the Beers Atlas of 1868
and in the Baist Atlas of 1894 (see figures 8 and 10, pp. 34 and 37y.°0
Although there could have been a house on the property when the Crooks'
purchased their land, the present structutre supports an early twentieth-
century construction date.

In 1900 The Cedars Land and Development Company acquired the farmland

formerly owned by Robinson. 21

It was probably Richard W. Crook, one of the
developers of The Cedars, who built Spring Hill for his private residence
shortly after his wife, Carrie, purchased twenty-four lots from The Cedars
Land and Development Company for §$1000 on May 5, 1902.%2  In the 1903
Wilmington City Directory there is a "Crook, R. W." listed as a general
manager living in the "Cedars," a term that deseribes the development
rather than a particular house. Crook is listed as living in The Cedars
subdivision until 1916, 73

In 1913 Mrs. Crook sold twelve lots to William Stewart Allmond for 47500

which included the lots numbered 15 and 16 where Spring Hill is located

49 gamuel Rea and Jacob Price, Map of New Castle County, Delaware,
from Original Surveys (Philadelphia: Smith and Wister, 1849),

30 p. G. Beers, Atlas of the State of Delaware (Philadelphia: Pomeroy
& Beers, 1868); William G. Baist, Atlas of the State of Delaware (Philadel-
phia: William G. Baist, 18%4),

51 NcC Deed Book: K-18-451; NCCRD.

52 NCC Deed Book: Z-18-401; NCCRD.

33 Wilmington City Directories, 1903.1916, On file at Historical
Society of Delaware, Wilmington, Delaware, Hereafter referred to as HSD.
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FIGURE 14: Detail from Rea & Price’s
Map of New (Castle County, Delaware, 1849
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(Figure 15).% In 1913 William Stewart Allmond was listed in the Wilming-
ton City Directory as living in The Cedars.”®> He was a treasurer for the
Delaware Terra Cotta Company, but he was alsc the son of John P. Allmond,
president of People’s Ralilway Company. William Stewart Allmond died
intestate in 1919, and in 1920 his heirs sold his property for $14,000 to
Elizabeth Samuel, the wife of physician Meredith I, Samuel. She increased
the property in size by buying lots 1, 2, 9, 10, and parts of lots 3, 11,
€69, 70, and 71 for $700 from William L. and Isabella H. Betta in 1922.
Elizabeth Samuel died on February 25, 1929, and her entire property in The
Cedars was sold to James R. and Claire R. Morford in 193076

Little is known about the house during the period when the Allmonds and
the Samuels lived at Spring Hill. There may have been some alterations to
the house, but it was James R. Morford who would give Spring Hill its
Federal Revival style detail and make many changes in the size and plan of

the house.

Colonial Revival Remodelling at Spring Hill

Mr. and Mrs. James R. Morford, who lived at Spring Hill from 1930 to
1959, made many alterations and additions to the house between 1937 and
1938. With the help of the prominent local architectural firm Robinson,
Stanhope, and Mamning, the Morfords remodelled their home following
Colonial Revival stylistic motifs with Federal Revival detailing. Mr. and
Mrs. Arthur A. Baum, the present owners of Spring Hill, have made very few
changes to the property, and the house is essentially unaltered from its
1938 appearance.

James K. Morford had been a member of the law firm of Marvel and Morford
since 1928. He served as assistant city solicitor of Wilmington from 1935
to 1938, as the Attorney General of Delaware from 1939 to 1943, and on the
Board of Governors of the American Bar Association from 1943 to 1946,
Morford was a very successful man when he owned Spring Hill, and this is

reflected in the manner in which he created a suburban estate. 1In fact, he

54 NCC Deed Book: X-23-492; NCCRD.
35 Wilmington City Directory, 1913. On file at HSD.

36 NCC Deed Books: V-29-174, 2-28-504, G-31.480 and F-36-370; NCCRD.
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was called the "squire" of the neighborhﬂod.s7

Morford commissioned the architectural firm of Robinson, Stanhope, and
Manning to assist in the remodeling of his home. According to a former
employee of Robinson, Stanhope, and Manning, the firm was formed in 1932,
Before World War II their offices were located at the corner of 9th and
Market Streets in the Equitable Security Trust Company building (now the
Bank of Delaware). Most of their commissions were for housing design,
especially in developments such as Wawaset Park and Westover Hills. They
also designed and remodeled other large homes and small commercial struc-
tures In the Wilmington area. The firm disbanded in 1942 but reunited in
1946, Robinson, Stanhope and Manning returned to the same office, but
their commissiens changed to encompass mainly elementary schools, high
schools, hospitals and nursing homes throughout the Delaware and Cecil
County, Maryland. Ray Robinson died in 1951, and Burton Stanhope died in
1957, William Manning joined the architectural firm of Dollar, Bonner,
Blake, and Street in 1958. Manning took all of the architectural plans by
Robinson, Stanhope, and Manning with him, and the plans are stored with
this firm (now called Anderson, Brown, Higley, and Funk).58 The architec-
tural drawings commissioned by Morford represent a unique look at the
desires of a successful man to create a colonial estate.

The original floor plan of Spring Hill is outlined by the fieldstone
foundation in the basement. The plan consisted of a central hall flanked
by a parlor and a library on the west side of the hall and a dining room
and a kitchen on the east side. The second floor originally had five
bedrooms and one bath. On the third floor an attic was used for storage.
There was a hipped roof with a hipped dormer window on each of the four
sides of the roof. Two chimney stacks were on either side of the roof,
with one leading to a fireplace in the parlor and the other to a fireplace
in the dining room.

A 1937 drawing of the first floor plan by Robinson, Stanhope, and

Manning shows that a "Victorian-style" veranda surrounded three sides of

37 Mrs. James R. Morford, Jr. Telephone interview by Cheryl Powell.
Wilmington, Delaware, November 12, 1987, Notes located at CHAE.

38 john Bue. Telephone interview by Cheryl Powell, Wilmington,
Delaware, December 30, 1987. Notes located at CHAE.
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the house, including its main facade (Figure 16).59 The front porch on the
south elevation is unaltered and is composed of an open, one-story porch
with six Doric columns connected by a shert balustrade., Two bays project
on this elevation. The west and east porches project four feet less than
the front porch and differed stylistically. Two coupled Tuscan columns
rested on small plinths with three columns at the southeast and southwest
corner of the porches. A small porch behind the living room has not been
removed and I1s part of the original three-sided "Victorian-style" porch
construction,

The first major alterations were made to the house around 193560
Morford added the breakfast room with a staircase leading up to the third
floor attic. In the central hall he placed a vestibule at the entrance
with a closet on the west end and a powder room on the east end. The two
six-pane glass windows on either side of the front door sidelights were
then added. On the exterior the main doorway was replaced with Federal
Revival ornamentation. The original oak front door was removed to install
a six-paneled door surmeunted by & segmental arch with an elliptical
fanlight and two side lights ornamented with floral elements. The ellip-
tical arch was repeated in the vestibule interior. A round-arched deoorway
with a raised, paneled embrasure and a console in the surround opened into
;he formal entrance hall.

The staircase in the entrance hall was originally in the center of the
room, but it was removed and replaced with a staircase on the west wall
that makes a 90-degree turn on the northern wall to the second floor
landing. This creates an appropriate screen for the rear room additioms on
the first floor as well as making the staircase the most elegant feature in
the house. The additions provide more private living space for the family,
and the first floor of the house becomes clearly divided into formal and
informal space. The idea of dividing family rooms from public rooms is a

Victorian one that had long been considered out-of-style.61

59 Architectural plans currently located at CHAE.

60 Mre. Ann Benethum, Telephone interview by Cheryl Powell. Wil-
mington, Delaware, November 24, 1987. Notes located at CHAE.

1 clifford Edward Clark, Jr., The American Family Home 1800-1960
(Chapel Hill, N.C.: The University of North Carclina Prass, 1986), p. 132,
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On the first floor, the living room and the dining room were both
expanded to include the area formerly containing the side porches. The
kitchen was enlarged to almost twice its original size (It took over the
space of a shed to its rear), the butler’'s pantry was built in a space
occupled by the kitchen, and a glass-enclosed conservatory was added to the
western wall of the house, hiding an original exterior window., Morford
turned his bedroom area on the second fleoor into a suite (Figure 17). He
added a private bath, a dressing room, and an office. A door that once
opened between the office and the southeast bedroom was closed in to allow
him more privacy and is presently covered with wallpaper. By removing the
hipped roof and replacing it with a pitched roof pierced by two pedimented
dormer windows and a square dormer window in the middle, the third floor
attic was enlarped to make room for more living space. Two bedrooms, a
bathroom, a cedar closet, and a storage area were installed in it (Figure
18).

Robinsen, Stanhope, and Manning had designed the replacement of the
hexagonal, pointed roofs on the two-story projecting bays of the main south
facade for much lower roofs so that three pedimented dormer windows could
be placed on the south side of the main roof (Figure 19), but these plans
were never carried out., The roof over the main block was to have been
covered with wooden shingles and the other roofs with metal. All of the
roof surfaces are now covered with asbestos shingle.

In the basement, Morford intended to provide room for entertainment and
utilities, but these plans were also not executed. In the small passage
from the formal entrance hall to the breakfast reom, a door with a stairway
to the basement was added to provide an interior entrance, and z separate
exterior entrance was made for the basement (Figure 20).

Federal Revival detailing was added in the formal roems on the first
floor to match the entrance on the main elevation. In the entrance hall a
round-arched six-paneled door to the right of the staircase opened into the
private quarters on the first floor. The doorways to both the living reoom
and the dining room consisted of round-arched openings, with wooden trim
crowned by a consecle in the center of the arch, and were added to match the
front door and the arch in the vestibule. Other Federal Revival ornamen-
tation included the addition of paneled double doors as well as a carved

wooden sunburst in the semi-cireular area above the deoors to the dining
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room, The dining room wallpaper with its brightly colored, foliated
pattern of daisies, .bluebells, and chrysanthemums arranged on a black
background was purchaszed locally.62 The original fireplace in the dining
room was removed to create more room for the butler’s pantry behind the
north wall of the room.

A "Sheraton-style" sideboard made by the Charak Furniture Company in
Boston in 1937 still remains in the dining room today. It was one of many
pieces of Federal style furniture that Mr. Morford purchased for his home,
The company is now out of business, but one of its advertisements appeared
in a 1940 issue of Arts and Decoration.®3

The December 1938 issue of The New Delawarean published a photograph of
the house highlighting the staircase in the entrance hall from the dining
room door (Plate 12). The article featured photographs of staircases in
the Wilmington area that had been recently redecorated. Noticeable in the
photograph is the floral wallpaper and elliptical arch opening in the
dining room as well as the elaborately paneled staircase. Except for the
furniture seen in the photograph, the scene is unchanged today.

The wallpaper with scenes of colonial people and Williamsburg, the
dentil cornice, and the fireplace on the north wall of the room were part
of the Federal and Colonial Revival designs that were placed in the living
room. The fireplace, which has a more Adamesque design, features a cros-
setted architrave with a reeded tablet in the center with reeded doric
pilasters on each side of the black marble facing. The wall between the
living room and the library was fitted with a sliding door which was later
removed for the addition of a corner fireplace. Bookcases were also added
to the library at this time. Morford replaced all of the floors on the

first story, except the one in the kitchen, with matching oak planking.

Changing the Landscape

While Morford was remodeling Spring Hill, he was also extensively
altering the grounds surrounding the house. The Morfords carefully main-
tained their landscaped gardens with the help of a full-time gardener, who

lived near or on the property until World War II. a neighbor, Mrs, Roberta

62 Benethum Interview. November 24, 1987. Notes located at CHAE.
63 Arts and Decoration 52 (May 1940): 42.
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Davis, remembers that the pond was the first swimming pond that she had
ever seen, and she says that Morford also added an orchard and tennis
courts . b4

A landscape plan for the area around the pool has been found, but there
is no mention of a landscaping firm or date anywhere on the plan. The
front cover of the booklet says that the plan was made for Mr. James R,
Morferd. Mrs. Ann Benethum remembers the planting that took place around
the pond in the late 1930s. The plan does differ from the foliage that
exists around the pond today. Among the plantings indicated along the
southwest edge of the pool, which created a screen along the highway are
Lombardy FPoplar, White Pine, Hemlock, Birch, Dogwood, Magnolia, Oxydendron,
Forsythia, Vibernum, Willow, and Shade bush, On the east side of the pond,
there are Pine, Dogwood, Cherry, Red Bud, Vibernum, Varnish Tree, and Witch
Hazel. On the north side of the pond the plan called for Hemlock, Pine,
Flowering Crab, Rhododendron, Laurel, and Azalea. TFern, Grass, Japanese
Iris, Weeping Pink‘Cherry, and Jasmine were planned for the north and scuth
sides of the pond.

Robinson, Stanhope, and Manning designed an elegant masonry gazebo
topped with a birdhouse cupola. This gazebo was part of the overall plan
made for the house in 1937-38, and the drawing for the design still exists.

It was mever executed, but a more modest wooden structure was built on the

west end of the pond.

The Colonial Revival in America

The Colonial Revival style became the dominant architectural type for
housing in America at the turn of the nineteenth century. The word
"colonial" loosely means the period in this country before 1840. Virginia
and Lee McAlester define Colonial Revival - in their book, A Field Guide to
American Houses, as a style which:

refers to the entire rebirth of interest in the
early English and Dutch houses of the Atlantic
seaboard. The Georgian and Adam styles form the
backbone of the Revival, with secondary influen-

6o Although the location of the tennis courts and orchards are
uncertain, Mrs. Ann Benethum, Mrs. James R. Morford, Jr., and Mrs. Roberta
A. Davis all mentioned them in their interviews. Mrs. Roberta A. Davis,
Telephone interview with Cheryl Powell. November 21, 1%87, Wilmington,
Delaware. Notes located at CHAE,
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ces from Postmedieval English or Dutch Colonial
prototypes. Details from two or more of these
precedents are freely combined in many examples
so that pure copies of colonial houses are far
less commen than are eclectic mixtures.

The purpose of the style was not to attempt to transcribe buildings from
the past and to reproduce them in an accurate archaeological fashion, but
rather to use design elements from the American colonial past and interpret
them for modern construction methods. Stylistic elements such as accen-
tuated front doors with fanlights and sidelights, symmetrically balanced
bays, doors, and wings, hipped and gabled roofs, and full width porches
with classical columns are among the most common architectural features
associated with the style in the period between 1890 and 1940. With the
sophisticated developments in technology at the turn of the century, many
of the Colonial Revival-style ornamental details could be easily mass-
produced for the general public.66

The reasons for the popularity of the Colonial Revival style in this
67

country are very cemplex, The negative reaction to the excessive
ornamentation that had become associated with Vietorian architecture
created a desire to return to the simple classical forms which predated the
Victorian style. With vast numbers of immigrants arriving in America at
this time, there were subtle nativist yearnings to preserve America's
colonial past. Architectural design seemed an appropriate method for
expressing the strong feeling of nationalism sweeping the country. Neo-
classical architectural forms such as Thomas Jefferson’'s Monticello and
George Washington's Mount Vernon became symbols of our cultural heritage
and archetypes for the Colonial Revival style in architecture.®® - The
restoration of Colonial Williamsburg in the 1930s created a new interest in
American historic preservation efforts, and in 1936 the American Institute

of Architects held its annual convention in Colonial Williamsburg.

A variety of publications were important for spreading the popularity of

65 McAlester, p. 324,

66 Frederick M. Wells, "Houses Inspired.by American Colonial," Arts
and Decoration 52 (May, 1940): 7; Gebhard, p. 110.

67 axelrod, p. 5.
68 Gebhard, pp. 109-110.
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the Colonial Revival style. Good Housekeeping, American Home, Better Homes
and Gardens, House and Gardens, House Beautiful, Ladies’ Home Journal, Arts
and Decoration, Town and Country, and Country Life, magazines geared toward
middle- and upper-middle-class households, began to focus on the colonial
tradition. ©National architectural drawing competitions sponsored by these
magazines and the construction of numerous demonstration houses zll over
the country helped to promote Colonial Revival architecture. Professional
journals, such as Architectural Record, Pencil Points, Architectural Forum,
and American Architect, and house pattern books, like Rexford Newcomb’s
Colonial &and Federal House: How to Build an Authentic Colonial House,
published measured drawings and general interior and exterior photographs
of American colonial architecture. An increasing number of picture books
and historical studies were devoted to colonial architecture and prompted
attention to the New England area. S5amuel Chamberlain produced four
editions of his guidebook, Open House in New England, between 1937 and
1941, He also published several photographic essays of histerie New
England cities and towns . 6%

During the Great Depression a trend developed towards remodelling
exlsting dwellings in the Colonial Revival style. The Federal Revival
style became one of the popular forms of Colenial Revival architecture.
David Gebhard states in his article, "The American Colonizl Revival in the

1930s," that the Federal Revival:

as a colonial type was thought of as a nearly
perfect combination of three ideals of the time;
the sense of returning to the colenial past; the
desire to be suave and sophisticated via a highly
refined version of classicism; and the urge to
have an image that could, through its plain
surfaces, two-dimensional detailing, and simple
volumetric forms, be responded to as moderm.

Colonial Revival architecture was also pbpular in the state of Delaware,
Some of these buildings are listed on the National Register of Historic
Places including: Public School #111C, first quarter of the nineteenth
century (N-3238); Harmon School, 1920 (5-1653); 0ld Fire House, 1925 (K-
1692); CGovernor William Watson Mansion, 1906 (K-1693); Wright House, 1922

6% Gebhard, pp. 111-112.

70 Gebhard, p. 132,
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(N-5786): Aetna Fire Station #12, 1922 (N-5747); Wilmington New Century
Club, 1892 (N-1136); and Buena Vista which has a ca. 1930-32 Coleonial
Revival ballroom addition by the architect R. B. Oakie (N-219),

Summary

I1f Richard W. Crock had built his country estate as a symbol of his new
status in the community, James R. Morford was attempting to accomplish the
same goal thirty years later with his Colonial Revival remodeling of the
house and the extensive landscaping of the property. Spring Hill still
maintains its lofty presence in The Cedars, and no other house in the
neighborhood can match its character or prestige. In an article from the
Wilmington newspaper, The Morning News, on May 9, 1920, the author states
that Colonial Revival houses "are growing more and more popular, no doubt
largely because of their charming simplicity and haunting dignity."71 This
description remains true for Spring Hill, which fully captures the eternal

Coleonial Revival ideal in the Federal Revival manner,

Suburbanization and
Transportation & Communication

The historic theme Suburbanization during the period 1880-1940 +/- also
relates te Spring Hill. During this era population growth was dramatic in
the urban area of Wilmington where employment opportunities were great.
One effect of this growth was a movement of upper- and middle-class resi-
dents out of the city into less congested and cleaner rural areas. An
important facet of this migration was the availability of dependable
transportation networks that would allow suburban residents to continue
their urban employment. In the mid-nineteenth century horse-drawn trelleys
of the Wilmington City Railway Line began conveying passengers from the
business district along Front and Market Streets to less developed areas
along Delaware Avenue. This area subsequently became a residential
district for Wilmington‘s elite, Suburban development and transportation
networks were so closely related during this ﬁeriod that any discussion of

suburbanization cannot be divorced from transportation. In this manner the

71 See Charles S. Sedgwick, The Morning News, Wilmington, Delaware,
May 9, 192C.
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historic theme Transportation & Communication relates to Spring Hill and

heavily influenced the development of The Cedars as a suburb.

The Cedars

In 1900 The Cedars Land and Improvement Company was incorporated with
Richard W, Crook as president. Shortly thereafter the company bought
approximately eighty-five acres of land along Newport Gap Pike, This land
was subsequently subdivided into 229 lots. Crook and the other investors
intended to create a streetcar suburb for Wilmingron's middle cless. On a
high bluff between Red Clay Creek, Hyde Run and the Brandywine Springs
Amusement Park, the land encompassed by The Cedars was a pleasant residen-
tial area outside of the increasingly dirty industrial center of Wil-
mington. The further subdivision of The Cedars in 1913 by the J. G. Justis
Compary illustrates the attraction of the area as a suburban residentisl
district.’?

Between 1903 and 1913 there were about 68 land transactions in The

Cedars.73

By the early 1930s most of the lots had single-family dwellings
built on them. These houses were not constructed by The Cedars Land and
Development Company. Most families used independent contractors or built
the houses themselves with the help of neighbors or family. According to
the 1910 Census, there were 45 heads of families listed as living in The
Cedars, and the majority of these residents were painters, carpenters,
laborers, and tradesmen. /%

Suburban real estate was viewed as an excellent investment (especially
among the middle c¢lass) in the late nineteenth-century United States. In
Streetcar Suburbs urban historian Sam Bass Warner described the variety of
available shorc-term mortgages and title covenants designed to help protect
investment by stipulating lot size and architectural style, These cove-
nants usually forbade multi-family homes as well as the establishment of

factories, saloons, and stables within the boundaries of the development.

Deed transactions for The Cedars, for example, forbade the sale of alcohol

72 Thompson, pp. 27-34.
73 NCCRD, 1901-1914,

74 Davis Interview. December 30, 1987; Benethum Interview. December
30, 1987; Thompson, pp. 29-30, Notes located at CHAE.

77



and spirits. The major necessary characteristic of a suburb was proximity
75

to a streetcar or electric treolley line.

Trolleys and Streetcars

Electric trolley lines facilitated the opening of suburbs in the
Wilmington area. In 1912 there were three major trolley routes providing
transportation from Wilmington to Brandywine Springs, Elsmere, New Castle,
and Chester, Peﬁnsylvania. Suburban settlements along these‘trolley routes
varijied according to several factors. Carol E. Hoffecker in her book,
Corporate Capital: Wilmington in the Twentieth Century, peints out that:

People moved from houses in the center city {of
Wilmington] to new ones along the trolley lines
in a discernible pattern that reflected factors
such as socioeconomic status, place of work, and
ethnicity.

As proprietor of the local trolley line that ran from Wilmington to
Brandywine Springs, Crook was ideally sjtuated to promote the development
of a suburban area.

Richard W. Crook had been the general manager of Brandywine Springs
Amusement Park since 1886, Brandywine Springs, just north of Hyde Run, had
been for most of the nineteenth century a resort and amusement park. A
succession of owners, including the Fell family of the Faulkland spice
mill, had operated a hotel at Brandywine Springs, a chalybeate mineral
spring ({waters impregnated with salts of iron) popular during the early
nineteenth century. Crook began operating an amusement park at the site in
1886. He leased the existing resort hotel in the park for his residence.’’

In order to satisfy the demand for transportation te the park and
surrounding area, a number of trolley line companies extended their service

in the Brandywine Springs vicinity. The Wilmington and Western Railroad

had proved to be unsuitable for the needs of the park. By 1895 passengers

75 Sam Bass Warner, Jr., Streetcar Suburbs, The Process of Growth in
Boston, 1870-1900 (Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press,
1978).

76 carel E. Hoffecker, Corporate Capital: Wilmington in the Twentieth
Century (Pniladelphia: Temple University Press, 1983), p. 27.

77 Thompson, pp. 13-14: C. A. Weslager, Brandywine Springs (Wil-
mington, Delaware: Hambleton Co., 1949), pp. 19-21.
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between Wilmington and the park had to transfer from the Wilmington and
Elsmere Electric Railway Company to the Wilmington City Railway. The need
to transfer was eliminated in 1897 when Crook was asble to convince Wilming-
ton City officials and the Elsmere Company that promoting easy passage
between Wilmington and Brandywine Springs Park would increase fares for
both trolley companies,

When the Wilmington City Railway Company began to develop Shellpot Park
as a rival amusement park, Crook’s backers, the Brandywine Springs Company,
obtained approval to operate a trolley line in Wilmington. The Wilmington
and Brandywine Springs trolley line opened the next year with Crook's
brother as president. Land later eﬁcompassed by The Cedars was purchased
by the Wilmington and Brandywinme Springs Trolley Line Company in 1898. 1In
1900, Crook obtained a charter for the Peoples Railway Company to build an
electric trolley car line. With Crook serving as general manager, the
Peoples Railway built a line from Wilmington that ran west on Capitol Trail
through Prices Corner and up present-day Washington Avenue. There the pas-
sengers would disembark and walk to the Brandywine Springs Amusement Park,
This route opened in 1901 and finally gave Crook contrel of a line that ran

between downtown Wilimington, Brandywine Springs and The Cedars.’8

78 John T. Mullins, Souvenir of Peoples Railway Co. (Wilmington, De.:
Jotmu T. Mullins, 19Cl); Francis A. Cooch, Litrle Known History of Newark,
Delaware, and Its Environs (Newark, De._: The Press of Kells, 1936), pp. 27-
33, Weslager, p. 76, Thompson, pp. 22-31; Hoffecker, Corporate, pp. 12, 19-
28.
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IV. GONCLUSION

Historical patterns, frequently complex and interconnected with myriad
relationships, form the rich texture of 1life. The three properties
impacted by the widening of Route 41 help to reveal broad historical
patterns significant in the development of the Greembank area. The Elliot
and Williams houses document the growth of rural agricultural communities
in northern New Castle County into industrial hamlets. By examining the
two buildings’ association with manufacturing establishments and transpor-
tation networks in the Red Clay Creek valley in the period 1830-1880 +/-,
we are able to discern the interrelated aspects of life and work in the
nineteenth century. An excellent example of Colonial Revival architectural
motifs in the period 1880-1940 +/-, Spring Hill strongly illustrates the
desire of middle- and upper middle-class Americans to display their idea of
self and community in architectural ornament and style. Further examina-
tion also reveals that Spring Hill relates to the development of streetcar
suburbs ss an alternative to urban living in the same period. Greenbank
has experienced a wide array of historical patterns that have had a
profound effect on local history since the settlement of western cultures
in the area, The Jimpact of these cultures on the landscape of this
community reveals itself in the material remains of humankind. These
remains should be preserved and protected for the edification of future

generations.
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APPENDIX A:
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historic nameFl1)liot, William, House
uther names/site number Conner, John, House/ Delaware Cultural Resource Survey N-4016

2. Location
streel & number 2206 Newport Gap Pike [/ Anot for publication
city, town  Wilmington ' ‘ | / Avicinity
state Delaware code 10 , county New Castle cpde D03 zio code 19808
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€. Function er Lise

Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions)
DOMESTIC/dwelling

Corn Crib: AGRICULTURE/storage

Shed: DOMESTIC/secondary structure

Current Functions (onter categories fromn instructions)
DOMESTIC/dwelling

AGRICULTURE/storage

DOMESTIC/secondary structure

7. Description

Architectural Classification
{enter categories from instructions)

LATE VICTORTIAN/Gotbic Revival
"Avn Cribke- NO STYLE
-Shed: NO _STVLE

Matarizls (enter categories from instructions)

foundation Stone

walis Weatherboard

roo! ‘Asphalt

omar Tera Cotta Chimpev Pot

Deascriba prasant and historic physical appsarances,

The William Elliot House (see Plate 1, p. 8) is located at 2206 Newport
Gap Pike, Wilmington, Delaware, on roughly 1.5 mcres on the south side of
Newport Gap Fike (State Route 41), approximately 0.3 miles west of its
intersection with Kirkwood Highway (State Route 2). Situated on the
floodplain of the Red Clay Creek, approximately 200 feet east of the creek,
the dwelling is surrounded by mature trees with a large open lavn to the
south. A hedge shields the house along its 172-foot frontage with Newport
Gap Pike. At the time of this examination, the architectural character of
the structure remained intact. Subsequent vandalism has stripped the
building of all original fabriec.

Probably built in the 1870s, the dwelling Is 2 three-bay,’two—and—one-
half-story, gable-roofed, frame structure with a center gable. A two-bay,
two-story, shed-roofed rear ell ferms the northwest facade. A third bay on
the northwest facade is part of a one-story frame shed-roof addition that
wraps around the southeast facade of the ell (see Plate 2, p. 10). ' This
addition exhibits two periods of construction, the earlier section extend-
ing to the southwest of the ell, Another section added in more recent
times runs along the whole length of the southeast facade of the ell and
the earlier addition, The dimensions of the northeast and northwest
facades measure roughly 28k feet by 36k feet,

The foundation of the nrigiﬁal structure consists of stuccoed field-
stone. Stuccoed concrete blocks and fieldstone were used as foundation
materials under the additions. The entire structure is sheathed with
German siding that measures 5% inches wide and 1 inch thick. Five inches
of siding are revealed after the overlap of the boards. The northeast

facade is covered by a full-length hip-roofed porch supported by five
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square posts on a 7-foot by 284-foot poured concrete pad, A single
interior end chimney stack topped with a terra cotta/ceramic pot penetrates
the shed roof of the ell. All roofs are sheathed with asphalt shingles and
exhibit projecting cornices ornamented with fascia and cyma recta molding.

There are currently three exterior entrances into the dwelling. The
centrally placed formal entrance in the northeast facade consists of two
elongated arch-shaped panels with molded rails over two rectangular panels.
Unadeorned surrounds are crowned by a two-light rectangular transom. Modern
press board doors with plain surrounds are located on the southeast and
southwest additions. Seams in the German siding below the window in the
southeast facade of the original structure may denote a former entrance. A
similar seam in the northwest facade of the earlier addition may have also
beent an earlier entrance.

Ground-level windows on the original structure are treated with un-
adorned surrounds and sills, flanked with paneled shutters. Unadorned
lintels are capped with small protruding shelves. Except for louvered
shutters, second-story window treatment is similar to the first story. All
windows on both floors of the original structure are six-over-six light
sash. Although the hinge pintles remain on the walls of the dwelling, many
of the shutters are nailed or screwed to the weatherboard. Some shutters
have been installed upside down. A two-over-two light sash window, with
the upper sash matching the peak of the cross gable, allows light into the
attic. Two pairs of one-over-one sash windows penetrate the peaks of
either gable end. One six-over-six light sash window sits in the northwest:
wall of the addirion. Five modern one-over-one light aluminum sash windows
line the southwest and southeast walls of the newer addition,

The interior space of the original dwelling is divided into a two room
or hall-parler plan with a rear ell used as a kitchen (see Figure 3, p.
12). The two rooms are of approximately equal dimensions but have been

oriented on different axes. One enters through the northeast facade into
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the wider of the front roems or the hall, located in the north corner of
the structure, Windows penetrate the northeast and northwest walls. A
door to the southwest leads to a stairway. The stairwell to the second
story is located between the kitchen and the hall. There are 12 treads,
each 2 feet 8 inches wide and 9% inches deep with a 7% inch rise. Another
door enters intoe the parlor in the east corner of the dwelling. The
removal of some of the paneling in the south corner of the hall revealed a
doorway that entered a small interior vestibule where entry to the kitchen,
the parler, and the basement stairway converged.

The parlor contains two windows, one in the northeast wall, the other in
the southeast. A door in the west corner leads into the previously
mentioned vestibule. The stairs to the full basement, accessed from the
vestibule, consist of 9 treads, each 3 inches wide and 8 inches deep with 8
inch risers. Structural features revealed in the basement include 3-inch
by &-inch circular sawn joists as well as tongue-and-groove plank flooring
that averages 3 inches wide, The basement alsc has a poured concrete floor
and stuccoed fieldstone walls,

The kitchen has two windows opposite each other on the northwest and
southeast walls. The southeast window opens inte a half-bathroem installed
in the more recent addition., A paneled door exits into this addition,
while a similar door enters the earlier addition through the southwest
wall. A slender chimney pile also protrudes from the center of this wall,

A moveszble two-step stair allows descent into the older addition from
the kitchen. Immediately to the right is a window, Anather window
penetrates the southwest wall, where a door leads fo the rear yard via a
two-tread concrete bleock step. A door on thé southeast wall leads inte the
newer addition. Removal of paneling on this wall revealed horizontal
tongue-and-groove planks that overlapped the sourh corner pest of the ell,

The most vecent portion of the shed-roof addition contains two windows

in the southwest wall and three windows and a dopor in the southeast wall.

88



WS Frvn OO0 Ol Asgroved MO 1G240018
[

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number ___. Page

A small half-bathroom has been installed in the addition by attaching
modern wooden paneling to both sides of stud framing. A single concrete
step lies outside the door to the exterior.

On the second floor, a large bedroom lies immediately to the southwest
of the top of the srairs, A stud frame covered with modern wooden paneling
has been installed along the southwest wall in order to make two closets.
This framing and paneling also conceals a slender chimney pile. In the
north corner of the room a door opens into an original smaller closet,

At the top of the stairs, a hallway stretches to the northeast wall and
a window that is flanked by two rooms., Along the northwest wall of this
hallway are three doors, the first revealing the stairs to the attic while
the others open into clesets., The bedroom in the northwest corner of the
house contains a closet and one window on each of its exterior walls.
Another smaller bedroom, in the northeast corner of the house, has windows
comparably placed in its exterior walls. Entrance into a full bathroom,
placed behind this smaller bedroom, is accomplished through a doorway at
the top of the stairs.

The attic stairs consist of eight treads that turn ninety degrees above
the hall cleosets. The artic is split into two reooms of roughly equal
dimensions. The northeast half of the attiec is enclosed by a thin wall
finished with lath and plaster, as is the inside of the enclosed space. A
vertical board-and-batten door allows entry into the finished room. The
northwest half of the attie, into which the attic stairs empty, is un-
finished, Common rafters are butted to 2 ridge board and lapped to a floor
board doubling as a false plate. Chimney piles are also visible at both
gable ends, indicating that the piles on the lower floors were removed at
some earlier date.

An interesting structural element revealed in the attic is the framing
for the shed roof of the ell. Shallowly sloped rafters, butted to the

common rafters of the gable, have been placed perpendicularly above the
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ceiling joists of the ell., Wood shingles, still attached to the shingle
lathe with machine-made wire nails, are present underneath the joint of the
shed roof with the gable roof. Apparently the roof of the ell was either
flat or at a shallower angle at an earlier date. If this were not the
gase, shingles would not have been installed lower than the current shed-
roof. Close inspection of the cornice treatment supports this interpreta-
tion. The ornamented cornice of the ell, which forms an uninterrupted roof
line with the cornice of the gable, begins two feet lower than the joint of
the ell’s shed-roof with the gable. The intervening space between the
actual roof line of the ell and the cornice has been adorned with German
siding flush with the edge of the shed-roof and the gable's projecting
cornice, not the massing of the wall., A box cornice above the cyma molding
on the cornice of the southwest facade also conceals rain spouts of an
earlier roof systen. An aluminum gutter attached to the box cornice
currently collects rainfall off the roof of the ell.

Throughout the interior of the original structure, window and door
treatment consists of molded surrounds. One interesting feature is a two-
light transom similar te the transome in the formal entrance that tops the
entry into the kitchen from thelstairway lending. All rooms on the first
floor are sheathed with modern wooden paneling, different shades installed
in each room. Formica was also used in .the kitchen and rear addition in
combination with modern paneling, Quarter-round molding was used in many
corner joints. Wall-to-wall carpeting covers the flooring of all rooms
except the kitchen, which is sheathed with linoleum.

The original field examination of the Elliot House was conducted in
September 1987. Between October 1987 and Jaﬁuary 1988, vandals destroyed
or removed much of its original architectural integrity. Exterior siding
has been stripped off the northwest and the southwest facades, revealing
circular-sawn wall studs that measure 3 inches by 4 inches. Also expesed

is a &-inch by 6-inch corner post supported by a down-brace attached to a
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4-inch by 8-inch vertically sawn sill that runs the length of the northwest
wall of the main structure. Studs were cut completely through to install
this down-brace, indicating that it was added after the originasl construc-
tion of the house. Almost all window sash has been removed as well as most
shutters on the ground level. The majority of the doors and their assoc-
iated hardware are gone. Some baseboard and trim has been removed. Modern
wooden paneling has been salvaged by wvandals. Electrical wiring and
plumbing fixtures have been removed. The stud-frame roem in the southeast
portion of the ell addition has been destroyed. The partition wall between
the 'kitchen and the shed portion of the ell has been removed from the
house, leaving just the stud and post framing. The chimney pile below the
roof line is gone except for the terra-cotta pot. Rugs have been removed
from all rooms. Construction crews preparing the property for the propesed
road Improvements have removed the hedges that once separated the building
from traffic on Newport Gap Pike.

Two outbuildings approximately 100 feet to the southwest of the dwelling
sit within the current boundaries of the property (see Figure 4, p. 16). A
small frame gable-roofed one-story storage shed, sheathed with German
siding, was probably built during the twentieth century. A slightly larger
one-story frame gable-roofed building is possibly a late nineteenth-century
chicken shed. Neither structure contributes to the Elliot House's period
of significance,

The property limits of the Elliot House begin at a spot on Newport Gap
Pike approximately 170 feet west of the Baltimore & Ohic Railrocad's
intersection with the Newport Gap Pike. In a southwesterly direction, the
line abutts the former holdings of Andrew Jackson Williams for 330 feet.
The boundary then runs 168 feet to the westnorthwest entering a wooded
section. Turning towards the northeast, the line meets the Newport Gap
Pike 370 feet distant, paralleling the edge of the same wooded section.

The line then runs along Newport Gap Pike for 172 feet to the point of
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beginning. These boundaries encompass the areas of historic occupation and
include a tract of land purchased by William Elliot from James Cranston in
1875.
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B. Statement of Significance
Certitying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other properties:

[nationatly [ statewide E] iocally
Appiicable National Register Criteria [R]A []8 [ 1c [Jp
Critetia Considerations (Exceptions) [ JA [ Je [CJ¢ [TJo O Orf DO

Arsas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Feriod o! Significance Significant Dates
Transportation 1875-1885 N/A
Industry 1875-1885 N/A

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Significant Person Architect/Builder
N/A UInknovmn

State significance of property, &nd justity eriteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significence noted above.

The William Elliot House, built ca. 1875, is significant as an example
cf the transformation of rural areas in the late nineteenth century inte
centers of early industry and transportation networks. The Elliot House
functioned as a dwelling during the period of its significance but relates
most strongly to the growth of manufacturing establishments and the
introduction of the railroad in the Red Clay Creek wvalley during the 1870s.
Efficient transportation networks allowed local manufacturing concerns to
expand preduction, Increased production required larger workforces and
resulted in the development of rural industrial communities. A manifesta-
tion of these nev communities was a demand for increased housing., The
Elliot House reflects this need for housing during the late nineteenth
century In the rural industrial hamlets of northern New Castle County., As
such the Elliot House is eligible for listing on the National Register of
Historic Places under Criterion A (reflection of'broad patterns of his-
tory).

The Elliot House is located in the Piedmont Zone, an area north of the
fall line in New Castle County characterized by nearly level teo steep hills
and clay soils mixed with loose rocks (see Figure 2, p. 3).7%  Another
feature is major and minor streams that flow primarily north to south into

the Christina River and then east inte the Delaware River. The Elliot

7% pavid L. Ames, Bernard L. Herman, and Rebecca J. 8iders, The
Delaware Srarewide Comprehensive Historic Preservation Plan (Newark,
Delaware: Center for Historic Architecture and Engineering, 1987), p. 86.
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House relates to property type 6D in the Delaware Statewide Comprehensive
Historic Preservation Plan (Manufacturing, 1830-1880 +/.: Industrialization
and Capitalization). Manufacturing, defined as the mechanical or chemieal
transformation of inorganic or organic materials inte new products, is
characterized by mills, factories, or plants.80 The Elliot House also
relates to property type 12D, Transportation & Communication in the same
peried. This property type is described as enterprises engaged in passen-
ger and freight transpertatien by railway, highway, water, or air, or

furnishing services related rto transportation.al

The property type 13D
(Architecture, Engineering & Decorative Arts, 1830-1880 +/-) also relates
to the Elliot House. This property type encompasses all objects, struc-
tures and sites which historically trace rthe development of material
culture defined as any significant reflection of individual and soeial
tastes and trends .52

The Piedmont Zone in the period 1830-1880 +/- was distinguished by an
expangion of industrial manufacturing concerns and the establishment of
transportation networks that facilitated the movement of poods and people
between rural areas and urban markets.®3 Although industry and manufactur-
ing did increase dramatically during this period, the landscape of the
Piedmont Zone remained rural and agricultural. Water-powered mills grew up
in the many river and stream wvalleys of the zone and spurred new c¢om-
munities in rural New Castle County. Turnpikes and railrcads were built,

linking these communities and manufacturing establishments with urban

B0 ames et al., p. 95.

8l Ames et al., p. 97.

82 Ames et al., p. 98.

83 Bernard L. Herman and Rebecca J. Siders, Delaware Comprehensive
Historic Preservation Plan: Historic Contexts {(Newark, Delaware: Center for

Historic Architecture and Engineering, 1986), pp. 33-37,
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markets and shipping centers, such as Wilmington and Philadelphia, that
distributed the manufactured goods and produce throughout the United
States. '

The Elliot house primarily functioned as & dwelling during the period of
its significance. The historic theme Architecture, Engineering & Decora-
tive Arts normally would be most descriptive of the historic patterns
assoclated with the Elliot house. Ornamental motifs from two architectural
styles popular in the mid-nineteenth century -- Greek Revival and Gothic
Revival .- are exhibited in the Elliot House. Borrowing classical Greek
motifs, Greek Revival structures were often ornamented with pedimented
and/or colonnaded porches as well as elaborated door surrounds.84 Gothic
Revival buildings exhibited center-gable facades, pointed arch windows and

prejecting cornices, 8>

Other styles exerting strong influences during the
nineteenth century included Italianmate and Queen Anne. The majerity of
these styles were formal expressions of sesthetic taste and social status.
Although these styles influenced vernacular building traditions, to &
great degree utilitarian requirements remained the dominant characteristie
of American housing in the mid-nineteenth century. The homes of the rural
middle class, which the Elliot house documents, exhibited ardhitectural
ornament by combining motifs from different styles, The Elliot House
simultaneously possesses a center-gable facade penetrated by a pointed arch
window in the attic and projecting cornices reminiscent of Gothic Revival,
and a colonnaded porch often found on Greek Revival structures (see Plate
1, p. 8). The subdued ornamental eclecticism exhibited by the Elliot House

reflects a concern for shelter and home, rather than a desire to make a

public statement through architecture. The lack of a dominant style helps

84 Virginia and Lee McAlester, A Field Guide to American Houses (New
York: Alfred A. Knopf, Inc., 19863, pp. 179-184.

85 Mcalester, pp. 197-200.
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reveal that other historic patterns played a more prominent role in the
construction of the dwelling.

Upon further examination, it is the association of the Elliet House with
the growth of industrial communities in the Red Clay Creek valley that
proves to be signifiecant (see Figure 7, p. 28). Long recognized as an
efficient source of power, Red Clay Creek had grist and sawmills located
along its swiftly flowing stream as early as the late seventeenth cen-

tury.86

The majority of these mills were involved in an agricultural
economy, grinding grains and sawing lumber for local consumption and use.
The Greenbank Mill, a late eighteenth-century mill complex located approxi-
mately a quarter mile upstream of the Elliot House, is situated on the site
of a seventeenth-century mill of log construction,8’ Another sawmill was
located on Bread and Cheese Island, south of the Elliot House. The Graves
Mill on Burris Run, a tributary of Red Clay Creek near Ashland, also
operated during the early eighteenth century.as The nineteenth century
witnessed a great expansion in menufacturing on a national level. Through
an increased diversification of mills and manufacturing establishments in
the period 1830-1880 +/-, the Red Clay Creek valley participated in this

burgeoning national economy.

In 1823 the Fell family began producing spices for expert throughout the

86 An excellent overview of manufacturing in the Red Clay Creek valley
is €. W. Pursell, Jr,, "That Never Failing Stream: A History of Milling
Along Red Clay Creek During the Nineteenth Century" (M. A. thesis, Univer-
sity of Delaware, 1958).

87 Greenbank Historic District, National éegister of Historic Places
Nomination, N-191. On file at Bureau of Archaeology and Historic Preserva-

tion, Dover, Delaware, Hereafter referred to as BAHP.

88 Graves Mill Historic District, National Register of Historic Places
Nomination, N-5005. On file at BAHP,
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east coast in a mill on Red Clay Creek north of Greembank.8? The Delaware
Iron Works produced sheet metal and shovels and spades for use in the
Permsylvania coal mines. These ironworks at Wooddale started operation in
1826.99 Textile mills also operated along the Red Clay Creek. Kiamensi
Woolen Factory and the Stanton Woolen Company both operated in the 1870s.
The Auburn Mills at Yorklyn was a paper mill, a cotton mill, and a woolen
mill at different periods in the nineteenth century.91 The Elliot House,
however, most strongly relates to the Marshallton Ironworks,

Located south of the Elliot house along Red Clay Creek, the Marshallton
Ironworks was situated near the site of a grist mill operated by James
Buckingham in 1819. The grist mill was purchased by John Marshall in 1835
and expanded by the addition of a rolling mill. The mill changed owners
gseveral times but continued to manufacture sheet iron. Its greatest period
of prosperity came in the 1880s, when the installation of & steam engine
and boilers allowed for the expansion of the plant. From producing 700
tons of sheet metal in 1880, the plant was able to manufacture 2400 tons of
sheet in 1884, Part of this expansion was due to attempts to produce a
special-finish sheet iron known as tin-plate.92

Tin-plate was a method of applying tin to sheet iron that was extensive-
ly practiced in CGreat Britain. Used to produce domestic and dairy uten-

sils, tin-plate became extremely popular in the late nineteenth century for

8% Fell Historic District, National Register of Historic Places
Nomination, N-6760. On file at BAHP.

90 yooddale Historic District, National Register of Historic Places
Nemination, N-4092. On file at PBaHP.

91 Auburn Mills Historic District, HNational Register of Hisrvoric
Places Nomination, N-5003. On file at BaAHP.

92 ¢. w. Pursell, Jr., Ironworks on the Red Clay Creek in the 1l%9th
Century: The Wooddale and Marshallton Mills of New Castle County, Delaware
(Wilmington, Delaware: Historic Red Clay Valley, Inc., 1962).
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use in.food canning and gasoline packaging and in the production of roofing
material. Until the 1890s England possessed a virtual world monopoly on
tin-plate production, while the United States was the largest importer of
the sheet metal, Attempts to produce tin.plate in the United States had
begun in the 1820s but were not financlially successful. Starting in the
1860s, demand for tin-plate made production Ilucrative, and American
manufacturers again attempted to refine the process. Immigrants knowledge-
able in tin-plate production techniques began to be available due to
pericdic depressions in England.93 William Elliot, bern in England and
iistéd as a tinsmith in the 1880 Census, was probably associated with tin-
plate manufacturing attempts at the Marshallton factory.94

Prior to 1875, the site of the Elliot House was part of a larger farm
rarcel owned by James Cranston (see Figure 8, p. 34), The Delaware State
Directory and Gazetteer for 1874-1875 listed Elliot as a tinner living in

Wilmington.95

96

In 1875 William Elliot purchased a one-acre parcel from
Cranston. Although previously assessed only thirty dollars, in 1881
Elliot was listed as the owner of a lot containing a frame house and frame
shop wvalued at $1000 (see Figure_g, P. 35).97 The term "tinner" is

difficult to interpret, especially with the presence of the Marshallton

93 W. E. Minchinton, The British Tinplate Industry, A History (Oxford:
Clarendon Press, 1957).

94 United States Census, State of Delaware, Manuscript Returns: 1880.
Microfilm on file at Center for Historie Architecture and Engineering,
University of Delaware, Newark, Delaware. Hereafter referred to as CHAE,

95 pelaware State Directory and Gazetteer for 1874-1875 (Wilmington.
Delaware: Commercial Printing Company, 1874}, p. 133,

96 New Castle County Deed Book: 0-10-177; New Castle County Recorder
of Deeds, Wilmington, Delaware.

97 New Castle County Tax Assessments: Christiana Hundred, 1B77-1B81;
On file at Delaware State Archives, Hall of Records, Dover, Delaware.
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mill in the vicinlicy. Wilmington also had a sizeable tinware manufacturing
community, Twelve tinware manufacturers employing over sixty men are
listed in rche 1880 Industry Schedule. 28 Although Elliot mighr have
operated a tinsmith shop in his "frame shop,™ in all likelihood he was
working at the Marshallton mill. Local historian C. W. Pursell, Jr.,
reports that the Marshallton Ironworks was among the earliest producers of
tin-plate in the United States in the late nineteenth century.99 Aged
seventy-one, Elliot was described by the 1880 Census as living in the house
with his wife.190 whether he purchased the lot with the house or built the
dwelling himself, Elliot’'s house constituted a substantial investment. His
expertise in tin-plating would have proven valuable to the Marshallton mill
and could have provided him with financial opportunities needed for the
purchase of the let and house. Elliot continued to own the house and
property until his death in 1885, when the property was purchased by Bowen
Fyle, a local carpenter (see Figure 10, p. 37).101

Expansion of manufacturing and industrial enterprises in the Red Clay
Creek wvalley in the late nineteenth century was primarily due to the
introduction of the railroad inte the wvalley. Through its affect on
manufacturing growth, the railroad contributed to the increased housing
requirements of lecal communities., The erection of the Ellict House can be
seen as a response to this need for housing, and thus strongly relates to

the historic theme Transportation & Communication in the period 1830-1880.

98 U. S. Census, State of Delaware, Industry Schedule: 1880; Microfilm.
on file at CHAE.

93 Pursell, Ireonworks, p. 24.

160 ¢y, s. Census, State of Delaware, Manuscript Returns: 1880; Miero-
film on file at CHAE.

101 New castle County Deed Book: W-18-558; New Castle County Recorder
¢f Deeds, Wilmingtorn, Delaware.
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Transportation networks had long been associated with the Red Clay Creek
valley and were extremely I1mportant te the development of manufacturing
commuriities in the wvalley. The Gap-to-Newport Turnpike, an early nine-
teenth century road, was a major artery in the movement of grains from the
hinterlands of New Castle County and southeastern Pennsylvania to Newport,
a termiﬁal in the intra-coastal trading network.102 In the eighteenth and
early nineteenth centuries, an intra-cocastal trading network was the
primary means of transporting goeds between major port cities and rursal
areas. Grains and other produce were carried across rough roads to inland
ports where shallow draft ships loaded agricultural produce and unloaded
finished household and agricultural goods not locally available, The
turnpike also gave the millers and manufacturers aleng Red Clay Creek
easier access to raw materials. Establishments such as the Fell Spice
Mill, the Marshallton Ironwerks, the Garrett Snuff Mills, and the Auburn
Cotron Mills relied on ourside sources for materials to rtransform into
finished goods. Wanting to take advantage of new markers for manufactured
articles and agricultural goods in the western Unired Srtares, 1local
manufacturers were instrumental in the construction of the Wilmington and
Western Railroad in 1§72.103

Construction of the railread was actively supported by most of the
manufacturers along Red Clay Creek. William Phillips and Edward Menden-
hall, owners of the Greenbank Mill and the Marshallton Ironworks respec-

tively, were on the first board of directors of the railread in 1859. Alan

102 prigcilla M. Thompson, Springs/Red Clay Area, A Narrative Histori-
cal Overview, Newport to Gap Pike - Route 41, New Castle County, DE,
Delaware Department of Transportation Archeclogy Series no. 49 (Dover,
Delaware, 1986), pp. 10-13,

103 Wilmingron and Western Railroad, National Register of Historic
Places Nomination, R-4091. On file at BAHP, Alsoc see Arthur G, Volkman, The
Srory of the Wilmingron and Western Railread (Wilmington: Historic Red Clay
Valley, Inc., 1963).
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Wood of the Delaware Ironworks and William Garrett of the Yorklyn snuff
mills joined Phillips in 1872 on the second board of directors. Wood and
two other men later purchased §500,000 of railroad bonds.10%  Wood also
donated land for a station at Wooddale., C. J, Fell sold land for a station
at Faulkland to the railroad company for one dollar. Although the flood-
plain of Mill Creek was considered as a possible route, the railroad
directors decided upon Red Clay Creek, since more marufacturing establish-
ments were located there, Ultimately stations were erected at or near the
larger mills along Red Clay Creek including Marshallton.

The introduction of the railread helped spur the expansion of manufac-
turing and resulted in employment opportunities at the Marshallton Iron-
works. A rallroad siding was built into the faectory in order to facilitste
the movement of goods at the plant. Before the coming of the railroad,
Marshallton was not described as a separate entity from Newport. Afterward
Marshallton became known as a thriving Industrial community. The Delaware
Srarte and Peninsuls Directory for 1882 deseribed Marshallton as a thriving
manufacturing community consisting of neat new cottages and residences many
of whose inhabitants were employed at the extensive ironworks. 10> Twenty-
five men labored at the Marshallton mill in 1860. By 1870 the Marshallton
mill employed thirty-seven men, and in 1880 the total had risen to fifty-
106

five, This increase in workers and laborers in the Red Clay Creek
valley required additiomal housing. The Elliot House was mot built until
after the appearance of the railroad in the community, a period when the

Marshallton Ironworks expanded greatly and attempted teo manufacture tin-

104 Volkman, p. 26.

105 The Delsware State and Peninsula Directory for 1882 (Wilmington,
Delaware: Ferris Bros,, 1882), p. 188.

106 y g, Census, State of Delaware, Industry Schedules: 1860, 1870,
188C. Microfilm on file at CHAE.
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plate,

Area residents state that five houses of similar size, plan and ap-
pearance, including the Elliot and the Andrew Jackson Williams houses,
stood at one time along the southern side of Newport Gap Pike. After
demolition of the Ellior and Williams houses, only one of these five will
remain. Mr. Paul E. Bower, former owner of the Williams House (situated
directly to the east of the Elliot House), states that he once met the
daughter and granddaughter of A. J. Williams, who informed him that the
five houses were comstructed by A. J. Williams over a period of years.
Deed -transactions do not reveal property transfers from James Cranston, who
owned ali of the land along the south side of Newport Gap Pike prior to the
1870s, to A. J. Williams for more than the one-acre lot that Williams
purchased from Cranston in 1873. Williams possibly built the dwellings for
James Cranston in a speculative venture designed to profit by the increased
need for housing necessitated by the expansion of local manufacturing
establishments. |

The William Elliot House is significant as an exémple of the transforma-
tion of rural areas in the late nineteenth century into centers of early
industry and transporﬁation networks, Long the s=site of milling and
manufacturing establishments, the Red Clay Creek valley was dotted with
small industrial hamlets by the 1870s, The late nineteenth century
witnessed a shift from agricultural milling establishments to diverse
manufacturing enverprises along Red Clay Creek. This shift mirrored
developments in the growing industrial economy of northern New Castle
County. Seeking more effective transportation in order to avail themselves
of sources of raw materials and of markets, lo;al manufacturers supported
the construction of the Wilmington and Western Railroad. The introduction
of the railroad allowed for a degree of expansion that needed larger
workforces and resulted in new housing. The Elliot House is associated

with these events in the Red Clay Creek valley and reflects the growth of
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manufacturing and the mneed for related dwellings., The development of
industry and transportation in the Red Clay Creek valley during the period
1830-1880 +/- was extremely significant in the erection of the Ellioct House
and supports its eligibility for listing on the National Register of
Historic Places under Criterion A (reflection of broad patterns of his-
tory). Evidence that the property was the possible site of a tinning shop
further supports Manufacturing as a historic theme influential in the
building of the Elliot Houses. Although the house functioned primarily as
a dwelling during the period of its significance, the emphasis of utilita-
rian requirements overshadows the importance of architectural styling and

ornament as-statements of aesthetic taste and social status,
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1. Name of Property
historic name Williams, Andrew Jackson, House

other nemes/site number ., House/ Delaware Cultural Resource Survey N-7698
2. Location
stroet & number 2200 Newport Gap Pike not for publication
city, town Wi lwmingtop vicinity
stats pelaware code 10 county New Castle code 003 zip code 19808
3. Ciassification
Ownership of Property Category of Properny Number of Resaurces within Property
[ private [X] building(s) Contributing Moncontributing
[l public-locat (L] district 1 3 bulidings
B pubtic-State [ site sites
[:] public-Federal L__l structure structuras

[ Jobject objects
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NS4 fisted in the National Register _0
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National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.
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6. Function or Uise

Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions)
DOMESTIC/dwelling

. STIC/secondary structure
Shede (2Y: DOMESTIC/secopdarv structures

Current Functions (enter categones from instructions)
DOMESTIC/dwelling

DOMESTIC/secondary structure

DOMESTIC/secondary structures

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(enter categories from instictions)

LATE VICTORIAN/Greek Revival

barage:NO STYLE

Sheds: NO SIYLE

Mztarials (enter categorias from instructions}

foundation Stone

walls Weatherboard

roof As'phalt

other Terra Cotta Chimpey Pot

Deascribe present and historic physical appearanca.

The Andrew Jackson Williams House (see Plate 3, p. 17) is located at

2200 Newport Gap Pike (State Route 4l), Wilmington, Delqware, on the

southern side of the road 0.25 miles west of its intersection with the
Kirkwood Highway (State Route 2), adjacent to the Baltimore & Ohio Railroad
rracks. The dwelling, dating to the last quarter of the nineteenth
‘century, is sited on approximately 3.3 acres on the Red Clay Creek flood-
plain composed of lawn, gardens, orchards and woodland with a 170-foot
frontage along the Newport Gap Pike shielded by hedges. When it was first
examined, the architectural character of the building was excellent and
much of its original fabric remained intact. Recent vandalism has removed
much of its architectural features, '

The house is a three-bay, two-story, gable-roofed frame structure with a
two-bay, two-story, gable-roofed ell on the rear of the northwest gable
end. A one-story‘frame shed-roofed addition is attached to the southwest
end of the ell (see Plate &, p. 18). The approximate oversall dimensions of
the northeast and northwast facades are 28% feet by 42% feet. The founda-
tion of the dwelling consists of fieldstone that has been stuccoed on the
exterior. The structure is completely sheathed with German siding except
for the eastern facade of the additions, which are sheathed with asphalt
shingle, The siding measures 5% inches wide and 1 inch thick and leaves 5
inches revealed when the boardé are overlapped. A small one-story shed-
roofed porch, supported by square posts on an ll-feot by 7-foot poured
conerete pad, is centered on the northeast facade, Mr. Paul E. Bower, a
previous owner of the house, reports that a former perch aleong this facade
extended the £full lengrh of the wall, The present porch was erected

approximately twenty years age after an automobile accident destroyed the
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earlier porch. The ceiling of the porch is finished with beaded tongue-
and-groove boards. A single interior end chimney pile topped with a terra
cotta/ceramic stack extends above the gable ridge of the ell. A similar
chimney pot sits as a lawn ornament in the rear yard. A concrete block
chimney pile on the exterior of the southeast facade of the addition is
supported and braced by welded angle iron.

The door in the northeast facade has unadorned wooden surrounds topped
by & three-light rectangular transom. The door, composed of four rectang-
ular liphts above two wooden panels, is of modern construction., There are
two other entrances into the dwelling, both on the southeast facade of the
addition. Ornamentation of these entries is similar te the formal entrance
in the neoertheast facade, but both lack transoms. The door that leads into
the kitchen from the patio has four lights over two panels, similar te the
main entrance. The door into the shed from the patio area contains a large
rectangular screen above a recessed panel,

Twe pairs of tweo-over-two lipght sash are situated in the peaks of the
main gable ends, while the gable end of the addition contains a single two-
over-two light sash, Other windows consist of six-over-six light sash,
The single exception is a nine-over-nine light sash that has been installed
in place of an original door in the southeast gable end. Window treatment
consists of plain wooden surrounds and sills, topped by a thin projecting
shelf above unadorned lintels. Butt hinge style pintels are evident on all
the window surrounds, but all shutters have been removed. Recessed panel
shutters for the ground level and louvered ones for the upper story were
later found in the attic of the dwelling.

The rocf is curreatly covered by asphalt shingles and is ornamented with
a shallow box cornice and unadorned frieze on the north facade. The gable
ends exhibit partial returns with fascia and cyma recta molding and scroll
brackets except for the gable end of the ell which lacks the brackets. A

12-foot by l4-footr poured comcrete patio sits outside of the southeast
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facade,

The main block possesses a full basement with a poured concrete fleor,
which may be entered from the first floor via a stairway or through
bulkhead exterior doors and six concrete steps through the eastern founda-
tion. This exterior basement entrance was Installed in rather recent
times. The interior stairway contains 10 treads, each 2?2 foot 11 inches
wide and 9% inches deep with a 7 inch rise. Among the visible struetural
elements in the basement are sills composed of %-inch by 4-inch circular-
sawn beams. Fleor joists measured 8-3/4 inches by 3% inches and were also
circular sawn. The flooring uses tongue-and-groove boards 4 inches wide.
A hewn summer beam measured 9 inches by & inches and supported the main
structure along its northeast/southwest axis. Two one-light windows are
situated in the northwest foundation wall. One window penetrated the
northeast foundation wall. The walls of the basement consisted of stuccced
fieldstone.

Intericr space on the ground level of the main sectien is divided
unequally inte a two room or hall-parler plan with a kitchen in the ell
(see Figure 5, p. 21). Entry through the northeast facade leads into the
smaller north room. Tﬁis room contains the staircase to the second floor. -
There are thirteen treads, each 2 feet 104 inches wide and 9 inches deep
with an 8 inech rise. The clesed string balustrade consists of twenty 1-1/8
inch square posts topped by a slender turned wooden handrail. The mewel
post is a 7% inch square wooden column crowned by beaded cyma molding and a
square capital. Baseboards are 7% inches high, capped with 1% inch high
cyma molding., A plastered brick chimney flue, Probably for use with a coal
burning stove, projects from the northwest wall. The plaster walling of
the flue stack has been extended to form a small cupboard. A panelled door
encloses the cupboard space. The plaster covering the stack and cupbeard
is also ornamented with beaded corners. A door in the western corner of

the room leads into the kitchen, while a large entry in the southeast wall
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opens into the larger room of the two-room plan, Both the door and the
entryway are ornamented with cyma surrounds. A window pierces the north-
east wall. Another window breaks the massing of the northwest wall south
of the chimney flue, Window ornament consists of cyma surrounds similar to
the door surrounds.

The Iarger front room or parlor lies to the east of the first. There
are two doors Iin the western corner of the second reocom. One leads into the
kitchen; the second door provides access to the basement stairway, The
room is lit by four windows. One in the northeast wall looks onto Route
41, while another in the southwest wall overlooks the concrete patio. Tﬁo
other windows penetrate the southeast wall on either side of a small
projecting chimney flue placed similarly to the stack in the first room.
Door, window and baseboard surround treatment is similar to the first room.

According to Mr. Bower the parlor was once a general store: the walls
were lined with shelves and the room could be entered from the outside
through a door that has been replaced by a window in the southeast wall.
Although no evidence remains of shelving, seams in the German siding below
the window indicate that the space could formerly have contained an entry
door. Since the Bower family has lived in the dwelling since the early
1520s, this store possibly survived into the early 1930s.

The kitchen can be entered from either of the front rooms, the patio, or

the shed addition. One window in the southeast wall overlooks the patio
area, while another window pierces the northwest wall., Door and window
surround treatment is similar to the other rooms. The most interesting

feature is two sets of built-in cupboards and shelves that may date from
the original construction. Evidence indicates that they have been altered,
but the original panelled doors are still in use, A small chimney pile
projects from the southwest wall with one side flush to one of the cup-
boards,

A single step leads from the kitchen down into the shed addition. Mr,
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Bower states that this addition replaced an earlier shed addition that was
destroyed by fire during the 1920s. A door on the southeast wall faces
onto the patio; windows are located on the southwest and northwest walls.
According to Mr, Bower, this shed was formerly used as a coal bin, although
no evidence supporting this usage pattern remains. A small closet space
has been built in the south corner of the addition but is of recent
vintage.

Immediately to the right at the top of the staircase is a large bedroom
above the kitchen. Directly in front of the stairs is a full bathreem. To
the left, a hallway leads to the northeast wall. Along this hall are three
doors. Proceeding toward the northeast wall, the first two doors enclese
closet space, while the third contains the stairwell to the attic. At the
end of the hall is a window that overlooks Newport Gap Pike. To either
side of this window are smaller hedrooms. The northwest bedroom also
contains & small closet that shares its rear wall with the closet in the
large bedroom in the ell portion. A door from the small bedroom in the
northeast corner Jleads into the bathroom. Window placement, surround
treatment, and baseboard ornament are similar to those on the first floor.
One additional feature is a door in the southeast wall of the large bedroom
that still functions but that exits into the air space above the patio.
Mr. Bower related that at one time the patic area contained a two-story
enclesed porch into which this door entered.

The attic has been divided into three rooms, two ¢of which are finished
with lath and plaster, The attic over the main section contains the two -
finished rooms. These rooms are of approximately equal size. The attic
stairs lead into the northern of these finished rooms. A door leads into
the other finished room in the southern half of the main section. A second
door leads from the northern attic room inte the unfinished, unfloered
attic of the addition. Common rafters, &4 inches by 2% inches, are butt-

jointed at the peak. Mill-sawn ceiling joists, 6 inches by 3 inches, rest
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on 7h-inch by 1-inch plates. The finished rooms are ornamented with 5-
inch high molded baseboards. Vertical board-and-batten doors with beaded
edges are used In the attic, while recessed panel doors are used throughout
the rest of the house.

Recent vandalism has removed many of the original architectural features
of the Williams House. All wall massing has been removed from the shed
addition leaving only the stud and post framing. The studs that were
revealed were composed of a single piece that ran from sill to plate. All
three chimney piles have been dismantled. Most of the window sash and
doors have been taken as well as the built-in cupboards that had been
installed in the kitchen. On the first floor, much of the cieling and wall
plaster and lath has been taken down., All balusters are missing from the
staircase., On the second story the partition wall between the two rooms in
the eastern half of the main portion of the dwelling has been totally
removed along with the partition wall shared with the hallway. Eleectrical
wiring and plumbing fixtures have been removed. The bulkhead doors into
the basement are missing. Some exterior siding has been stripped off the
second story of the kitchen wing, Hedges that once shielded the property
from traffic along Newport Gap Pike have been removed by construction crews
preparing the property for the proposed highway improvements,

The property contains three frame utiliety buildings, all built since
1840 (see Figure 6, p. 25). A one-story three-sided leanto garage lies to
the southwest of the dwelling. Two sheds, one gable-roofed, the other of
leanto construction, sit a short distance south of the garage. Tﬁese three
buildings do not contribute to the Williams House's period of significance.

The eastern boundary of the parcel occupied by Williams House begins at
the intersection of the B & 0 Railroad right-of-way and the Newport Gap
Pike (Route 41) and extends south along the railroad right-of-way ap-
proximately 350 feer. The south boundary then extends 280 feet in a

northwesterly direction to the line dividing Williams's land from William
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Elliot’'s property. This line then ran in a northeasterly directrion 310
feet to the Newport Gap Pike and formed the western boundary of the parcel.
The northern border of the tract reached approximately 170 feet southeast
along the Newport Gap Pike to the B & 0 Railroad right-of-way. These
boundaries describe the area of historic occupation and are encompassed by
the 3.3 acre parcel formerly owned by Paul E. Bower. This land also
includes a one acre tract purchased by Andrew Jackson Williams from James

Cranston in 1873.
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8. Statement of Significance

Certitying official has considered the significance of this property in reiation to other properties:
: [CJnationatty [ statewice Eliocally

Applicable National Register Criteria KA [J8 [Jc [Jo
Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) [ JA [Je8 [lc o [Je OF Oe

Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Significant Dates
Transportation 1873-1900 N/A
Industry 187 3~1900 N/A

Cu}tural Affiliation
N/A

Significant Person Architect/Builder
N/A Unknown

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of signiticance noted above.

The Andrew Jackson Williams House, built during the 1870s, is signifi-
cant as an example of the transformation of late nineteenth century rural
communities into centers of industrial activity and improved transportation
networks, Although the Williams House functioned primarily as a dwelling
during the period of its significance, it relates most strongly te the
growth of manufacturing and the introduction of the railread inte the Red
Clay Creek wvalley during the 1870s. Efficient transportation networks
allowed manufacturing concerns to increase production and expsnd thelir
workforce. Larger labor pools required more housing. The Williams House
reflects this need for increased housing in the growing industrial com-
munities of northern New Castle County. As such the Williams House is
eligible for listing in the National Register of Ristoric Places on the
basis of Criterion A (reflection of broad patterns of history),.

The Williams House is situated in the Piedmont Zone as outlined in the
Delaware Statewide Comprehensive Historic Preservation Plan (see Figure 2,
p. 3). The Piedmont is an area north of the fall line in New Castle County
characterized by nearly level to steep hills and elay seils mixed with
loose rock. Another feature is major and minor streams that flow primarily
north te scuth into the Chrisrina River and then east inte the Delaware

River.107

107 pavid L. Ames, Bernard L. Herman, and Rebecca J. Siders, The
Delaware Statewide Comprehensive MNistoric Preservation Plan (Kewark,
Delawsre: Center for Historiec Architecture and Engineering, 1987), p. B6.
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As a functional type, the Williams House relates to property type 6D of
the Delaware Statewide Comprehensive Historic Preservation Plan, reflecting
wide patterns of Industrialization and Capitalization associated wicth
Manufacturing in the Piedmont Zone during the period 1830-1880 +/-. This
property type is characterized by establishments involved in the transfor-
mation of materials into new products, including factories, mills and
plants.l08 The Williams House also relates to property type 12D, Transpor-
tation & Communication associated with the same era and geographical area.
Transportation & Communication is defined as enterprises engaged in
passénger and freight transportation by railway, highway, water, or air, or

furnishing services related to transportation.lo9

The property type 13D
{Architecture, Engineering & Decorative Arts; 1830-1880 +/-) also relates
to the Williams House. This property type encompasses all objects,
structures and sites which historically trace the development of material
culture defined as any significant reflection of individual and social
tastes and trends.l0

The Piedmont Zone in the period 1830-1880 +/- was distinguished by an
expansion of industrial manufacturing concerns and the establishment of
transportation networks that facilitated the movement of goods and people
between rural areas and urban markets, Although industry and manufacturing
did increase dramatically during this period, the landscape of the Piedmont
Zone remained predominately rural and agricultural. Water-powered mills
appeared in the many river and stream valleys of the zone and spurred new
communities in rural New Castle County. Turnpikes and railroads were
built, linking these communities and manufacturing establishments with

urban markets and shipping centers, such as Wilmington and Philadelphia,

108 Ames et al., p. 95.
109 pmes et al., p. 97.

110 pmes er al., p. 98.
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that distributed the manufactured goods and produce throughout the United
States, 111

Throughout the period of its significance, 1830.1880 +/-, the Willlams
House functioned as a dwelling. _The historic theme Architecture, Engineer-
ing & Decorative Arts would usually be most descriptive of the historic
patterns associated with the Williams House., Ornamental motifs frem two
architectural styles popular in the mid-nineteenth century -- Greek Revival
and Italianate -- are exhibited in the Williams House, Borrowing elassical
Greek motifs, Greek Revival buildings were often ornamented with frieze
boards and box cornices.ll? 1Italianate structures exhibited large eave
brackets and partial returns on their gable ends.113  other styles exerting
strong influences during the nineteenth century included Gothic Revival and
Queen Anne. These styles were formalized expressions of aesthetie taste
and soclal status.

Although vernacular building traditions were influenced by these formal
architectural styles, to a pgreat depree utilitarian requirements remained
the dominant c¢haracteristiec of Amerfcan housing in the mid-nineteenth
century. The houses of the rural middle-class, which the Williams House
documents, exhibited architectural ornament by cowmbining wmotifs from
different styles, The "Williams House juxtaposes frieze boards and box
cornices (see Plate 3, p. 17) normally found on Greek Revival structures
with eave hbrackets and partial return gable ends (see Plate 5, p. 26)
reminiscent of Jtalianate buildings. The subdued ornamental eélecticism of

the Williams House reflects a concern for home and shelter, rather than a

111 Bernard L. Herman and Rebecca J, Siders, Delaware Comprehensjive
Ristoric Preservation Plan: Historic Contexts (Newark, Delaware:; Center for
Historie Architecture and Engineering, 1986}, pp. 33-37,

132 Virginia and Lee McAlester, A Field Guide te American Houses (New
York: Alfred A, Knopf, Inc., 1986}, pp. 179-184.

113 Mcalester, pp. 210-214.
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desire to make a public statement through architecture, The lack of a
dominant style helps reveal that other historic themes and patterns played
a vital role in the construction of the Williams House.

It is the Williams House's association with the growth of manufacturing
enterprises and comnunities in the Red Clay Creek valley that proves to be
significant. As early as the late seventeenth century Red Clay Creek was
recognized as an efficient source of power (see Figure 7, p. 28). Grist
and sawmills began appearing along the creek in the 1670s. The majority of
these mills were involved in an agricultural economy, grinding grains and
sawing lumber for local consumption and use.l1%  Greenbank Mill, a mill
complex dating to the late eighteenth century located approximately a
quarter mile upstream of the Williams House, is situated on the site of a
seventeenth-century mill of log construction, 113 Another sawmill was
located on Bread and Cheese Island, south of the Williams Heuse, The
Graves Mill on Burris Run, a tributary of Red Clay Creek near Ashland, also
operated during the early eighteenth century.l16 The nineteenth century
witnessed a great expansion of manufacturing on the national level.
Through an increased diversification of mills and manufacturing establish-
ments in the period 1830-1880 +/-, the Red Clay Creek valley participated
in this burgeoning national economy.

In 1823 the Fell family began producing spices for export throughout the

114 an excellent examination of early industry in the Red Clay Creek
valley is C. W. Pursell, Jr., "That Never Failing Stream: A History of
Milling Along Red Clay Creek During the Nineteenth Century® (M. A. thesis,
University of Delaware, 1958).

115 Greenbank Historic District, National Register of Historic Flaces
Nomination, N-191. On file at Bureau of Archaeology and Historic Preserva-
tion, Dover, Delaware. Hereafter referred to as BAHF.

116 Graves Mill Historic District, National Register of Historic Places
Nomination, N-53005. On file at BAHP.
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east ecoast in a mill on Red Clay Creek nmorth of Greenbank.117 The Delaware
Iron Works produced sheet metal and shovels and spades for use in the
Permsylvania coal mines, These ironworks at Wooddale started operation in
1826.118  fexrile mills also operated along the Red Clay Creek, The
Kiamensi Woolen Factorj and the Stanton Woolen Company both operated in the
1870s. The Auburn Mills at Yorklyn was a paper mill, a cotton mill, and a
woolen mill at different periods in the nineteenth century.]'l9 The
Williams House, however, most strongly relates to Greenbank Mill,

Greenbank Mill, located just north of the Williams Heuse along Red Clay
Creek, was a merchant grist mill throughout the nineteenth century. When a
series of international trade embargoes and the War of 1812 cut off the
supply of inexpensive Eritish woolens to America, @reenbank Mill expanded
and added the Madison Factory in order to manufacture woolen goods. Robert
Phillips Son & Company advertised "Broad Cloths, Narrow Cloths, Cassimers,
Satinetts,.." made at his Greenbank Mill in 1818.120 After the war ended
and British goods were again available, Greembank Mill began producing
wopden implements and carriage parts. In 1852 Phillips' two sons William
and Isaac manufactured wooden hubs, spokes and felloes for use by the
carriage-making factories in Wilmingron. When the carriage industry in
Wilmington lest sales to ecompetition in 8t. Louis and Cincinnati, Greenbank
turned to making wooden bentware, such as forks, peach ladders, folding

chairs and croquet mallets. Carpenter and ship turnings (items produced on

117 Fell Historic District, National Register of Historic Places:
Nomination, W-6760. On file at BAHP,

118 yooddale Historic District, National Register of Historic Places
Nomination, N-40%2, On file at BAHP.

119 auburn Mills Historic bistrict, National Register of Historic
Places Nomination, N-5003. On file at BAHP.

i2¢ C. W. Pursell, Jr., Two Mills on Red Clay Creek in the Nineteenth
Century {(Wilmington: Historic Red Clay Valley, Ine., 1964}, p. 24.
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a lathe for the ship bullding industry) were advertized in 1870, as were
house brackets and scroll and circular saw work. The Williams House
strongly relates to Greenmbank Mill during this period when the mill was
producing agricultural implements and ‘architectural ornaments. The mill
contributed to the growth of the local community, as evidenced by the
construction of the Williams House.

Prior to 1873 the site of the Williams House was part of a larger farm
parcel owvned by James Cranston {see Figure 8, p. 34). Area residents state
that five houses of similar size, plan and appearance, including the
Williams House, stood at one time along the southern side of Newport Gap
Pike. After demolition of the Williams House, only one of these five will
remain. Mr. Paul E. Bower, former owner of the Williams House, states that
he once met the daughter and granddaughter of A. J. Williams., These women
informed him that Williams had constructed the five houses along Newport
Gap Pike over a period of years. Deed transactions do not reveal property
transfers between James Cranston, who owned all of the land along the south
side of Newport Gap Pike prior to the 1870s, and Williams for more than the
one-acre lot that Williams purchased in 1873 (see Figure 9, p. 35).121
Williams may have built the dwellings for Cranston in a speculative venture
designed to profit by the increased need for housing necessitated by the
expansion of local manufacturing establishments. Recent vandalism of the
Williams Housz has revealed the date 1871 incised in the mortar of the
northwest chimney pile. In the 1878 tax assessment, Williams was assessed
$1050 for one-and-one-half acres of land, a £frame house, stable and:

) 122

livestoc Williams is listed in various directories as being a mer-

. chant, ladder manufacturer, plasterer, and masoen. Tax assessments for the

121 New Castle County Deed Book: G-10-505/6; New Castle County Recerder
of Deeds, Wilmingten, Delaware.

122 New Castle County Tax Assessment: Christiana Hundred, 1877-1881; On
file at Delaware State Archives, Hall of Records, Dover, Delaware.
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period 1881-1885 show that Williams added a mill of frame construetion

during this time.123

A recent archaeological survey has revealed that a
steam-powered wood lathe or saw mill operated on the property during the
latter half of the nineteenth century. Williams may have manufactured
ladders on his property in this "frame mill" or been employed at the
Greenbank MIll producing peach ladders, Williams died early in the
twentieth century, shortly before the property was sold in 1902 by his
daughter, Mary E. Williams, to Benjamin A. Groves,l24 Although Williams
was statiomed at Fort du Pont north of Greenbank for a short time during
the Civil War, tax and census documents reveal that he was not a resident
of the area until after the introduction of the railroad into the Red Clay

Creek valley.125

An examination of transpertation in the Red Clay Creek
valley in the period 1830-1880 +/- reveals that the Williams House strongly
relates to the historic theme Transpertation & Communication as well.
Transportation networks had long been associated with the Red Clay Creek
valley and were extremely important to the development of manufacturiﬁg
communities in the valley. The Gap-to-Newport Tﬁrnpike, an early nine-
teenth century road, was & major artery in the movement of grains from the
hinterlands of New Castle County and southeastern Pennsylvania to Newport, -

a terminal in the intra-c¢oastal trading network.l26 1In the eighteenth and

123 New castle County Tax Assessments: Christiana Hundred, 1881-1885;
On file at Delaware State Archives, Hall of Records, Dover, Delaware.

124 New Castle County Deed Book: Z-18-538; New Castle County Recorder
of Deeds, Wilmington, Delaware.

125 5. Thomas Scharf, History of Delaware, 1609-1888 (Philadelphia: L.
J. Richards & Co., 1888) p. 370.

126 priscilia M. Thempson, Springs/Red Clay Area, A Narrative Histori-
cal QOverview, Newport to Gap Pike - Route 41, New Castle County, DE,
Delaware Department of Transpertation Archeology Series no. 49 (Dover,
Delaware, 1%986), pp. 10-13.
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early nineteenth c¢enturies, an iIntra-coastal trading network was the
primary means of transporting goods between major port cities and rural
areas. Grains and other produce were carried across rough roads te inland
ports, where shallow-draft ships loaded agricultural produce and unloaded
finished household and agricultural goods not locally available. The
turnpike also gave the millers and manufacturers along Red Clay Creek
easler access to raw materials. Establishments such as the Fell Spice
Mill, the Delaware and the Marshallton Ironworks, the Garrett Snuff Mills,
and the Auburn Cotton Mills relied on outside sources for materials to
transform inte finished goods. Wanting to take advantage of new markets
for manufactured articles and agrieultural geoods in the western Unirted
States, local manufacturers were instrumental in the construction of the
Wilmington and Western Railroad in 1872.127

Construction of the railrecad was actively supported by most of the
manufacturers along Red Clay Creek. William Fhillips and Edward Menden-
hail, owners of the Greenbank Mill and the Marshallton Ironworks respec-
tively, were on the first board of directors of the railroad. Alan Wood of
the Delaware Ironworks and William Garrettr of the Yorklyn snuff mills
joined Phillips on the #econd board of directors. Wood and twe other men
later purchased $5300,000 of railroad bonds.128 Wood alse donated land for
a station at Wooddale, €. J. Fell sold land for a station at Faulkland to
the railroad company for onme dollar. Although the floodplain of Mill Creek
was considered as a possible route, the railroad directors decided upon Red
Clay Creek since more manufacturing establishments were located there.

Ultimately stations were erected at or near the larger mills along Red Clay

127 Wilmington and Western Railread, National Register of Historie
Places Nomination, N-4081. On file at BAHP. See slso Arthur G. Volkman, The
Story of the Wilmingteon and Western Railroad (Wilmington: Historie red Clay
Valley, Inc., 1963),

128 Volkman, p. 26.
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Creek, including Greembank.

At the time of the railroad’s opening, a locel newspaper listed A. J.
Williams as the station agent at Greenbank, 129 The Williams House is
directly across Newport Gap Pike frem the Greenbank Station (see Plate 6,
p. 42). Among the duties of the agent were selling tickets, checking
baggage and freight, and opening and closing the station each day.130 The
station also contained a telegraph line. Since trains did not always keep
to schedule, the location of the Willisams home probably proved wvery
beneficial te the railread. Within the community, the station agent held a
position of respect and esteem, since the railroad was an important
economic link with Wilmingten and peoints beyond. Villiams' son John
probably worked at the station as he is listed as "Clerk Rail house" in the

1880 census.l31

The Wilmington and Western Railroad was forced into
receivership by the national economic panic of 1873. Although the railroad
was soon reorganized as the Delaware and Western Railroad, there is no
evidence that Williams continued te work for the railrecad. It was at this
time that Williams turned to carpentry and housing construction.

During this period the Marshallton Ironworks, a short distance south of
Greenbank along Red Clay Cresk, experienced a great deal of expansion and '
greatly inereased its workforce. The intreoduction of the railroad inte the
valley helped precipitate this expansion and resulted in the formation of a
new community recognized by local directories, The houses erected by

Williams were intended to take advantage of the housing requirements of

this larger workforce, William Elliot, whose property abutted Williams to -

129 yolkman, p. 47.
130 Volkman, p. 42.
131 United States Census, State of Delaware, Manuscript Returns: 1880;

Microfilm on file at Center for Historic Architecture and Engineering,
University of Delaware, Newark, Delaware.
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the west, was probably employed at Marshallton in the manufacture of tin-
plate and serves as an excellent example of the need for increased housing
reflected in the expansion of rural industrial communities.

The historic themes Transportation and Manufacturing in the period eca.
1830-1880 are important aspects in the significance of the Andrew Jackson
Williams House to the history of the Greembank area. Although it was a
dwelling, the influence of utilitarian requirements overshadows the impor-
tance of architectural styling and ornament in the Williams House. Closer
inspection of evidence reveals that the Williams House documents the
introduction of the Wilmingron and Western Railroad into the Red Clay Creek
valley and the growth of industrial communities. During the nineteenth
century, agricultural milling establishments diversified into industrial
production, This shift mirrored developments in the growing industrial
economy of northern New Castle County. Manufacturing establishments
required improved transportation networks to provide access to raw mater-
ials and markets for finished goods. The introduction of the railread
allowed for a degree of expansion that needed larger workforces and
resulted in new housing. The Williams House is associated with these
events In the Red Clay Creek wvalley and thus reflects the growth of

manufacturing and the need for related dwellings,
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Verbal Boundary Description

Bepinning at a point at the intersection of Wewport Cap Pike and the B&0 Railroad right-of-wav,
thence along the right-of-way south-southwesterly 350 feet to a point, then northwesterly 280
feet to the property line of John Comner, then along the shared boundary with John Commner 210
feet northeasterly to its junction with the Newport Gap Plke, then southeast along said Pike

te the point of beginning. DSoamm.'nuat'on shoel
| I L=

Boundary Justification

This boundary describes the limits of the 1.5 acre nineteenth century occupation of Andrew
Jackson Williams.

[]See continuation sheet

11. Form Prepared By

namefitle _Stwart P, Dixon, Research Assistant
orpanizatiorcenter for Historic Architecture & Engineering date <> rebruary, IU88

street & number Graham Hall, University of Delaware telephone (302) 45T-80097
tity or town Newark state Delaware zip code 19716
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This form is for uss in nominating or requasting determinations of efigibility for individual propertiss or districts. See ingtructhions in Guicelines
for Completing National Register Forms (National Register Bulistin 16). Compiete aach hem by marking "x” in the appropriste box of by entering
the requested information. if an tem does not apply to the proparty being documentsd, anter “N/A™ for “not applicable.” For funclions, styles, materials,
and aress ol significance, enter only the categories and subcategornies listed in the inatructions. For additiona! space use continuation sheets

(Formn 10-9008). Type all entries,

1. Name of Property

historic name Sprine Hill

other names/site number Cedars/ Delaware Cultural Resource Survey N-249

2. Location
streot & number 231] Newport Gap Pike /A hot for publication
city. town Wi Imingt on W/ 4 vieinity
state Delaware coode 10 county New Castle code Q03 zip code 19808
4. Classitication
Ownership of Property Catagory of Property Number of Resources within Property
] private X} buitding(s) Contributing Noneontributing
[ public-local [ district 5 1 buildings
D public-State D site sites
I:I public-Federal D structure structures
[ object objarts
Total
Name of related muRtiple property listing: Number of contributing resourtes praviously
N/A isted in the National Register __ 0

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hareby certify that this
D nomination [ regquest for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part £0.
in my opinion, the property Dmaets des not meat the National Register criteria. See continuatioh gheet,

Signature of cartitying officia!

Date

State or Federal agency and buteau

in my opinion, the property D meots de not meet the Nationai Register criteria. [T sen continuation sheet.

Signature of commanting or other official

Date

Siate or Federal agency and bursau

5. National Park Service Certification

1, hereby, certity that this property is:
[ lentered in the Nationa! Register.

DS&G continuation sheet.
[l determined eligible for the National
Register, [_] See continuation sheet.

Ddetermined nat aligible for the
National Register.

Dremoved from the National Register.
f:]other. (explain:)

Signature of the Keeper Date of Action
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6. Function of Use

Historic Functions {enter categories from instructions)
DOMESTIC/dwelling

ture

Cumrent Funclions (enter categories trom instructions)
DOMESTIC/dwelling

JDOMESTIC/secondary styucture

Snrine House: DOMPSTIC/secondary styructure DoMESTIC/cecondarv structure
Sheds (2Y  ovpn cyib: AGRICIMTHURE/storage _AGRICULTUE/storape
Cazehos RECRFATION/ontdpoor recreation RECREATION/cutdoor recreation

7. Description

Architectura! Classification
{enter catégorias from instructions)

House, Catriage, Gazebo: LATE VICTORIAN/
Colonial ﬁevival

Sheds, Corn crib, Spring House: NO 5TYLE

Materials (enter categories from instructions)

foundation Stone and Brick

walls Meatherhoard: Spring Honsel Stone

roof __asbestoss outbulldings: shingle

other

Describe preseant and historic physical appearance.

Sprinmg Hill is located at the northeast corner of Newport Gap Pike and

Washington Avenue (2311 Newport Gap Pike) in Mill Creek Hundred, New Castle

County, Delaware, Built eirea 1902, Spring Hill is a Colonial Revival-

style house with Federal-style ornamentation. The house sits on a small
bluff overlooking a large yard which contains 3.1% acres., The grounds are

terraced and rthickly planted, with numerous hedges, gardens, and small

groups or rows of trees visually dividing the lawn areas. Several walkways
lead down the terraced slopes to Washington Avenue and to the outbuildings,
the lawns, and the pond.

Sprinmg Hill is a two-and-a-half-story, five-bay, double pile dwelling
with one-stery wings o¢n the west and east sides of the main block and a
rear three-story addition on the north end of the house (see Plate 7, p.
47y,

are sheathed with wooden weatherboard painted white.

The overall dimensions are 38 feet by 61 feet, The exterior walls
The siding contrasts
with the smooth, plain wood surfaces between the two-story, projecting,
hexagonal bay windews on the first floor. The white walls contrast in color
with the dark green shutters which adorn most of the windows on each side
of the house. In the projecting bays on the first floor, there are three
six-over-six light sash windows without shutters, each topped by croessetted
architraves and cornices of e¢yma recta moldings. The second-story bay
windows consist of one-over-one sash windows with green shutters. Two
similar sash windows without shutters occupy the space between the second-
story projecting bays,

The six-paneled front door on the south (main) facade features Federal
p. 48).

segmental arch with a centrally placed wooden keystone.

Revival ornamentation (see Plate 8, The deor is surrounded by a

An elliptical
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fanlight and twe sidelights have cast fron mullions ornamented with
bellflowers and rosettes. Flanking the sidelights are two small, six-pane
windows. An open, one-story porch with six Doric columns connected by a
short balustrade extends the length of the main block, The porch is
reached by two wooden steps with a wooden handrail supported on "Tuscan-
like" balusters. Brick piers, which have been concealed by wooden lattice-
work, support the weight of the porch.

The two one-story wings at either side of the structure are accentuated
with wooden quoins penciled to resemble stone. In most cases, Federal-
style quoins are usually laid so that their faces are alternately large and
small, but these quoins sir evenly on top of one another. On the west and
east end wall of each wing is an eight-over-eight light window flanked by
two four-over-four light windows. Above these windows on both the second
story and the third story of the main structure are two sash windows. To
the rear of the west wing is a glassed-in conservatory which has a window
on its western wall that once served as an outdoor windew for the house,
Behind the west wing addition of the house is a small exterior porch that
is connected to the living room by a wooden six-paneled door. This porch
has two coupled "Tuscan-like" columns that rest on small plinths and
support a pent roof. To the right of the porch is a library with a
tripartite bay window fronting the side porch. One sash window on the
north wall provides additional light for the library.

On the north end of the house, two pedimented dormer windows pierce the
roof and flank a centrally placed square dormer window. Below each:
pedimented dormer is a sash windew on the second floor. Between the
windows is a two-and-a-half-story addition containing a rear staircase
lighted by a sash window on the second-floor landing and another sash
window on the first-floor landing. On the northeastern corner of the house
is a one-story kitchen addition with a pent roof. A tripartite window

consisting of three sections of six-light sash admite morning light. The
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kitchen has one exterior deor opening. Another exterior door, whieh is
west of the kitchen door, provides access to the basement from the outside.

The gable roof on the main structure rises above a boxed cornice and is
pierced by & brick chimney stack on the west end. Pyramidal roofs top each
two-story projecting bay on the south facade. A mixture of shed and pent
rocfs top other additions to the house creating an irregular roofline. All
of the roof surfaces have been covered with asbestos shingles.

The interior plan on the first floor of the house is divided inte formal
and informal living space (see Figure 11, p. 50). A living room and. a
dining room with a large entrance hall between them serve as a screen for
the family rooms to the rear of the house. The interior walls of the house
are of plaster spplied over wood lath nailed te the balloon-frame struce
tural system.

The main doorway on the south facade leads into a formal vestibule, with
a small closet to the left of the door and a powder room with a lavoratory
to the right. The vestibule is one step below the main hallway. The
elliptical arch motif on the exterior of the house is echoed on the
interior. A round-arched doorway with a raised, paneled embrasure and a
console in the surround opens into the formal entrance hall. The morth
wall of the hall has raised, wooden paneling that is painted white, On the
northwest wall of the entrance hall is a staircase which rises and makes a
90-degree turn at the second floor landing (see Plate 9, p. 52). The
staircase has round, wooden balusters with elongated plinths and capitals
which are painted white. The handrail and newel are of mahogany. A round-
arched paneled door on the northeast wall opens into the private quarters
of the first floor. The remaining wall space is finished with wainscot and
stylized, maroon floral wallpaper over the plaster walls.

The living room and the dining room are arranged on either side of the
entrance hall, thus creating a2 symmetrical plan in the formal area of the

house. The doorways to both rooms consist of round-arched openings with
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wooden trim crowned by a console in the center of the arch. All doorways
in the main hall are of similar design with one exception. The doorway to
the dining room includes three panéled. double doors as well as a carved
wooden sunburst motif in the semi-circular area above tha doors (see Plate
10, p. 53). '

The dining reom has its original 1930s wallpaper. The wallpaper
consists of a brightly-colored, floral pattern with daisies, bluebells, and
chrysanthemums arranged on a black ground. Below the wallpaper is paneled
wainscot and above the wallpaper is a cornice of cyma recta molding. All
wood trim is painted white. Behind the dining room is a butler’s pantry
that has glass-panned cupboards over enclosed cupboards areas with a sink
on the east wall and a2 window overlooking the conservatory. The kitchen is
behind the pantry.

The influence of Colonial Revival can be seen in the living room
wzllpaper, which was installed in 1938.132  Ppastoral scenes with men and
women dressed in colonial costume occupy a landscape of buildings resem-
bling the ceclonial city eof Williamsburg. One Building, in particular,
depicts a stylized wversion of the Governor's Palace at Colonial Wil-
liamsburg. The restoration activities at Colonial Williamsburg in the
1930s was a primary sourte for Williamsburg-inspired interior design.133

A fireplace located on the northern wall of the living room is Adamesque
in style (see Plate 11, p. 55). It has a crossetted architrave with a
reeded, central tablet and reeded, doric pilasters on each side of the
black marble facing. Two closets with paneled doors are built inte the
chimney jambs behind the fireplace wall., A dentil cornice surrounds the

ToOom,

132 pavid Gebhard, “The American Colonial Revival in the 1930s,"
Winterthur Portfolio 22 (Summer-Autumn 1987), p. 116.

133 Gebhard, p. 117.
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In the northwest room, the library, is a c¢ornmer fireplace with a
crossetted architrave., A projecting, square bay window with s raised,
paneled embrasure on the west wall provides a view of the west lawn, The
entire room was painted an "antique gold™ after 1939.

To the east of the library is the breakfast room with a stairway that
makes a 90-degree turn to the second and third floors. The stairway has
carved oak pendants and round cak newel posts. Beneath the stalrway is a
closet, This room and the kitchen were painted white and tangerine with
lively colored, floral stenciling in the 1960s. The kitchen’s linoleum
floor was installed after the room was painted. There are wood paneled
cabinets and a small pantry in the kitchen. The library, breakfast room,
kitchen and the rooms on the second and third fleors have molded surrounds
with bull's eye corner blocks. All of the rooms on the first floor except
the kitchen have matching oak floors with baseboards capped with cyma recta
moldings.

There are four bedrooms and two bathrooms on the second floer. The
master bedroom, which occupies the entire west cide of the second floor,
has been arranged into a suite, with an office area and a private bathroom
artached to it. On the third floor there are two bedrooms, a bath: a
storage room, and a cedar closet,

Between the formal entrance hall and the breakfast room is a small
hallway comnecting the two rooms, A door on the west wall of the hallway
opens into an interier stairway to the basement. The basement is used as a
storage and work area. At the foot of the stairs from the interior of the
house is a door leading to a root cellar. To the right of the stairway
facing north is a shower room that was added in the early 1930s. In the
area behind the center stair is a well that was covered up when the kitchen
was enlarged in 1937. The fieldstone foundation in the basement measures
26 feet by 38% feet. Three large brick piers in the basement provide

additional support under the center as well as at the east and west ends of
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the house, All first floor jolsts visible from the basement are circular
sawvn. New jolists were installed to support the rear and wing additions to
the house in the 1930s.

Several early twentieth-century outbuildings surround the house,
ineluding a two-story frame carriage house, a rectangular wooden gazebo by
the pond, a 6-foot diameter wooden octagonal chicken brood shed, and a
wooden corn crib, South of rthe house, c¢lose to Newport Gap Pike, is a
nineteenth-century stone springhouse (see Figure 12, p. 57).

The carriage house, located in the yard northeast of the main dwelling,
contributes to the period of Spring Hill's significance (Flate 13).
Originally a barn, it was converted into a garage for automobiles in the
1930s, At about that time an apartment was added in the loft area. Clad
with white weatherbeard and wood shingles in each gable, the carriage house
is two stories high, gable-roofed, with two small shed-roofed additions on
the east side and a third shed-roofed addition that stretches along the
entire west wall. The dimensions of the main section of the carriage house
are approximately 36% feet by 22 feet. The addition at the northeast
corner has a six-over-six light sash window and an exterior deor and
measures 9 feet by 5 feet 4% inches. The second addition on the east wall:
also has an exterior door, but possesses a six-pane window and measures
10%-feet by 8 feet 1 inch. Piercing the second story of the east wall are
a six-pane and & six-over-six light window,

The addition on the west side of the carriage house has two sliding
garage doors with a four-panned door between them. Fenestration on the
south side of the main section includes three six-over-six light sash
windows on the first floor and a six-over-six light window in the gable.
On the north side there are two coupled six-over-six light windows and
three six-over-six light windows in the gable. All of the roof surfaces
are covered with asbestos shingles. A louvered, four-sided cupela topped

by a weathervane pierces the center of the roof. The weathervane is orna
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PLATE 13: Carriage House at Spring Hill (Photograph by
David €. Bachman, 1985. Reprinted with permission of DELDOT)
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mented with a figure of a rooster.

A wooden gazebo sits on the northeastern bank of the pond and contri-
butes to Spring Hill's period of significance. Resting on a stone founda-
tion, the gazebo measures 12 feet 1k Inches bv 17 feet 10% inches. The
four corners of the building are constructed of weatherboard with a plain
vertical board trim. On three sides, the building is left open with a
short wooden rail of weatherboard between the corner pieces. A canti-
levered platform, painted green, extends out over the pond. The pyramidal
roof is topped by a metal weathervane which is ornamented with the figures
of two swans,

In the yard east of the house is a contributing octagonal chicken brood
shed composed of a wood frame and a pointed asbestos roof. On the south
side of the building is a hinged door. The walls to the east and to the
west of the entrance wall have eight-pane windows. The one on the east
wall has been covered with wooden boards. Next to the octagonal chicken
brood shed is a noncontributing, twentieth.century frame shed with weather-
board siding. Southwest of the chicken brood shed is a small frame corn
crib, which is a contributing structure and measures 4 feet 2 inches by 10
feet 2 inchés.

Located south of the main house is a springhouse of uncoursed rubble
masonry, with two stories and a basement entered from a door on the west
side. This contributing building measures 14 feet 11 inches by 17 feet 2k
inches. The entrance to the first floor is on the north side and the door
is a recent replacement. On the east side is a single window, The gabled
roof possesses boxed returns and is topped by brick chimney on the southern
end.

A variety of trees and shrubs have been planted around the house and
outbuildings, including Eastern Hemlock (Tsuga canadensis), Silver Maple
{Acer saccharinum), White Fir (Abies concolor), Northern White Cedar (Thuja

occidentalis), Pecan (Carya illinoensis), Atlas Cedar (Cedrus atlantica),
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Flowering Dogwood (Cornus-florida), Magnolia (Magnolia campbellii), Azalea
(Rhododendron arborescens), Colorado Blue Spruce (Picea pungens), American
Sycamore (Plantanus occidentalis), Sweet Cherry (Prunus avium), Ginkge
(Ginkge biloba), Rhododendron (Rhodedentron maximum), Meountain Laurel
(Kalmia latifolia), Boxwood (Buxus sempervirens), American Holly (Ilex
opaca), Pacific Yew (Taxus brevifolia), Eastern Red Cedar (Juniperus
virginiana), Norway Spruce (Picea abies), Lilac (Syringa vulgaris), English
Elm (Ulmus campestris), Black Maple (Acer nigrum), Northern White Pine
(Pinus strobus), Mock Orange (Philadelphus inedorus), Japanese Maple (Acer
palmatum), Black Locust (Robinia pseudoscacia), Green Ash (Fraxinus
pennsylvanica), Pear tree (Pyrus), Sugar Maple (Acer saccharum), Mockernut
Hickory (Carya tomentosa), American Beech (Fagus grandifolia), Japanese
Barberry (Berberis thumbergii), White Oak (Quercus alba), Meta Sequoia
(Merasequoia glyptostroboides), Northerm Red 0©Oak (Quercus rubra), and
Beauty Bush (Kolkuitzia amabilio), Witch Hazel (Hamamelis virginiana),
Giant honeysuckle (Lonicera hildebrandiana), Cape honeysuckle (Tecomaria
capensig), Dewberry (Rubus hispidus), Royal Paulovinia (Paulownia tormen-
tosa), Multiflora Rosa (Rosa multiflora), Vibernum (Viburnum dilatum), Wild
Grape (Viris), Fleabane Daisy (Erigeron philadelphicus), Goldenrod (Solid-
ago altissima), Red Mulberry (Morus rubra), Seaside Alder (Alnus maritima),
Red Maple (Acer rubnum), Mimosa (Acacia), and Staghoern Sumac (Rhus typh-
ina). Figure 13 (p. 59) illustrates the locations of the various species.
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8. Statement of Significance
Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other properties:
[Cnationaty  [lstatewide X Jiocally

Applicable Nationa! Register Criteria [_JAa [[18 [xlc [Jo
Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) [ JA [18 [J¢ o e Orf Ole

Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Significant Dates
Archirecture 1900-1918 S N T U B

Cultural Atfilation
N/A

Significant Person Architact/Builder
'%/TA Robinson, Stanhope, and Manning, architects

State significance of property, and justify ¢riteria, criteria considerations, and areas and perieds of significance noted abave.

Spring Hill is eligible for nomination to the National Register of
Historic Places under Criterion C for architecture and landscape architec-
ture as a property that embodies the distinetive characteristies of a type,
period or method of construction. Spring Hill is significant as an example
of circa 1902 Colonial Revival-style architecture with 19305 Federal
Revival-style ornamentation and landscaped gardens. Previous documenration
compiled by the Delaware Department of Transportation refers to rthis
property as "The Cedars,” but according to Mrs., James R. Morford, Jr.
(daughter-in-law of a former owner), the house will be referred to as
“Spring Hill*® in this decument.

Located in the Piedmont Zonme, S5Spring Hill relates to property type 13E
in the Delaware Statewide Comprehensive Historic Preservation Plan (Archi-
tecture, Engineering & Decorative Arts, 1880-1%40 +/-: Urbanjzation and
Suburbanization). Architecture, Engineering & Decorative Arts, as a theme,
encompasses all structures, sites, bullding plans and styles which histori-
cally trace the development of material culture. Material culture is any
significant artifact reflecting Iindividual and social tastes and trends
that helps us understand the psychological tneeds and motivations of the
people who c¢rafted them. Spring Hill is sipgnificant under this property
type primarily because of its place in the history of New Castle County and
Delaware architecture and landscape architecture in the period between 1880
and 1%940.

The Colonial Revival style became the dominant architectural type for
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housing in America at the turn of the nineteenth century. The word
"colonial" loosely means the period in this country before 1840. Virginia
and Lee McAlester define Colonial Revival in their book, A Field Guide to
American Houses, as a style which:

refers to the entire rebirth of interest in the
early English and Dutch houses of the Atlantic
seaboard. The Georgian and Adam styles form the
backbone of the Revival, with secondary influ-
ences from Postmedieval English or Dutch Colonial
prototypes. Details from two or more of these
precedents are freely combined In many examples
so that pure copies of colonial houses are far
less common than are eclectic mixtures.l

The purpose of the style was not to attempt to transcribe buildings from
the past and to reproduce them in an accurate archaeological fashion, but
rather to use design elements from the American colonial past and interpret
them for meodern construction metheds. Stylistic elements such as accen-
tuated front doors with fanlights and sidelighte, symmetrically balanced
bays, doors, and wings, hipped and gabled roofs, and full width porches
with classical columns are among the most common architectural features
associated with the style between 1B90 and 1940. With the sophisticated
developments in technology at the turn of the century, many of the Colonial
Revival-style ornamental details could be easily mass-produced for the
general public.13?

The reasons for the popularity of the Colonial Revival style in this
country are very complex. The negative reactjion to the excessive ornamen-
tation that had become associated with Viectoerian architecture created a

desire to return to the simple classical forms which predated the Victorian

134 Virginia and Lee McAlester, A Field Guide to American Houses {New
York: Alfred A. Knopf, Inc., 1986), p. 324.

135 Frederick M. Wells, "Houses Inspired by American Colonial," Arts
and Decoratjon (May, 1940), p. 7; Gebhard, p. 110,
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style., With vast numbers of immigrants arriving in America at this time,
there were subtle nativist yearnings to preserve America’s colonial past.
Architectural design seemed an appropriate method for expressing the strong
feeling of nationalism sweeping the country. Neo-classical architectural
forms, such as Thomas Jefferson's Monticello and George Washington’s Mount
Vernon, became symbols of our cultural heritage and archetypes for the
Colonial Revival style in architecture. The restoration of Colenial
Williamsburg in the 1930s created a new interest in American historic
preservation efforts, and in 1936 the American Institute of Architects held
its annual convention in Colonial Williamsburg.136

A variety of publications were important for spreading the popularity of
the Colonial Revival style.137 Good Housekeeping, American Home, Better
Homes and Gardens, House and Gardens, House Beautiful, Ladies’ Home
Journal, Arts and Decoration, Town and Country, and Country Life, magazines
geared toward middle- and upper-middle-c¢lass households, begah to focus on
the colonial tradition. National architectural drawing competitions
sponsored by these magazines and the construction of numerous demonstration
houses all over the country helped to promote Colonial Revival architec-
ture. Professional journals, such as Architectural Record, Pencil Points,
Architectural Forum and American Architect, and house pattern books, like
Rexford Newcomb's Colonial and Federal House: How to Build an Authentic
Colonial House, published measured drawings and general interior and
exterior photographs of American colonial architecture. An Iincreasing
number of pilcture books and historical studies were devoted to colonial
architecture and prompted attention to the New England area. Samuel
Chamberlain produced four editions of his guidebook, Open House In New Eng-

136 alan Axelrod, ed., The Colonial Revival in America (New York: W. W.
Norton & Company, 1985), p. 5; Gebhard, pp. 109-110, 118.

137 Gebhard, pp. 111-112.
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land, between 1937 and 1941. He also published several photographic essays
of historic New England cities and towns.

During the Great Depression a trend developed towards remodelling
existing dwellings in the Colonial Revival style. The Federal Revival
style became one of the popular forms of Colonial Revival architecture.
David CGebhard states in his article, "The American Colonial Revival in the
1930s," that the Federal Revival:

as a colonial type was thought of as a nearly
perfect combination of three ideals of the time:
the sense of returning to the colonial past; the
desire to be suave and sophisticated via a highly
refined version of classicism; and the urge to
have an image that could, through its plain
surfaces, two-dimensional detailing, and simgle
volumetric forms, be responded to as modern, 13

Colonial Revival architecture was also popular in the state of Delaware,
Some of these buildings are listed on the National Register of Historic
Places including: Public School #111C, the first quarter of the nineteenth
century (N-5258); Harmon School, 1920 (S5-165); Old Fire House, 1925 (K-
1692); Governor William Watson Mansion, 1906 (K-1693); Wright House, 1922
(N-5786):; Aetna Fire Station #12, 1922 (N-5747); Wilmington New Century
Club, 1892 (N-1136); and Buena Vista which has a ca. 1930-32 Colonial
Revival ballroom addition by the archirect R, B. Oakie (N-219).

Built c¢irca 1902, Spring Hill is part of an early suburban community,
The Cedars, that was developed southwest of Wilmington in the first two
decades of the twentieth century. This development had been part of a
farming cemmunity until the property was sold to The Cedars Land and
Development Company in 1900.139 1t was probably Richard W. Crook, one of
the developers of the suburb, who built Spring Hill for his private

138 gebhard, p. 132.

139 New Castle County Deed Book: K-18-451; New Castle County Recorder of
Deeds, Wilmington, Delaware.
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residence shortly after his wife, Carrie, purchased twenty-four lots from
The Cedars Land and Improvement Company for $1000 on May 5, 1902140

There is evidence that a dwelling was on the property as early as the
mid-1800s (see Figure 14, p. 60). The name, "D. Justice," appears on the
Rea and Price map of 1849.141  pavid Justice purchased the property in
1832, and the leocation of this building is very near or on the same site as
Spring Hill. John Robinson acquired the farm in 1855, and buildings are
shown on his property in the Beers Atlas of 1868 and in the Balst Atlas of
1894 (see Figures B and 10, pp. 34 and 37).142 Although there could have
been a house on the property when the Crooks purchased their land, the
pPresent structure supports an early twentieth-century construction date.

Richard W. Crook had been the general manaper of Brandywine Springs
Amusement Park since 1886. The park, which was adjacent to the land that
would later become The Cedars, had previously been an early nineteenth-
century spa. The spa at Brandywine Springs was a resort built next to a
chalybeate mineral spring, a spring impregnated with salts of iron and then
thought to have medicinal qualities.143 Crook leased the existing resort
hotel in the park for his residence. In the same year that The Cedars Land

and Development Company was formed, Crook obtained a charter for a second

180 xow Castle County Deed Book: Z-18-401; New Castle County Recorder of
Deeds, Wilmington, Delaware.

141 Samuel Rea and Jacob Price, Map of New Castle County, Delaware,
from Original Surveys, (Fhiladelphia: Smith and Wister, 1849),

142 . G. Beers, Atlas of the State of Delaware (Philadelphia: Pomeroy
& Beers, 1868); William G, Baist, Arlas of the State of Delaware (Philadel-
phia: William G. Baist, 1894).

143 priscilia M, Thowmpson, Springs/Red Clay Area, A Narrative Histori-
cal Overview, Newport to Gap Pike - Route 41, New Castle County, DE,
Delaware Department of Transportation Archaeology Series mno. 49, (Dover,
Delaware, 1986), pp. 13-14; C. A. Veslager, Brandywine Springs (Wil-
mington, Delaware: Hambleton Co,, 1949}, pp. 19-21.
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company, c¢alled the Peoples Railway Company, to build an electric trolley
car line, and he served as general manager of the company. The Peoples
Railway built a line frem Wilmington west on the Capitel Trall through
Prices Corner to Brandywine Springs {n 1901. Electric trolley cars from
this line went up present-day Washington Avenue in The Cedars, where the
passengers would disembark and walk te the Brandywine Springs Amusement
Park, 144

These electric trolley lines also facilitated the opening of suburbs in
the Wilmington area. In 1912 there were three major trolley routes leaving
from' Wilmington and providing transportation to Brandywine Springs, New
Castle, and Chester, Pennsylvania, Suburban settlements along these
trolley routes varied according to several factors. Carol E, Hoffecker in
her book, Corporate Capiral: Wilmington in the Twentieth Century, points
out that:

People moved from houses in the center city [of
Wilmington] to new ones along the trolley lines
in a discernible pattern that reflected factoers
such as sociceconecmic status, place of work, and
ethnicity.lqs

Between 1903 and 1913 there were about 68 land transactions in The
Cedars, which had been divided into 229 small lots.l46 By the early 1930s,
most of the lots had single-family dwellings built on them. These houses
were not developed by The Cedars Land and Development Company. Most

families used independent contractors or built the houses themselves with

144 yohn T. Mullins, Souvenir of Peoples Railway Co. (Wilmington, De.:
John T. Mullins, 1901); Francis A. Cooch, Little Known History of Newark,
Delaware, and Its Environs (Newark, De.: The Press of Kells, 1936), pp. 27-
33; Veslager, p. 76; Thompson, pp. 22-31; Carol E. Hoffecker, Corporate
Capiral: Wilmington in the Twentieth Century (Philadelphia: Temple Univer-
sity Press, 1983), pp. 12, 19-28.

145 Hoffecker, pp. 12, 19-28.

146 New Castle County Reglstry of Deeds, 1901-1914.
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the help of neighbors or family. According to the 1910 Census, there were
45 heads of families listed as living in The Cedars, and the majority of
these residents were painters, carpenters, laborers, and tradesmen. Mrs.
Roberta Davis, a former resident of The Cedars, recalls that her parents
built their home with the help of friends in 1913. She also says there
were many houses along Newport Gap Pike and on Washington, Harrison, and
Maple Avenues by 1930147

In the 1903 Wilmington City Directory there is a "Crook, R. W." listed
as a general manager living in the "Cedars."148 Ten years later William
Stewart Allmond paid Mrs. Crock $7500 for twelve lots, which included the
lots numbered 15 and 16 where Spring Hill is located (see Figure 15, p.
62).14% In 1913 William Stewart Allmond is listed in the Wilmington City
Directory as living in The Cedars. He was a treasurer for the Delaware
Terra Cotta Company, but he was also the son of John P, Allmond, president
of People‘s Railway Company. William Stewart Allmond died intestate in
1919, and in 1920 his heirs sold his property for $14,000 te Elizabeth
Samuel, the wife of a physician, Dr. Meredith I. Samuel. She increased the
property in size by buying leots 1, 2, 9, 10, and parts of lots 3, 11, 69,
70, and 71 for $700 from William L. and Isabella H., Betta in 1922.130
Elizabeth Samuel died on February 25, 192%, and her entire property in The

147 Mrs, Roberta Davis. Telephone interview by Cheryl Powell.

" Wilmington, Delaware, December 30, 1987. Notes located at the Center for

Historic Architecture and Engineering, University of Delaware, Newark,
Delaware; Thompson, pp. 29-30,

148 crook is listed as living in The Cedars subdivision until 1916,
This record indicate the subdivision rather than a particular house,
Wilmington City Directorles, 1900-1920.

149 New Castle County Deed Book: X-:23-492; New Castle County Recorder
of Deeds, Wilmington, Delaware.

150 New Gastle County Deed Books: V-29-174, 2-28-504, G-31-480; New
Castle County Recorder of Deeds, Wilmingten, Delaware.
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Cedars was sold to James R. and Claire R. Morford in 1930.151

Little i{s known about the house during the period when the Allmonds and
the Samuels lived at Spring Hill. There may have been some alterations to
the house, but it was Morford who would give Spring Hill its Federal
Revival-style detail and make many changes in the size and plan of the
house.

Mr. and Mrs. James R, Morford, who lived at Spring Hill from 1930 to
1359, made many alterations and additions te the house between 1937 and
1938 with the help of a prominent leocal architectural f£irm, Robinsan,
Stanhope, and Hanning.152 Mr. and Mrs, Arthur A, Baum, the present owners
of Spring Hill, have made very few changes to the property, and the house
is essentially unaltered from its 1938 appearance.

James R. Morferd had been a member of the law firm of Marvel and Morford
since 1928. He served as assistant city solicitor of Wilmington from 1935
to 1938, as the Attorney General of Delaware from 1939 to 1943, and on the
Board of Governors of the American Bar Association from 1943 to 1946.
Morford was a very successful man when he owned Spring Hill, and this is
reflected in the manner in which he would create a suburban estate, 1In
fact, he was called the "squire™ of the naighborhood.153

The original floor plan of the house is outlined by the fieldstone
foundation in the basement. The plan consisted of a central hall flanked
by a parlor and a library on the west side of the hall and a dining room

151 New cCastle County Deed Book: F-36-370; Rew Castle County Recorder
of Deeds, Wilmington, Delaware.

152 gee architectural plans made by Robinson, Stanhope, and Manning,
1937-38. Currently located at the Center for Historic Architecture and
Engineering, University of Delaware, Newark, Delaware.

153 Mrs. James R. Morford, Jr. Telephone interview by Cheryl Powell.
Wilmington, Delaware, November 12, 1987. Notes located at the Center for
Historic Architecture and Engineering, University of Delaware, Newark,
Delaware,
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and a kitchen on the east side. The second story originally had five
bedrooms and one bath. On the third floor, an attic was used for storage.
There was & hipped roof with a hipped dormer window on each of the four
sides of the roof. Two chimmey stacks were on elther side of the roof,
with one leading to a fireplace in the parlor end the other to a fireplace
in the dining room.

A 1937 drawing of the first floor plan by Robinson, Stanhope, and
Manning shows that a "Victorian-style®™ wveranda surrounded three sides of
the house, inecluding its main facade (see Figure 16, p. 65). The front
porch on the south elevation is unaltered and i1s composed of an open, one-
story porch with six Doric columns connected by a short balustrade. Two
bays project on this elevation. The west and east porches project four
feet less than the front porch and differed stylistically. Two coupled
Tuscan columns rested on small plinths with three c¢olumns at the southeast
and southwest corner of the perches. A small porch behind the living room
has not been removed and is part of the original three-sided "Vietorian-
style" porch construction.

The first major alterations were made to the house around 1935 136
Morford added the breakfast room with a staircase leading up to the third
floor attic. In the central hall, he placed a vestibule at the entrance
with a closet on the west end and a powder room on the east end. The two
six-pane glass windows on either side of the front door sidelights were
then added. On the exterior, the maln doorway was replaced with Federal
Revival ornamentation. The original oak front door was removed to install
a six-paneled door surmounted by a segmental arch with an elliptical
fanlight and two side lights ornamented with floral elements. The ellipti-

cal arch is repeated in the vestibule Interior. A round-arched doorway

154 Mrs. Ann Benethum. Telephone interview by Cheryl Powell. Wilming-
ton, Delaware, November 24, 1987, Notes located at the Center for Historic
Architecture and Engineering, Unjversity of Delaware, Newark, Delaware.
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with a raised, paneled embrasure and & console In the surround opens into
the formal entrance hall,

The staircase in the entrance hall was originally in the center of the
room, but was removed and replaced with a stalrcase on the west wall that
makes a 90-degree turn on the northern wall to the second fleoor landing,
This creates an appropriate screen for the rear room additions on the first
floor as well as making the staircase the most elegant feature in the
house. The additlons provide more private living space for the family, and
the first floor of the house becomes clearly divided into formal and
informal space. The idea of dividing the family rooms of the house from
the public rooms is a Victorian one that had long been considered out of
style.155

On the first fleoor, the 1living room and the dining room were both
expanded to include the area formerly containing the side porches, The
kitchen was enlarged to almost twice its original size (it took over the
space of a shed to its rear), the butler’'s pantry was built in a space
occupied by the kitchen, and a glassed-enclosed conservatory was added to
the western wall of the house, hiding an original exterior window, Morford
turned his bedroom area on the second floor into a suite (see Figure 17, p.
6€7). He added a private bath, a dressing room, and an office. A door that
once openad between the office and the southeast bedroom was closed in to
allow him wmore privacy and is presently covered with wallpaper. By
removing the hipped roof and replacing it with a pitched roof pierced by
two pedimented dormer windows and a square dormer window in the middle, the
third floor attic was enlarged to make room for more living space. Two
bedrooms, a bathroom, a cedar closet, and a storage area were installed in
it (see Figure 18, p. 68).

155 clifford Edward Clark, Jr., The American Family Home, 1800-1960
(Chapel Hill, N.C.: The University of North Carolina Press, 1986), p. 132.
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Robinson, Stanhope, and Manning had designed the replacement of the
hexagonal, pointed roofs on the two-story projecting bay of the main south
facade for much lower roofs so that three pedimented dormer windows could
be placed on the south side of the main roof (see Figure 19, p. 69), but
these plans were never carried out, The roof over the main block was to
have been covered with wooden shingles and the other roofs with metal, All
of the roof surfaces are now covered with asbestos shingle.

In the basement Morford intended to provide room for entertainment and
utilities, but these plans were also not executed. In the small passage
frem the formal entrance hall te the breakfast room, a door with a stairway
to the basement was added to provide an interior entrance, and a separate
exterior entrance was made for the basement (see Figure 20, p. 70).

Federal Revival detailing was added in the formal rooms on the first
floor to harmonize with the entrance on the main elevation. In the
entrance hall, a round-arched six-paneled door to the right of the stair-
case opened into the private quarters on the first floor, The doorways to
bath the living room and the dining room consisted-of round-arched openings
with wooden trim crowned by a comnsole In the center of the arch and were
added te match the front door and the arch in the vestibule. Other Federal
Revival ornamentation included the addition of paneled double doors as well
as a carved wooden sunburst in the semi-circular area above the doors to
the dining room. The dining room wallpaper, with its brightly colored,
foliaved pattern of daisies, bluebells, and chrysanthemums arranged on a
black background, was purchased 10cally.156 The original fireplace in the
dining room was removed to create more room for the butler’s pantry behind
the north wall of the room.

A "Sheraton-style" sideboard made by the Charak Furniture Company in

Boston in 1937 still remains in the dining room today. It was one of many

156 penethum interview. November 24, 1987.
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pileces of Federal Style furniture that Mr. Morford purchased for his home.
The company Iis now out of business, but one of its advertisements appeared
in a 1940 issue of Arts and Deccration.

The December 1938 issue of The New Delawarean published a photograph of
the house highlighting the staircase in the entrance hall from the dining
room door (see Plate 12, p. 72). The article featured photographs of
staircases in the Wilmington area that had been recently redecorated.
Noticeable in the photograph is the floral wallpaper and elliptical arch
opening in the dining rcom as well as the elaborately paneled stajrcase.
Except for the furniture seen in the photograph, the scene is unchanged
today . '

The wallpaper with scenes of colonial people and Williamsburg, the
dentil cornice, and the fireplace on the north wall of the room were part
of the Federal and Celonial Revival designs that were placed in the living
room, The fireplace, which has a pore Adamesque design, features a
crossetted architrave with a reeded tablet In the center with reeded deric
pilasters on each side of the black marble facing. The wall between the
living room and the library was fitted with a sliding door which was later
removed for the addition of a corner fireplace. Bookcases were also added
to the library at this time. Morford replaced all of the floors on rhe
first story, except the one in the kitchen, with matching oak planking.

While Morford was remodelling Spring Hill, he was also extensively
altering the grounds surrounding the house.137  The Morfords carefully
maintained their landscaped gardens with the help of a full-time gardener,
who lived near or on the property until World War II. A neighbor, Mrs.
Roberta Davis, remembers that the pond was the first swimming pond that she
had ever seen, and she says that Morford also added an orchard and tennis

157 Although the location of the tennis courts and orchards are
uncertain, Mrs. Davis, Mrs. EBenethum, and Mrs. James R, Morford, Jr. all
mentioned them in their interviews.

156



MPY Farvh 0 O Approva w0 1400 1R
(-

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number __  Page

courts,

A landscape plan for the area around the pool has been found, but there
is no mention of a landscaping firm or date anywhere on the plan., The
front cover of the booklet says that the plan was made for Mr. James R,
Morford. Mrs. Ann Benethum remembers the planting that took place around
the pond in the late 1930s. The plan does differ from the foliage that
exists around the pond today. Among the plantings indicated along the
southwest edge of the pool, which created a screen along the highway, are
Lombardy Poplar, White Pine, Hemlock, Birch, Dogwood, Vibernum, Corvels,
Magnelia Glanca, Oxydendron, Forsythea Hawthorne, Willow, Shade Bush, and
Spiraea Van Hautter. On the east side of the pond, there were to be
planted Pine, Dogwood, Cherry, Red Bud, Varnish Tree, Photina, Hex,
Symplocus, Witch Hazel, and Viburnum. On the north side of the pond, the
plan called for Hemlock, Pine, Flowering Crab, Myrica, Cydonia, Rhododen-
dron, Laurel, Azalea, Aesculus, and Parvifflea. Abelia, Fern, Grass,
Japanese Iris, Weeping Pink Cherry, and Jasmine were planned for the north
and south sides of the pond. |

Robinson, Stanhope, and Manning designed an elegant masonry gazebo
topped with a cupola to function as a birdhouse. This gazebo was part of
the overall plans made for the house in -1937-38, and the drawing for the
design s=still exists, It was never executed, but a more modest wooden
structure was built on the west end of the pond.

John Bue, a former employee of the architectural firm of Robinson,
Stanhope, and Manning, states that the firm was formed in 1932, 198 Before
World War TII their offices were located at the corner of 9th and Market
Streets in the Equitable Security Trust Company building (now the Bank of

Delaware), Most of their commissions were for housing design, especially

158 john Eue. Telephone interview by Cheryl Powell. Wilmingten,
Delaware, December 30, 1987. Notes located at the Center for Historic
Architecture and Engineering, University of Delaware, Newark, Delaware.
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in developments such as Wawaset Park and Westover Hills. They also
designed and remodeled other large homes and small commercial structures in
the Wilmington area. The firm disbanded in 1942 and reunited in 1946.
Robinson, Stanhope, and Manning returned to the same office, but their
commissions changed to encompass mainly elementary schools, high schools,
hospitals and nursing homes throughout Delaware and Cecil County, Maryland.
Ray Robinson died in 1951, and Burton Stanhope died in 1957. William
Manning joined the architectural firm of Dollar, Bonner, Blake, and Street
in 1958. Manning took all of the architectural plans by Robinson, Stan-
hope, and Manning with him, and the plans are stored with this firm (now
called Anderson, Brown, Higley, and Funk).

If Richard W. Crook had built his country estate as a symbol of his new
status in the community, James R. Morford was attempting to accomplish the
same goal thirty years later with his Colonial Revival remodeling of the
house and the extensive landscaping of the property. Spring Hill still
maintains its lofty presence in The Cedars, and no other house in the
neighborhood can match its character or prestige. In an article from the
Wilmington newspaper, The Morning News, on May 9, 1920, the author states
that Colonial Revival houses "are growing more amd more popular, mo doubt
largely because of their charming simpliecity and haunting dignity.“lsg
This description remains true for Spring Hill, which fully captures the

eternal Colonial Revival ideal in the Federal Revival manner.

159 gee Charles §. Sedgwick, The Morning News, Wilmington, Delaware,
May 9, 1920, :
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Trees and Shrubs

Cenus Species Common Name
1. Abies concelor White Fir
2. Acacia Mimosa
3. Acer nigrum Black Maple
4, Acer palmatum Japanese Maple
5. Acer rubnum Red Maple
6, Acer saccharinum §ilver Maple
7. Acer saccharum Sugar Maple
8. Alnus maritima Seaside Alder
9. Thuja occidentalis Northern White Cedar
10. Berberis thunbergii Japanese Barberry
11. Berula pendula European White Birch
12. Buxus sempervirens Boxwood
13, Carya illinoensis Pecan
14, Carya tomentesa Mockernur Hickory
15. Castanea dentata Chestnur
16. Cedrus atlantcica Atlas Cedar
17. Cornus filorida Flowering Dogwood
18, Fagus grandifelia Beech (American)
19, Forsythia fortunei Forsythia
20. Fraxinus pennsylvanica Green Ash
2. Ginkgo biloba Ginkgo
22, Hamamelis virginiana Witch Hazel
23. Ilex opaca American Holly
24 Juniperus virginiana Eastern Red Cedar
25. Kalmia latifelia Mountain Laurel
26. Kolkwitzia amabilio Beauty Bush
27. Larix laricina Larch
28. Liguotnum Pricet Hedge
29, Magnolia campbellii Magnolia
30. Malus Apple
31. Metasequoia glyprostroboides Meta Sequoia
32. Morus rubra Red Mulberry
33. Paulownia tormentosa Royal Paulowinia
34, Philadelphus  inodorus Mock Orange
as. Picea abies Norway Spruce
36. Picea pungens Colerado Blue Spruce
37. Pinus strobus Northern White Pine
38. Plantanus occidentalis American Sycamore
39. Prunus avium Sweet Cherry
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Genus
40. Prunus
41 . Prunus
42, Pyrus
43, Quercus
44, Quercus
45, Quercus
46 . Rhododendron
47. Rhododendron
48 . Rhodotypos
49, . Rhus
S0. Robinia
51. . Rubus
52. Spirea
53, Stipa
54. Syringa
55. Taxodium
56. Taxus
57. Tsuga
58. Ulmus
59. Viburnum
60. Vicis
Wildflowers

Cenus
A. Erigeron
B. Lonicera
C. Tecomaria
D. Phytolacea
E. Rosa
F. Solidage

Species

Cerasus
gserotina

alba
palustris
rubra
arborescens
maximum
scandens
typhina
pseudoacacia
hispidus
van houttel
achnatherum
vulgaris
distichum
brevifolia
canadensis
campestris
dilatum

Species

philadelphicus
hildebrandiana

capensis
americana
multiflora
alrissima

161

Copmon Name

Sour Cherry
Black Cherry
Pear

White Oak

Pin Dak
Northern Red Oak
Azalesn
Rhodedendron

Staghorn Sumac
Black Locust
Dewberry

Feather Grass
Lilac

Bald Cypress
Pacific Yew
Eastern Hemlock
English Elm
Vibernum

Wild Grape

QQ@O!‘E ﬂame

- Fleabane Daisy

Giant Honeysuckle
Cape Honeysuckle
Pokeberry '

- Multiflora Rosa

Goldenrod
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HISTORIC AMERTCAN BUITLDING SURVEY DOCUMENTATION

THE WILLTAM ELLTOT HOUSE
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Form {0=820 UN|TED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
{Juna 19383} NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

ARCRITECTURAL DATA FORM

STATE COUNTY TOWN OR VICINITY
Delovare New Castle Countv Hilmington
HISTORIC NAME OF STRUCTURE {INCLUDE SOURCE FOR NAME] HABS NO.

o . (New Castle County deeds and tax
William Elliot House records)
SECONDARY OR COMMON NAMES OF STRUCTURE

John M. Connor House
COMPLETE ADDRESS (DESCRIBE LOCATION FOR RURAL SITES)

| 2206 _Newport Gap Pike (State Route 41)

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION (INCLUDE SOURCE) ARCHITECTI(S) (INCLUDE SOURCE)}
(New Castle County deeds

ca. 1870s and tax records)
SIGNIFICANCE [ARCHITECTURAL AND HISTORICAL, INCLUDE QRIGINAL USE OF STRUCTURE)

The Wi;liam Elliot house documents the growth of the Greenbank area from a
predominantly rural agricultural landscape into an industrial/manufacturing
community. It is a rural private home built for a middle-class family.

STYLE {IF APPROPRIATE)

Gothic Revival/Greek Revival
MATERIAL OF CONSTRUCT KON (INCLUDE STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS)
The dwelling is a frame gtructure entirely sheathed with German siding and
has a foundation of stuccoed concrete blocks and fieldstone.
SHAPE AND DIMENSIONS OF STRUCTURE (SKETCHED FLOOR PLANS ON SEPARATE PAGES ARE ACCEPTABLE)

See the enclosed floor plans.

EXTERIOR FEATURES OF NOTE

The Elliot house possesses a center-gable facade penetrated by a pointed
arch window in the attic and projecting cormices reminiscent of Gothic
Revival. It also has a colonnaded porch often found in Greek Revival houses.{

INTERIOR FEATURES OF NOTE (DESCRIBE FLOOR PLANS, IF NOQT SKETCHED!
See the enclosed floor plans.

MAJOR ALTERATIONS AND ADDITIONS WITH DATES

There are two one-story shed additions. The southwest addition dated from
the late nineteenth century to the early twentieth century. The southeast
one dates from the mid- to late twentieth century.

PRESENT CONDITION AND ]

Recent vandalism as removed many of its' architectural features. The house
is in direct line of a proposed road improvement and will be demolished.

OTHER INFORMATION AS APPROPRIATE

SOURCES OF INFORMATION (INCLUDING LISTING ON NATIONAL REGISTER, STATE REGISTERS, ETC.)
The Delaware Statewide Comprehensive Historic Preservation Plan, Delaware

Cultural Resource Survey, New Castle County Deeds/Tax Assessments for
Christiana Hundred

COMPILER, AFFILIATION DATE
Stuart P. Dixon, Cheryl C. Powell. Center for Historic
Larchitecture and Engineering, University of Delaware 2-14-88
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HISTORIC AMERICAN BUILDING SURVEY
INDEX TO PHOTOGRAFHS

William Elliot House (John M. Commer House) HABS No. DE-
2206 Newport Gap Pike (State Route 4l1)

South side of Newport Gap Pike approximately

.3 miles west of junction with Kirkwood Highway

(State Route 2)

Prices Corner vicinirty

Wilmington

Christiana Hundred

New Castle County

Delaware

Photographer: David L. Ames Fall 1987

DE- -1 NORTHEAST (FRONT) AND SQUTHEAST ELEVATIONS LOCKING WEST

DE- -2 NORTHEAST (FRONT) AND SOUTHEAST ELEVATIONS LCOKING NORTHWEST
DE- -3 DOOR ON NORTHEAST ELEVATION LOOKING SOUTHWEST

DE- -4 DETAIL OF DOOR ON NORTHEAST ELEVATION LOOKING SOUTHWEST

BE- -5 SOUTHWEST AND SOUTHEAST ELEVATIONS LOOKING NORTH
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DE- -1
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Histeric American Building Survey documentation of the William Elliot House
includes two photographs and one set of floor plans included in Chapter II.

These items are located as follows:

FPHOTOCRAPHS

DE- -2; Plate 1, p. 8
DE- -5; Plate 2, p. 10
DRAWINGS

Floor Plans; Figure 3, p. 12
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APPENDIX E:

HISTORIC AMERICAN BUILDING SURVEY DOCUMENTATION

THE ANDREW JACKSON WILLIAMS HOUSE
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No information provided for this page.
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Form |0~520 UNITED STATES DEFARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
{dune 1983} NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

ARCHITECTURAL DATA FORM

STATE COUNTY TOWN OR VICINITY
Delaware New Castle County Wilmington
HISTORIC NAME OF STRUCTWRE (INCLUDE SOURCE FOR NAME} HABS NO,

(New Castle County deeds and
Andrew Jackson Williams House tax records)

SECCNDARY OR COMMON NAMES OF STRUCTURE

Faul E. Bower, Jr. House

| COMPLETE ADDRESS {DESCRIBE LOCATION FOR RURAL SITES)

2200 Newport Gap Pike (S5tate Route 41)

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION (/NCLUDE SOURCE] ARCHITECT(S) INCLUDE SOURCE)
{New Castle County deeds
ca. 1870s and tax records)

SIGNIFICANCE [ARCHITECTURAL AND HISTOQRICAL, INCLUDE ORIGINAL USE OF STRUCTURE)

This dwelling is a rural private home that was built for a middle-c¢lass
family. It also documents the growth of the Greenbank area from a predomi-
nantly rural agricultural landscape into an industrial/manufacturing communit]

Y -

STYLE [IF APERROFPRIATE}
Greek Revival/Ttalianate

MATERIAL OF CONSTRUCTION [INCLUDE STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS) ‘
fieldstone foundation (stuccoed on the exterior) - the entire structure is
completely sheathed with German siding except on part of the 211 addition
SHAPE AND DIMENSIONS OF STRUCTURE [SKETCHED FLOOQR PLANS ON SEPARATE PAGES ARE ACCEPTABLE)

See the enclosed floor plans.

EXTERIOR FEATURES OF NOTE

The Williams house juxtaposes frieze boards and box cornices normally found
on Greek Revival structures with eave brackets and partial return gable
ends imitative of Italianate buildings.

INTERIQOR FEATURES OF NOTE (DESCRIBE FLOOR PLANS, IF NOT SKETCHED)
See the enclosed floor plans.

MAJOR ALTERATIONS AND ADDITIONS WITH DATES
A shed addition to the rear of the kitchen replaced an earlier shed addl-
tion that was destroyed by fire during the 1920s.

PRESENT CONDITION AND USE
Recent vandalism has removed many of its' architectural features. The house

igs in _direct line of a proposed road improvement and will be demolished.
OTHER INFORMATION AS APPROPRIATE

SOURCES QF INFORMATION (INCLUDING LISTING ON NATIONAL REGISTER, STATE REGISTERS, ETC.)

The Delaware Statewide Comprehensive Historie Preservation Plan, Delaware
Cultural Resource Survey, New Castle County Deeds/Tax Assessments for
Christiana Hundred

COMPILER, AFFILIATION DATE
Stuart P. Dixon, Cheryl C. Powell. Center for Historic
Architecture and Engineering, University of Delaware ?2-14-88
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HISTORIC AMERICAN BRUILDING SURVEY

INDEX TO FHOTOGERAFHS

Andrew Jackson Williams House HABS. No. DE-
(Paul E. Bower, Jr., House)

2200 Newport Gap Pike (State Route 41)

South side of Newport Gap Pike approximately

.25 miles west of junctien with Kirkwood Highway

{(State Route 2)

Prices Corner vicinity

Wilmington

Christiana Hundred

New Castle County

Delaware

Photographer: David L. Ames Fall 1987

DE- -1 NORTHEAST (FRONT) ELEVATION LOOKING WEST

PE- -2 SOUTHWEST AND SOUTHEAST ELEVATIONS LOOKING NORTHEAST

DE- -3 DETAIL OF GERMAN SIDING ON NORTHEAST ELEVATION LOOKING WEST
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Histori¢ American Building Survey documentation of the Andrew Jackson
Williams House includes two photographs and one set of floor plans included

in Chapter II. These items are located as follows:

EHOTOGRAPHS

DE- -1; Plate 3, p. 17
DE- -2; Plate 4, p. 18
DRAWINGS

Floor Plans; Figure 5, p. 21
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APPENDIX F.

1937 REMODELLINRG PLANS FOR SPRING HILL

ROBINSON, STANHOPE, AND MANNIRG,; ARCHITECTS

181



No information provided for this page.
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The 1937 Remodelling Plans for Spring Hill produced by the architectural
firm Robinson, Stanhope, and Manning for Mr. James R. Morford includes five
plans located in Chapter III. These items are located as follows:

First Floor Plan; Figure 16, p. 65
Second Floor Plan; Figure 17, p. 67
Third Floor Plan; Figure 18, p. 68
West Elevation; Figure 19, p. 69
Basement Floor Flan; Figure 20, p. 70
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APPENDIX G;

INTERVIEW TRANSCRIPTS

INTERVIEWS CONDUCTED BY CHERYL C. POWELL
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Telephone Interview with Mr. Charles Allmond
November 21, 1987

William Stewart Allmond was his grandfather’s brother's son, and he died
about twenty to twenty-five years ago. He had one son who is also deceas-
ed, and he did not have any childrem. Charles Allmend remembers that his
father played with his cousin, Bill, Jr. (the son of William Stewart
Allmond), at Spring Hill. His father was born in 1904 and died eight years
ago, Charles' great-grandfather, John P. Allmond, was the first Democrat

elected as mayor of Wilmington,

Telephone Interviews with Mrs, Ann Benethum
November 24, 1987

Mrs. Ann Benethum’s husband was a partner in James R, Morford's law firm
when she and her husband moved into Spring Hill in 1935. During the six
years that the Benethums lived in the house, Morford made many of the
alterations and additions to the house and gardens. There was a porch that
went around three sides of the house before Morford made some alterations
to the house between 1937 and 1938. The east and west porches were removed
so that the dining room and the living room could be enlarged. Morford -
purchased the wallpsper for the dining room locally, and it was especlally
ordered from England. He also added a butler's pantry and a conservatory
behind the dining room, On the second floor the master bedroom was
enlarged into a suite that included a bath, dressing room, office, and

bedroom,

December 2, 1987

There were an assortment of architectural designs used for the houses in
The Cedars subdivision, including a lot of bungalows. A construction
company called, Christopher Ward and Davey, Father and Son Carpentry, could
have done some of the work at Spring Hill.

December 30, 1987
There was a barn on the property that Morford converted into a garage.
Across from the garage entrance was a vacant lot which Morford purchased.

Below the house and across Newport Gap Pike lived Mr. Pete George. His
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family did a lot of odd jobs, mainly construction, at Spring Hill and also
the gardening. She remembers the landscaping of the property that was done
by a local firm, but she cannot remember the name of the company. She also

remembers a blueprint plan for the landscaping.

Telephone Interview with Mr. John Bue
December 30, 1987

John Bue, a former employee of the architectural firm of Robinson,
Stanhope, and Manning, provided an oral history of the firm. Bue worked
there from 1948 to 1958, and the firm was formed 1n 1932, Before World War
11 their offices were located at the corner of 9th and Market Streets in
the Equitable Security Trust Company building (now the Bank of Delaware).
Most of their commissions were for housing design, especially in develop-
ments such as Wawaset Park and Westover Hills. Robinson, Stanhope, and
Manning also designed and remodeled other large homes and small commercial
structures in the Wilmington area. The firm disbanded in 1942 and reunited
in 1946. They returned to the same office, but their commissions changed
to encompass mainly elementary schools, high schools, hospitals, and
nursing homes throughout the state of Delaware and Cecil County, Maryland.
Ray Robinson died in 1951, and Burton Stanhope died in 1957. William
Manning joined the architectural firm of Dollar, Bonner, Blake, and Street
in 1958. Manning took all of the architectural plans by Robinson, Stan-
hope, and Manning with him, and the plans are stored with this firm (now

called Anderson, Brown, Higley, and Funk).

Telephone Interviews with Mrs, Roberta Davis
November 21, 1987

Mrs. Davis says that her parents built their home on Newport Gap Pike in
1913. She remembers that Dr. Samuel and his family lived in Spring Hill
when she was & child. Richard Crook lived in The Cedars, but not in Spring
Hill, Richard Crook lived in a house mnext to Dr. Samuel, who lived in
Spring Hill, Crook's house was probably the house that.sits directly
behind Spring Hill on Washington Avenue.

Spring Hill was the first place she ever saw that had a swimming pool,
and she remembers the tennis courts and the orchard. These were all

additions made by James R. Morford, His son, James R. Morford, Jr., had a

208



horse that he rode frequently. The horse was kept in the carriage house
that was partially a barn and a garage.

Maris Dixon, one of her childhood friends who lived in the subdivision,
was doing some research on the neighborhood about two years ago. [We never
were able to find him.]

November 24, 1987

Her parents, Raymond and Betty Pierceson, were married in Wilmington in
1913, and they took the trolley out to their home in The Cedars (2608
Newport Gap Pike) after a brief honeymoon in Philadelphia. Her father, who
was a machinist in Marshallton, built their house with the help of friends

before he was married,

December 30, 1987
There were many houses built along Newport Gap Pike and Washington,
Harrison, and Maple Avenues by 1930, She doesn't remember where the

orchard was located.

Telephone Interview with Mrs. Connie Figgatt
November 29, 1987

Mrs. Connie Figgatt is the daughter of James R. Morford, When the
fawrily moved into Spring Hill, the house was very old and was probably
built in the 1890s. She was 10 years old when her grandparents came to
live there. The porch extended on three sides of the house, and the living
room and the dining room had porches to their sides. There was a screened-
in porch that remained after her father removed the side porches to enlarge
the living room and the dining room. Her father added the conservatory,
the butler’'s pantry, and the library. The butler’s pantry was originally
the area occupied by the kitchen, and when the kitchen was enlarged the
butler's pantry was added. The kitchen took over the space of a closed-in
shed to its rear. )

She doesn’t think that the roof was changed, but the front door was
different. There was a single heavy oak door to a little entranceway with
green marble in it. Her father added the coat room and the powder room.
The fireplace in the dining room was of the same green marble before it was

removed when the butler’s pantry was added. The staircase In the main
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hallway was in the center of the room, and the hall was open to the back of
the staircase, This stalrcase was of oak,

Her father expanded the back of the house and added a bedroom, living
room, and bath upstairs at the same time. - There were originally five
bedrooms on the second floor. After the alterations, there were three
bedrooms on the second floor. One large bedroom, or the master suite, took
up the space of the other bedrooms. The two bay windows in her bedroom on
the second floor (the southeast room) were always there, and she remembers
a copper or tin roof over her bedroom.

The barn had a big hay loft and a workroom, two or three stalls, and a

single carriage shed.

Telephone Interview with Mr. F. S. Gallagher
November 24, 1987

Mr. Gallagher says that Richard Crook lived in the house on Washington
Avenue which sits directly behind Spring Hill. This is the same house
where Mr. Gallagher lived from 1960-62. The switches for the Peoples
Railway Company's electric trolley are located in the front part of the
house, and the trolley went down Washington Avenue to the Brandywine
Springs Amusement Park. Mr. Gallagher says that he visited the amusement

park as a child on many occasions.

Interviews with Mrs. James R. Morford, Jr.
November 11, 1987

Mrs. Morford, Jr., daughter-in-law of James R. Morford, first visited
Spring Hill in 1935, The house was never referred to as "The Cedars™ when
her father-in-law owned it. The Morfords and the previous owners of the
house, the Samuels, called the house "Spring Hill." Before the additions
and alterations were made to the house the exterior was very plain and
looked like a simple farmhouse, A porch surrounded three sides of the
house in a "U-shape," but not across the back, or north elevation, of the
house. There was a small foyer inside the front hall and a staircase in
the center of the hall on the left hand side. The library and the kitchen
had been previously enlarged.

When Spring Hill was remodeled after 1935, her father-in-law removed the

porches on the east and on the west sides of the house in order to enlarge
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the living room and the dining room. Behind the dining room he added a
small conservatory. On the second floor the master bedroom was extensively
remodeled into a suite containing a dressing room and an office. The third
floor had a guest room or den that was originally a servant's quarters.

Mr. Morford, Sr. completely remodeled the garage and added an apartment for
a live-in gardener. The gardener maintained the entire yard including a
large vegetable garden and an orchard filled with several wvarieties of
fruit trees. He also added a tennis court and a swimming pool to the

property. There was & nineteenth-century springhouse on the property.

Telephone interview, November 12, 1987

The Cedars suburb was a middle-class community which had several nice
houses, especially along Newport Gap Pike. Doctors, lawyers, and judges
lived in the suburb during the period when she visited the house,

Mrs. Morford, Jr., recalls that there was a magazine article written

about the dining room of the house, but she cannot remember which magazine

that this article appeared in.

Telephone interview, November 29, 1987

She does not remember 1f the porch behind the living room was added when
the Morfords lived there, or what types of fruit trees were in the orchard.
Her sister-in-law, Mrs. Connie Figgatt, grew up in the house and now lives

in California,.
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GLOSSARY

Adamesque - This refers to the style of the eighteenth century British
architect Robert Adam (1728-92).

Architrave - The lowest member of a classical entablature. A molded lintel
spanning between two columns,

Axis - An imaginary 1line to which are referred the parts of an
existing building or the relations of a number of buildings to
one another,

Balloon Framing - A method of timber-frame construction used in the U.5.A.
and Scandinavia: the studs or wuprights run from sill to
eaves, and the horizontal members are nailed to them.

Baluster - A short post or pillar in a series supporting a rail or coping
and thus forming a bhalustrade,

Balustrade - A railing consisting of a handrail on baluster, sometimes on a
base member and sometimes interrupted by piers, columns or
posts,

Baseboard - A molding that conceals the joint between and interior wall
and a floor.

Bay - & vertical division of the exterior or interior of 2 building
marked not by walls but by fenestration or door openings.

Bay Window - An anpgular or curved projection of a house front filled by
fenestration.

Bead Molding - A small cylindrical molding enriched with ornament resem-
bling & string of beads.

Bellflower - Any of various plants of the genus Campanula, characteris-
tically having blue, bell-shaped flowers.

Bentware - The wooden rims for carriage wheels,

Board-and-batten - A type of wall cladding for wood-frame houses; closely
spaced, applied boards or sheets of plywood, the joints of
which are covered by marrow strips of wood.

Bolection Molding - A molding used to cover the joint between two members
with different surface 1levels. It projects beyond both
surfaces.

Box Gornice - A hollew cornice, built up of boards, moldings, shingles,
etc.

Bracket - A supporting member projecting from the face of a wall. 1In
American architecture it is frequently used for ornamental as
well as structural purposes.

Broadcloth - A densely textured woolen cloth with a plain or twill weave
and a lustrous finish,

Bulkhead - A horizontal or sloping structure providing access to a cellar
stairway or to an elevator shaft.

215



Bull’'s eye -
Butted -

Butr Hinge -

Cantilever -

Capital -

Carding Mill

Casement -

A circular window or louver.
To be joined at the ends.

A hinge composed of plates attached to abutting surfaces of a
door and door jamb and joined by a pin.

A horizontal projection (e.g., a step, balcony, beam or
canopy) supported by a downward force behind a fulerum. It is
without external bracing and thus appears to be self-support-
ing.

The moldings and carved enrichment which form a finish to the
top of a column, pilaster, pier, or pedestal.

- A mill which refines‘wool.

The hinged part of a window, attached to the upright side of
the window-frame.

Chimney Stack - A group of flues contained within a commen covering.

Colonnade -

A row of columns carrying an entablature or arches.

Common Rafters - Rafters of equal size found along the length of a roof or

Console -

Cornice -

sometimes Iinterrupted by main trusses containing principal
rafrers,

A projecting, seroll-shaped member usually used for support
but also for ornament.

The crowning member of a wall or entablature.

Coursed Rubble - Rough unhewn building stones that are roughly dressed and

Crossette -
Crown -

Cupola -

Cyma Recta -

Dentil -

are laid in deep courses.
The side prejections at the top of an architrave.
To surmount or be the highest part of.

A small structure built on top of a building, wusually for
ornamental purposes.

A double-curved molding, convex above and concave below.

A small ornamental block, forming one of a series set in a
row. A dentil molding is formed by such a series.

Doric Order - The column and entablature developed by the Dorian Greeks,

sturdy in proportion, with a simple capital, a frieze and a
cornice,

Dormer Window - A window in a sloping roof, with vertical sides and front.

Eaves -

Eclectic -

E1l -
Elliptical -

Enmbrasure -

The edge of a roof that projects over an outside wall,

Architecture that is based on, or imitative of, many styles
selected by personal preference.

A wing of a building at right angles to the main structure,

An arch that is a half ellipse from a center on the spring
line.

A recess for a window, door, etc., or a2 small opening in the
wall,
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Entablature - The top member of a classic order, being a continuous lintel
supported on columns. It is divided horizentally inte three
main parts: the uppermost is the cornice, the middle one the
frieze, and the lowest the architrave. Each has the moldings
and decorative treatment that are characteristic of the
particular order.

Facing - The finishing applied to the outer surface of a building.
False Plate - A plate which has no structural usage. See Plate.

Fanlight - A window, often semi-circular, over a door with radiating
glazing bars supggesting a fan.

Fascia - A horizontal band of vertical face, usually in combination
with moldings, as in the lowest member of a cornice.

Federal Style - The dominant architectural style of the United States from
about 1780-1820. Exhibits exterior symmetry, pedimented
doorways, semli-cirecular or elliptical fanlights with or
without sidelights, and decorated cornices, especially with
dentils.

Felloes - Wooden materials manufactured for use in the building of
carriage wheels.

Fenestration - The arrangement in a building of its windows, especially the
more important and larger ones.

Fieldstone - Rough building stones generally not laid in regular courses.
May be finished or uncut stones.

Frame House - A timber house of frame construction usually covered with
shingles or weatherboarding,

Frieze - Any long and narrow horizontal architectural member, especi-
ally one which has a chiefly decorative purpose,

Gable - A triangular-shaped piece of wall closing the end of a double
pitched roof.

Gazebo - A small look-out tower or summerhouse with a view, usually in
a garden or park, ‘

German Siding - Drop siding with a concave upper edge which fits into a
corresponding groove in the siding above. Drop siding is an
exterior wall cladding of wooden boards which are tongued and
grooved or rabbeted and overlapped so that the lower edge of
each board interlocks with a groove.

Gothic Revival - A& movement originating in the eighteenth and culminating
in the nineteenth century, flourishing throughout Europe and
the United States, which aimed at reviving the spirit and
forms of Gothic architecture.

Greek Revival - A period of English architecture extending from approx-
imately 1750 to 1850, marked by interest in Greek antiquities,
It was popular in America at the beginning of the nineteenth
century and eontinued throughout the century.

Crist Mill - A mill for grinding grain.
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Hall-Parlor Plan - A house containing two rooms side by side, with the
ridge of the roof running parallel to the long wall of the
structure,

Hewn - Of wood, roughly dressed by ax or adze.
Hipped Roof - A roof which pitches inward from all four sides.

Italianate - The eclectic form of country-house design, fashionable in
England and in the United States in the 1840s and 1850s,
characterized by low-pitched, heavily bracketed roofs,
asymmetrical informal plan, square towers, and often round-
arched windows,

Joist - Any horizontal beam intended primarily for the construction or
support of a floor or celling.

Keystone - The central wedge-shaped stone at the crown of an arch,

Lap - To overlap one surface with ancther, as in shingling.

Lath - A riblike support of wood or metal upon which plaster 1s
spread,

Lathe - A machine on which a plece is spun on a horizontal axis and

shaped by a fixed cutting or abrading tool.

Lattice - An open framework made of strips of metal, wood, or the like
interwoven to form regular, pattermed spaces.

Lintel - The horizontal structural member which supports the wall over
an opening, or spans between two adjacent plers or columns.

Louver - One of a series of overlapping boards or slips of glass to
admit air and exclude rain.

Modillion Cornice - A cornice supported by a series of small ornamental
brackets under the projecting top moldings.

Molding - A deviation from a plain surface, involving rectangular or
curved profiles, or both, with the purpose of effecting a
transition or of obtaining a decorative play of light and
shade. : :

Mullion - An upright post or similar member dividing a window into two
or more units, or lights, each of which may be further
subdivided into panes.

Newel - The principal post at the end of a flight of stairs; it
carries the handrails and the strings which support the steps.

Qutbuilding - A minor structure separated from a building of which the
former is a dependency.

Pane - A sheet of glass for a comparatively small opening Iin a window
or door.

Peak - A tapering, projecting point; pointed extremity as in the peak
of a roof.

Pediment - The low triangular gable formed by the roof slopes on top and
the horizontal enclosing member, generally a cornice, beneath.

218



Penciled -

Pendant -
Pent Roof -

Pier -

Pilaster -

Pile -

Plank -

Plaster -

Plate -
Plinth -

Projecting -
Pyramidal -
Rail -

Reeding -
Return -
Ridge -
Ridgepole -

Risers -
Rolling Mill

Rosette -

In brickwork, the painting (especially in white) of the mortar
Joints,

An ornamental member suspended from above.

A roof of a single sloping plane projecting from a wall,
usually of small size.

A freestanding mass, generally rectilinear in shape, support-
ing one side of an arch or one end of a beam, lintel, or
glrder. A thickening of a wall in the form of a verticat
strip to strengthen it or to carry a heavy load for which the
wall would not be strong enough.

The projecting part of a square column which is attached to a
wall; it is finished with the same cap and base as a free-
standing column.

refers to the floor plan of a building; the number of rooms
deep.

A long, wide, sawn piece of timber, usually used for flooring.

A mixture of lime, sand, and water, sometimes with hair or
other fiber added, applied as a thick paste upon a firm base
of masonry or lath to form, when hard, a smooth and nearly
impervious surface for wall or ceiling.

In wood-frame construction, the horizontal member capping the
range of exterior wall studs, supporting the rafters.

The projecting base of a wall or column pedestal, generally
melded at the top.

To extend forward or out; protrude,
Having the shape of a pyramid.

A horizontal member in the frame of a door, window, panel,
ete.

Decoration consisting of parallel convex moldings touching one
ancther,

The right-angled change of direction of a molding or group of
moldings.

The horizontal length of the peak of a roof above the shingl-
ing or other roofing material.

The top horizontal member of a sloping roof, against which the
upper ends of the rafters are fixed.

The vertical face of a step,
- A machine used for rolling metal.

A painted, carved, or sculptured ornament having a circular
arrangement of parts resembling the petals of a rose.

Rubble Masonry - Rough unhewn building stones generally not laid in regular

courses,
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Quoin - The bricks or stones laid in altermating directions, which
bond and form the exterier corner angle of a wall. A struc-
tural element often used purely for ornament.

Quarter-round - A molding having a profile of a quadrant of a circle.

Sash - A frame for glass to close a window opening or as part of
greenhouse construction.

Segmental Arch - An arch formed on a segment of a circle or an ellipse.

Shed Roef - The roof of an addition to a buillding having only one sloping
plane.

Shelf - A horizontal board or slab of other material to serve as &
resting place for small objects, as a bookshelf, a mantel
shelf, a linen shelf.

Sidelight - One of a pair of narrow windows flanking a door.

8ill - The horizontal member immediately supported by a foundation
wall or piers, and which in turn bears the upright members of
a frame.

slitting Mill - A mill that cuts iron into rods of varying lengths and
widths; often in conjunction with rolling mills and mnail
factories, or in iron wheel manufacturing,

Snuff - A preparation of finely pulverized tobacco usually inhaled
through the nostril or "dipped" (placed between the cheek and
gum) .

Stringcourse - A narrow horizontal band of masenry which projects slightly
from the wall. It is used primarily as a space divider.

Stucco - Plaster for exterilor walls,
Stud - An intermediate vertical member of a wooden frame,

Summer Beam - In early New England house construction, a large horizontal
beam which runs from the chimney girt at right angles to the
main girder in the outer frame, at a point opposite to the

chimney.

Sunburst - A pattern or désign consisting of a central disk with radiat-
ing spires projecting in the member of sunbeams.

Surround - Materials, usually wooden moldings, that frame wall openings.

Tablet - An enframed or otherwise limited space, usually for an
inscription.

Teamster - A person who drives a team of horses and wagon.

Tongue-and-groove - Applied to boards having a tongue formed on one edge
and a groove on the other for tight jointing; also called
matched boarding, matched flooring, and the like.

Transom - An opening over a door or window, usually for ventilation, and
containing a glazed or solid sash, usually hinged or pivoted.

Treads - The horizontal part of a step.
Tripartite - Composed of or divided inte three parts.
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Tuscan Order - A simplifjed version of the Doric order, having a plain

Veranda -

Vernacular -

Vestibule -

Volumetric -

Wainscot -

Weatherboard

Ving -

frieze,
A long gallery-like porch, sometimes two-storied.

Pertaining to the style of architecture and decoration
pecullar to a specific culcure.

A small room between an outside door and an inside one, the
latter frequently opening into a hall.

Pertaining to a measurement of volume.

An overlining for interior wall surfaces, usually less than
the full height of the story,

- A horizontal exterior wall board laid with the lower edge
overlapping the next board below,

A secondary mass of a building, sometimes an addition, often
at right angles to the main portion of the building and
forming an ell,
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